FILTERING N.M.R. SPECTRA

Thesis by

George A. Petersson

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

California Institute of Technology

Pasadena, California

January 22, 1970

To Smiley – Who has shown me the deeper truth which is beauty.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am deeply indebted to Professor Andrew D. McLachlan, Professor Vincent McKoy, and Professor John D. Roberts for the patience each has shown while he was my research advisor.

I am also grateful to my friends--both students and faculty--for providing an intellectually stimulating and thoroughly enjoyable environment during the past several years. I am particularly grateful to Dr. Robert L. Lichter and Professor John D. Roberts for their help in clarifying some of the more obscure passages in this thesis.

Finally, I am indebted to the National Institutes of Health, the National Science Foundation, and the California Institute of Technology for providing financial support for myself and for the research described in this thesis.

ABSTRACT

Methods of filtering an n.m.r. spectrum which can improve the resolution by as much as a factor of ten are examined. They include linear filters based upon an information theory approach and non-linear filters based upon a statistical approach. The appropriate filter is determined by the nature of the problem. Once programmed on a digital computer they are both simple to use.

These filters are applied to some examples from $^{13}\mathrm{C}$ and $^{15}\mathrm{N}$ n.m.r. spectra.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
1.	INTRODUCTION	2
	1.1 Matched Filters	3
2.	THE THEORY OF LINEAR FILTERS	7
	2.1 Line Width	8
	2.2 Convolution Integrals and Fourier Transforms	15
	2.3 Generalized Harmonic Analysis	18
	2.4 Optimum Resolution Enhancement Filters	27
	2.5 Numerical Fourier Transforms	32
	2.6 RC Filters	43
	2.7 Sequences of Filters	46
	2.8 The Determination of Signal-to-Noise Ratios	49
3.	RESULTS OBTAINED WITH LINEAR FILTERS	53
	3.1 Optimum Line Widths of Weighting Functions	54
	3.2 Resolution Enhancement	57
	3.3 Line Shapes Resulting from Resolution Enhanceme	ent 74
	3.4 Signal-to-Noise Ratios	79
	3.5 The Effects of Sweep Rate	87
4.	NON-LINEAR FILTERS	104
	4.1 The Principle of Maximum Likelihood	104
	4.2 Least-Squares Filters	111
	4.3 Comparison of Linear and Non-Linear Filters	120

		Page
5.	RESOLUTION OF SATELLITE PEAKS	131
	5.1 The Least-Squares Approach	132
	5.2 Least-Squares Fitting with Non-Linear Parameters	135
	5.3 Filtering the Satellite Peak	141
	5.4 The Pseudo-Linear Approach	149
	5.5 Spectral Analysis Using Satellites	166
6.	ERROR ESTIMATES	170
7.	APPLICATIONS	173
	7.1 Signal-to-Noise Enhancement	173
	7.2 Resolution Enhancement	175
	7.3 Filtering Satellite Peaks	178
8.	EXPERIMENTAL	188
	APPENDIX A: Using the Program SNARE	190
	APPENDIX B: A Listing of the Program SNARE	204
	APPENDIX C: A Semiempirical Calculation of Spin-Spin Coupling Constants	217
	REFERENCES	226
	PROPOSITIONS	231

.

Copyright 🔘 by

GEORGE ARTHUR PETERSSON

FILTERING N. M. R. SPECTRA

1. INTRODUCTION

A nuclear magnetic resonance spectrum is a plot of the intensity of out-of-phase absorbed radiation as a function of the frequency, ν . We wish to find one or more signals (resonance lines) in a background of noise (random fluctuations in intensity). A signal is a set of intensities which vary in a well-defined manner given by $g(\nu)$, the line-shape function.¹ Noise is essentially all other variations of the intensity with frequency.

Since the sweep rate is held constant, the frequency is proportional to the time:

$$\nu = \alpha t, \qquad (1.1)$$

where α is the sweep rate. We shall find it convenient to consider the signal a function of time s(t).

A filtered or transformed spectrum is obtained from the unfiltered spectrum by a process which can be described by an operator H:

 $\mathbf{f_o}(t) = \mathbf{H}[\mathbf{f_i}(t)], \qquad (1.2)$

where $f_i(t)$ is the input spectrum and $f_0(t)$ is the output spectrum. Filters may be divided into two general types; linear and non-linear. A linear filter satisfies the condition:

$$f_0(t)_1 + f_0(t)_2 = H[f_1(t)_1 + f_1(t)_2], \qquad (1.3)$$

while a non-linear filter does not. We shall show applications for both types. Linear transformations are more convenient to use since it is not necessary to know the multiplicity of overlapping peaks in advance.

Ernst has written an excellent article² on filters. We shall partly follow his development of linear filters, but obtain a result for a general line shape instead of restricting ourselves to even functions.

First, we shall derive a matched filter from a simple statistical approach. This will give us a feeling for the nature of a filtering process. Later, we shall show that this filter is a special case of a linear resolution enhancement filter.

1.1 Matched Filters

We shall calculate the most probable intensity of absorption at the time t, given the input spectrum, $f_i(t)$. The line-shape function, s(t), will typically have the form shown in Figure 1.1. We shall define the zero of time as the time when s(t) is a maximum. Consider an absorption f(t) with a maximum at the time t_0 , and intensity $f(t_0)$. The simplest method of measuring $f(t_0)$ is to simply observe the intensity at t_0 :

$$\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{t_0}) \doteq \mathbf{f_i}(\mathbf{t_0}). \tag{1.1.1}$$

In fact, however when we record an n.m.r. spectrum we measure $f(t_0)$ each time we measure $f_i(t_1)$ at any time t_1 :



Figure 1.1. A typical n.m.r. signal s(t).

$$f(t_0) \doteq f_i(t_1) \frac{s(0)}{s(t_1 - t_0)},$$
 (1.1.2)

where $s(t_1 - t_0)$ is the value of s at $t_1 - t_0$. This is displaced from the maximum, s(0), by the displacement of $f_i(t_1)$ from $f_i(t_0)$. Since these measurements are not all of the same accuracy, the most probable value of $f(t_0)$ is a weighted average of the values obtained from each of these measurements:

$$f_{0}(t_{0}) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_{1}(t_{1}) \frac{s_{1}(0)}{s_{1}(t_{1}-t_{0})} W(t_{1}) dt_{1} / \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} W(t_{1}) dt_{1}, \qquad (1.1.3)$$

where the $W(t_1)$ are the statical weights. If the noise is random (i.e., it has a Gaussian distribution of errors), then the proper weights are:

$$W(t_1) = 1/\sigma^2(t_1), \qquad (1.1.4)$$

where $\sigma(t_1)$ is the standard deviation of $f_i(t_1)$.³ The standard deviation of $f_i(t_1)$ is simply the inverse of the signal to noise ratio:

$$\sigma(t_{1}) = n_{rms}/s_{1}(t_{1} - t_{0}), \qquad (1.1.5)$$

where this ratio is calculated at $f_i(t_1)$. Substitution of Eqs. (1.1.4 and 1.1.5) in Eq. (1.1.3) gives:

$$f_{0}(t_{0}) = s_{i}(0) \left[\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} s_{i}^{2}(t_{1}-t_{0}) dt_{1} \right]_{-\infty}^{-1} s_{i}(t_{1}-t_{0}) f_{i}(t_{1}) dt_{1}, \qquad (1.1.6)$$

for the most probable value of the intensity of a line with a maximum at t_0 . If we compute this integral, $f_0(t_0)$ for all t_0 , then the output spectrum $f_0(t)$ is a linear transformation of the input spectrum $f_i(t)$. This transformation can be carried out if we know the line shape $s_i(t)$ of an unfiltered line. Finally, we make the substitution $\tau =$ $t_0 - t_1$ in Eq. (1.1.6) and obtain:

$$f_{0}(t) = s_{i}(0) \left[\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} s_{i}^{2}(\tau) d\tau \right]^{-1} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} s_{i}(-\tau) f_{i}(t-\tau) d\tau, \qquad (1.1.7)$$

where we have changed the variable of integration in the first integral. This is the standard form of a matched filter.⁴

This particular filter is normalized to be height preserving. A matched filter is the filter which gives the maximum signal-tonoise ratio in $f_0(t)$.⁴ It is also the optimum filter for the determination of line positions.⁵ The output spectrum at a given time $f_0(t')$ depends upon the input spectrum at all times $f_i(t'-\tau)$. Thus, it is known much more accurately. Measuring a property from an unfiltered spectrum assumes that we have no knowledge of the correlation between $f_i(t)$ and $f_i(t')$. This is not generally true.

Both analog and digital filters can easily be constructed. Digital filters can represent any filter arbitrarily accurately and are more easily varied than analog devices. If a filter operates on the spectrum while the spectrometer is in operation, it must be selected in advance and can only use the points measured at an earlier time not those measured at a later time. The most powerful filter is therefore a digital one which is used after the complete spectrum has been determined.

2. THE THEORY OF LINEAR FILTERS

The intuitive concept of the resolution of a spectrum involves the question of whether adjacent lines appear as one peak with distorted line shape or are resolved into two discrete peaks. If the signal is a rectangular pulse, the width of the pulse is a quantitative measure of the resolution. Two rectangular peaks more than one line width apart appear as separate lines (Fig. 2.1a). Two rectangular signals less than one line width apart appear as a single peak of more complex shape (Fig. 2.1b). This simple situation gives our



Figure 2.1. The resolution of rectangular peaks.

conceptual framework for the discussion of resolution enhancement. We shall now seek to find a suitable definition of the line width of a general line shape. That is, we seek a suitable rectangular model, so that we can derive a linear transformation to improve resolution.

Although Fig. 2.1b shows only one peak, it is obvious what the separation between the two peaks is. This is because of the discontinuity in the first derivative of a rectangular pulse. The derivative of the spectrum is two Dirac delta functions separated by the line width. Unfortunately, the noise is greatly increased due to the inherent instability of numerical differentiation. ⁶ Since both differentiation and integration are linear processes, the optimum amount of either is automatically included in the filter we shall derive below.

2.1 Line Width

We define the <u>resolution line width</u> of two peaks as the minimum separation between them which permits their detection as discrete signals. Figure 2.1.1 shows two peaks of the same line shape with different amplitudes. If s_2 is less than s_1 the peaks are not resolved. If s_2 is greater than s_1 the peaks are resolved. The resolution line width of s_1 is thus a function of the size and line shape of both peaks. The optimum process for improving resolution is therefore non-linear. This is a serious drawback since we frequently will not know the multiplicity of overlapping peaks. We therefore seek a property related to the resolution line width which will lead to a linear process. This property must be a function of the line shape of a single peak.



Figure 2.1.1. The resolution line width can be a function of relative peak height.

So far we have only considered whether or not two overlapping peaks have two discrete maxima. We have not discussed where the maxima occur. In the case of two overlapping Lorentzians (Fig. 2.1.2) the maxima will not correspond to the original peak positions. Although they are resolved, their maxima are shifted and a coupling constant measured by the separation of the maxima will be too small. This will occur at any separation for line shapes which do not go to



Figure 2.1.2. Two Lorentzians separated by their width at half height.

zero at a finite distance from the maxima. At larger separations the distance between maxima approaches the distance between line positions. At smaller separations the ratio of the distance between maxima to the distance between line positions approaches zero. This ratio equals zero at separations smaller than the resolution line width. There is a systematic error in measuring the separation of overlapping peaks. In order to accurately measure line separations we must decrease the resolution line width and make the signal approach zero rapidly.

In the case of two triangular peaks (Fig. 2.1.3) the resolution line width is equal to the full width at half height. Since this property



Figure 2.1.3. The resolution of triangular peaks.

is easy to measure for an experimental spectrum, it is widely used. This line width depends upon only two points for a general line shape. It is therefore not amenable to optimization procedures. It is also independent of the "tail" of a line shape and minimizing the full width at half height could lead to increased shifts of the maxima.

It seems reasonable to define a line width as the width of a rectangle which has the same height as the input signal and some other property the same. The most obvious property is the area. The area of an odd function (e.g., a dispersion signal) is zero. A process which minimizes the area could convert a peak to an odd function (e.g., by differentiation) without necessarily decreasing the resolution line width. Fully one half the area of a Lorentzian is outside the full width at half height. The area clearly places too much emphasis on the tail. Using the integral of the absolute value of a function would cure the first problem but not the second. Let us cut off a Lorentzian where it reaches half its height in such manner that the sum of two equal peaks separated by their full width at half height is constant between the maxima (Fig. 2.1.4). This decreases the area by a factor of $\pi/2$. The tail has been removed so well that if two discrete maxima occur, then they correspond to the original peak positions. Unfortunately, the resolution line width has been increased by about 16%. The area places too much emphasis on the tail. A filter based on the area could lead to increased rather than decreased resolution line widths. The first moment is unacceptable since it places even more emphasis on the tail. The second moment may even diverge (e.g., for a Lorentzian line and therefore for an n.m.r. signal). Higher moments offer similar problems.

A practical definition of line width is the <u>energy width</u>.⁷ Energy here refers to the signal energy and not to the absorbed energy that the signal represents. If the signal is a voltage or current, then the



Figure 2.1.4. Two truncated Lorentzians separated by their full width at half height.

square of the signal is the power dissipated. Integration of this power gives the signal energy. The energy width is the width of a rectangle whose height and energy are the same as those of the line. That is:

b =
$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} s(t)^2 dt / s(0)^2$$
, (2.1.1)

where s(0) is the height of the peak.

Only $(\pi-2)/2\pi$, or about one sixth of the energy width for a Lorentzian arises from the portion outside the full width at half height. Truncating a Lorentzian (as in Fig. 2.1.4) decreases the energy width by only a factor of $\pi/(6-\pi)$, or about one sixth the improvement calculated by area. A definition of line width based upon the integral of higher powers of the signal will still give a smaller line width for the truncated line than for the Lorentzian. Only $(1/2 - 4/3\pi)$, or about 7% of the width based upon s³(t) arises from the portion of a Lorentzian which is outside the full width at half height. This would not seem to place enough emphasis on the tail of the line. Higher powers of s(t) aggrevate the problem still further. The best exponent for s(t) would seem to be about two.

The energy width may not be the best definition of line width, but we shall find that it is convenient to optimize and leads to useful filters. When we examine how the resulting filters work we shall find that they use the best method known for accurately measuring positions. It will then be clear that only minor improvements could result from modifying our definition of line width.

We shall define a process which decreases the energy width b. In order to be useful the process must retain sufficient signal to noise that we can still find the n.m.r. signal after filtering. We therefore must consider what happens to the signal height, the energy width of the signal, and the noise level during the filtering operation. This is most easily done by considering the Fourier transform.

2.2 Convolution Integrals and Fourier Transforms

A linear time-independent filter can be represented by an integral; the convolution integral: 8

$$f_0(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} h(\tau) f_1(t-\tau) d\tau,$$
 (2.2.1)

where $h(\tau)$ is called the weighting function of the filter. The problem is to determine the optimum form for $h(\tau)$. This can be done by examining the Fourier transform. We shall define $F(\omega)$ to be the Fourier transform of f(t):

$$f(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} F(\boldsymbol{\omega}) e^{i\boldsymbol{\omega}t} d\boldsymbol{\omega}, \qquad (2.2.2)$$

where:

$$F(\omega) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(t) e^{-i\omega t} dt. \qquad (2.2.3)$$

That is, we shall use lower case for a time function and upper case for the Fourier transform. The angular Fourier frequency $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ should should not be confused with the frequency of irradiation, ν . They have nothing to do with each other.

We note from examination of Eq. (2.2.3) that if s(t) is even then $S(\omega)$ is real and even. If s(t) is odd, then $S(\omega)$ is imaginary and odd. It follows that for any s(t):

$$S(-\omega) = S^*(\omega), \qquad (2.2.4)$$

where the asterisk denotes the complex conjugate. For asymmetric s(t), $S(\omega)$ is complex and asymmetric. Furthermore, the inverse Fourier transform of $S^*(\omega)$ gives s(-t). That is, taking the complex conjugate in frequency space is equivalent to reflecting about t = 0 in time space. Finally, we note from Eq. (2.2.2) that $\omega F(\omega)$ is the Fourier transform of f'(t). Multiplying by ω in frequency space provides a convenient method of numerical differentiation. This method is considerably more accurate than simple difference techniques.

Consider a product of the form of Eq. (2, 2, 1):

$$s_0(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} h(\tau) s_i(t-\tau) d\tau.$$
 (2.2.5)

The Fourier transform is:

$$S_0(\omega) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} h(\tau) s_i(t-\tau) d\tau e^{-i\omega t} dt, \qquad (2.2.6)$$

or:

$$S_0(\omega) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} h(\tau) e^{-i\omega\tau} s_i(t-\tau) e^{-i\omega(t-\tau)} d\tau dt. \quad (2.2.7)$$

Reversing the order of integration gives:

$$S_{0}(\omega) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} h(\tau) e^{-i\omega\tau} \left\{ \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} s_{i}(t-\tau) e^{-i\omega(t-\tau)} d(t-\tau) \right\} d\tau . \quad (2.2.8)$$

Therefore:

$$S_{0}(\omega) = H(\omega) S_{i}(\omega) \qquad (2.2.9)$$

where $H(\omega)$ (the Fourier transform of the weighting function $h(\tau)$) is called the <u>frequency response function</u> or <u>transfer function</u> of the filter.^{9,10} A filter simply takes a product in frequency space. This is the first big advantage we gain by working with Fourier transforms. A filtering process can be expressed very simply. Later, we shall see that the properties of noise are also simplified by working in frequency space.

We quote without proof the Plancherel theorem:¹¹

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f^{2}(t) dt = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |F(\omega)|^{2} d\omega. \qquad (2.2.10)$$

Applying this to Eq. (2.1.1) for b, the energy line width, gives:

$$b_{0} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |S_{0}(\omega)|^{2} d\omega / s_{0}^{2}(0). \qquad (2.2.11)$$

Substituting the value of $S_0(\omega)$ from Eq. (2.2.9) leads to:

$$b_{0} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |H(\omega)|^{2} |S_{1}(\omega)|^{2} d\omega/s_{0}^{2}(0). \qquad (2.2.12)$$

Equations (2.2.9) and (2.2.12) give the output signal and the output energy line width in terms of the input signal and the filter. The properties of noise are more difficult to describe and will be covered in the next section.

2.3 Generalized Harmonic Analysis

Wiener, by developing generalized harmonic analysis, provided the mathematical tools for dealing with random functions.¹² This approach yields a reciprocal relationship between frequency and time. The frequency characteristic is called the power spectrum and the time characteristic the correlation function. We shall use the properties of the power spectrum to develop filters.

Random noise has an infinite period. Let the noise function be n(t). We can define a periodic function, $n_T(t)$, with period T as follows:

$$n_{T}(t) \equiv n(t); \qquad |t| \leq T/2, \qquad (2.3.1)$$

and:

$$n_{T}(t+T) \equiv n_{T}(t)$$
.

Taking the limit as T becomes arbitrarily large we obtain:

$$\underset{T \to \infty}{\text{Limit}} n_T(t) = n(t). \qquad (2.3.2)$$

We shall first determine some properties of the periodic function, $n_{T}(t)$, and later take the limit to obtain the desired properties of the

non-periodic function, n(t).

Since $\boldsymbol{n}_{\mathbf{T}}(t)$ is periodic we can expand it in a Fourier Series:

$$n_{T}(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} [a_{j} \cos(\omega_{j}t) + b_{j} \sin(\omega_{j}t)],$$
 (2.3.3)

where:

$$a_{j} = 2/T \int_{-T/2}^{T/2} n_{T}(t) \cos(\omega_{j}t) dt,$$
 (2.3.4)

$$b_{j} = 2/T \int_{-T/2}^{T/2} n_{T}(t) \sin(\omega_{j}t) dt, \qquad (2.3.5)$$

and $\omega_{i} = 2 \pi j/T$. We shall also use the complex form:

$$n_{T}(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} N_{T}(\omega_{j}) e^{i\omega_{j}t} \left(\frac{2\pi}{T}\right), \qquad (2.3.6)$$

where:

$$N_{T}(\omega_{j}) = \int_{-T/2}^{T/2} n_{T}(t) e^{-i\omega_{j}t} dt.$$
 (2.3.7)

Suppose $n_T(t)$ is a current flowing through a circuit with unit resistance. Then a certain amount of energy, E_T , is dissipated in each cycle. From elementary circuit theory:

$$E_{T} = \int_{-T/2}^{T/2} n_{T}^{2}(t) dt. \qquad (2.3.8)$$

Substitution of Eq. (2.3.3) for $n_{T}(t)$ gives:

$$E_{T} = \int_{-T/2}^{T/2} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left[a_{j} \cos (\omega_{j}t) + b_{j} \sin (\omega_{j}t) \right] \\ \times \left[a_{k} \cos (\omega_{k}t) + b_{k} \sin (\omega_{k}t) \right] dt.$$
(2.3.9)

Rearrangement of this expression leads to:

$$E_{T} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left\{ a_{j} a_{k} \frac{T}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \cos((j\theta)) \cos((k\theta)) d\theta + a_{j} b_{k} \frac{T}{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \sin((j\theta)) \cos((k\theta)) d\theta + b_{j} b_{k} \frac{T}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \sin((j\theta)) \sin((k\theta)) d\theta \right\}.$$

$$(2.3.10)$$

Integration simplifies this expression to:

$$E_{T} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{T}{2} \left(a_{j}^{2} + b_{j}^{2} \right). \qquad (2.3.11)$$

We can therefore speak about the component of E_T from the frequency ω_i . The total energy is the sum of these components:

$$E_{T} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} E_{T}(\omega_{j}),$$
 (2.3.12)

where:

$$E_{T}(\omega_{j}) = \frac{T}{2}(a_{j}^{2} + b_{j}^{2}),$$
 (2.3.13)

is the energy per cycle from frequency $\omega_j.$ The average power for a cycle, $\rho_T,$ is given by $E_T/T:$

$$\rho_{\rm T} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} E(\omega_j) \frac{1}{{\rm T}}, \qquad (2.3.14)$$

or:

$$\rho_{\rm T} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{{\rm E}(\omega_j)}{2\pi} \Delta \omega_j. \qquad (2.3.15)$$

A very useful characterization of random functions is the power spectral density:

$$W_{T}(\omega_{j}) \equiv E_{T}(\omega_{j})/4\pi; \quad W_{T}(-\omega_{j}) \equiv W_{T}(\omega_{j}).$$
 (2.3.16)

This leads to the representation of the total power as:

$$\rho_{\mathrm{T}} = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} W_{\mathrm{T}}(\omega_{j}) \Delta \omega_{j}. \qquad (2.3.17)$$

Substituting Eq. (2.3.13) in Eq. (2.3.16) we obtain:

$$W_{T}(\omega_{j}) = \frac{T}{8\pi} \left(a_{j}^{2} + b_{j}^{2} \right),$$
 (2.3.18)

so that:

$$W_{T}(\omega_{j}) = \frac{T}{8\pi} (a_{j} + ib_{j})(a_{j} - ib_{j}).$$
 (2.3.19)

We now substitute Eqs. (2.3.4) and (2.3.5) for a_j and b_j :

$$W_{T}(\omega_{j}) = \frac{T}{8\pi} \left\{ \frac{2}{T} \int_{-T/2}^{T/2} n_{T}(t) \left[\cos (\omega_{j}t) + i \sin (\omega_{j}t) \right] dt \right\}$$

$$\times \left\{ \frac{2}{T} \int_{-T/2}^{T/2} n_{T}(t) \left[\cos (\omega_{j}t) - i \sin (\omega_{j}t) \right] dt \right\},$$

$$(2.3.20)$$

or:

$$W_{T}(\omega_{j}) = \frac{1}{2\pi T} \left\{ \int_{-T/2}^{T/2} n_{T}(t) e^{i\omega_{j}t} dt \right\} \left\{ \int_{-T/2}^{T/2} n_{T}(t) e^{-i\omega_{j}t} dt \right\}.$$
(2.3.21)

Substitution of Eq. (2.3.7) for $N_T(\omega_j)$ gives:

$$W_{T}(\omega_{j}) = \frac{|N_{T}(\omega_{j})|^{2}}{2 \pi T}$$
 (2.3.22)

The root-mean-square value of the noise is defined as:

$$(n_{rms})_{T} \equiv \left\{ \frac{1}{T} \int_{-T/2}^{T/2} n_{T}^{2}(t) dt \right\}^{1/2}$$
 (2.3.23)

This is simply the square root of the total power per cycle. We therefore obtain from Eq. (2.3.17):

$$(n_{rms})_{T}^{2} = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} W_{T}(\omega_{j}) \Delta \omega_{j}. \qquad (2.3.24)$$

We now examine the result of a filter on n_{rms} . After filtering we have:

$$(n_{rms})_{T_0}^2 = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} W_{T_0}(\omega_j) \Delta \omega_j, \qquad (2.3.25)$$

or, substituting Eq. (2.3.22) for $W_{T_0}^{-}(\omega_j)$ gives:

$$(n_{\rm rms})_{\rm T_0}^2 = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} (\frac{1}{2\pi T}) \left| N_{\rm T_0}(\omega_j) \right|^2 \Delta \omega_j.$$
(2.3.26)

Since the filter is equivalent to multiplying by ${\rm H}(\omega_{\rm j})$ in frequency space:

$$(n_{rms})_{T_0}^2 = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} (\frac{1}{2\pi T}) |H(\omega_j) N_{T_i}(\omega_j)|^2 \Delta \omega_j. \qquad (2.3.27)$$

We again use Eq. (2.3.22) for $W_{T_i}(\omega_j)$ and obtain:

$$(n_{\rm rms})_{\rm T_0}^2 = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} |H(\omega_j)|^2 W_{\rm T_i}(\omega_j) \Delta \omega_j, \qquad (2.3.28)$$

for the mean-square value of the noise after filtering. This is the crucial relationship which shows the effect of a filter on the noise.

We shall find the time characteristic useful for developing filters based on probability theory. The <u>autocorrelation function</u>, $r_{T}(t)$, is defined as:

$$\mathbf{r}_{T}(t) = \frac{1}{T} \int_{-T/2}^{T/2} n_{T}(\tau) n_{T}(t+\tau) d\tau. \qquad (2.3.29)$$

This is a measure of the dependence of $n_T(\tau)$ upon $n_T(t+\tau)$. If $n_T(\tau)$ is independent of $n_T(t+\tau)$ for all t not equal to zero, then $r_T(t)$ approaches a Dirac delta function. Substitution of Eq. (2.3.6) for $n_T(t)$ into Eq. (2.3.29) gives:

$$\mathbf{r}_{\mathrm{T}}(\mathbf{t}) = \frac{1}{4\pi^{2}\mathrm{T}} \int_{-\mathrm{T}/2}^{\mathrm{T}/2} \sum_{\mathbf{j}=-\infty}^{\infty} \sum_{\mathbf{k}=-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{N}_{\mathrm{T}}(\omega_{\mathbf{j}}) \mathrm{N}_{\mathrm{T}}(\omega_{\mathbf{k}}) e^{\mathbf{i}(\omega_{\mathbf{j}}+\omega_{\mathbf{k}})\tau} e^{\mathbf{i}\omega_{\mathbf{k}}\mathbf{t}} (\frac{2\pi}{\mathrm{T}})^{2} d\tau. \qquad (2.3.30)$$

Rearrangement of this expression leads to:

$$\mathbf{r}_{T}(t) = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\mathbf{N}_{T}(\omega_{j}) \mathbf{N}_{T}(\omega_{k})}{2 \pi T} e^{\mathbf{i}\omega_{k}t}$$
$$\Delta \omega_{j} \Delta \omega_{k} \left\{ \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-T/2}^{T/2} e^{\mathbf{i}(\omega_{j}+\omega_{k})\tau} d\tau \right\}. \qquad (2.3.31)$$

The limit as T approaches infinity of the quantity in brackets is the Dirac delta function. 14

We now have derived all the desired relationships for the periodic function $n_{T}(t)$. We let T approach infinity and we obtain the following relationships for the non-periodic function, n(t) from Eqs. (2.3.6), (2.3.7), (2.3.22), (2.3.29), (2.3.24), (2.3.28), and (2.3.31), respectively:

$$n(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} N(\omega) e^{i\omega t} d\omega, \qquad (2.3.32)$$

$$N(\omega) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} n(t) e^{-i\omega t} dt, \qquad (2.3.33)$$

W(
$$\omega$$
) = Limit $\frac{|N(\omega)|^2}{2\pi T}$, (2.3.34)

$$\mathbf{r}(t) = \operatorname{Limit}_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \int_{-T/2}^{T/2} \mathbf{n}(\tau) \mathbf{n}(t+\tau) d\tau, \qquad (2.3.35)$$

$$n_{rms}^{2} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} W(\omega) \, d\omega, \qquad (2.3.36)$$

$$n_{rms_0}^2 = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |H(\omega)|^2 W_i(\omega) d\omega, \qquad (2.3.37)$$

and

$$\mathbf{r}(\mathbf{t}) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbf{W}(\omega) \, \mathbf{e}^{\mathbf{i}\,\omega\mathbf{t}} \, \mathbf{d}\omega \,. \qquad (2.3.38)$$

It also follows from Eqs. (2.3.32), (2.3.33), and (2.3.38) that:

W(
$$\omega$$
) = $\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} r(t) e^{-i\omega t} dt$. (2.3.39)

The autocorrelation function and the power spectral density are related through a Fourier transform. This is called the Wiener-Khinchin relation.

Finally, we note that <u>white noise</u> is defined as having a power spectral density which is frequency independent. That is, $W(\omega)_{\text{white noise}}$ is a constant. All frequencies contribute equally to white noise. Later we shall see that this provides an excellent description of the noise in n.m.r. spectra under normal conditions. The autocorrelation function for white noise is given by:

$$\mathbf{r(t)}_{\text{white noise}} = W \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{i\omega t} d\omega = 2\pi W \delta(t), \qquad (2.3.40)$$

so that the data points of a spectrum are completely independent for white noise. They are statistically independent only for ergodic Gaussian noise. We shall consider the general significance of r(t) in a later section.

Non-white or colored noise requires assigning a functional form to $W(\omega)$ or r(t). This could be done by measuring either of the two. The resulting filters are significantly more complicated than those for white noise. This completes our excursion into generalized harmonic analysis. We are now ready to determine $H(\omega)$ for an optimum linear filter.

2.4 Optimum Resolution Enhancement Filters

The optimum resolution enhancement filter gives the minimum energy width for a given signal-to-noise ratio. It is simpler to solve for the filter which gives the maximum signal to noise ratio for a given energy width, which is the same thing. The signal-to-noise ratio is defined as the maximum signal voltage, $s_{0 max}$ divided by the root-mean-square noise voltage. Our definition of the time scale gives the maximum signal voltage as:

$$s_{0max} = s_0(0).$$
 (2.4.1)

Taking the Fourier transform we obtain:

$$\mathbf{s_{o}}_{\max} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbf{S}_{0}(\omega) \, d\omega \,. \qquad (2.4.2)$$

Substitution of Eq. (2.2.9) for $S_0(\omega)$ gives:

$$s_{0_{\text{max}}} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} H(\omega) S_{i}(\omega) d\omega,$$
 (2.4.3)

for the maximum output signal voltage in terms of the input signal. We maximize the signal-to-noise ratio by holding the signal constant and minimizing the noise.

The optimum resolution enhancement filter satisfies the conditions:

$$n_{rms}^2 = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |H(\omega)|^2 W_i(\omega) d\omega$$
 is a minimum; (2.4.4)

$$s_{0_{max}} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} H(\omega) S_{i}(\omega) d\omega$$
 is a constant; (2.4.5)

and:

.

$$\mathbf{b}_{0} = 2\pi \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\mathbf{H}(\omega)|^{2} |\mathbf{S}_{1}(\omega)|^{2} d\omega/\mathbf{S}_{0}^{2}(0) \text{ is a constant;} \qquad (2.4.6)$$

where the last condition comes from Eq. (2.2.12). Since the denominator of Eq. (2.4.6) appears in Eq. (2.4.5), we can restate the problem. We wish to satisfy the following conditions:

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |H(\omega)|^2 W_i(\omega) d\omega = a \text{ minimum}$$
(2.4.7)

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} H(\omega) S_{i}(\omega) d\omega = c_{1}$$
(2.4.8)

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |H(\omega)|^2 |S_i(\omega)|^2 d\omega = c_2. \qquad (2.4.9)$$

This problem is readily solved by Lagrange's method of undetermined multipliers. 13 The general method for an extremal problem with k constraints is as follows;

Let:

$$\int_{x_1}^{x_2} I[x, y(x), y'(x)] dx = \text{an extremum}, \qquad (2.4.10)$$

under the k constraints:

$$\int_{x_1}^{x_2} I_j [x, y(x), y'(x)] dx = c_j; \quad j = 1, 2, \dots k, \quad (2.4.11)$$

and let:

$$K = I + \sum_{j=1}^{k} \lambda_j I_j,$$
 (2.4.12)

where the λ_i are constants. Then the solution satisfies:

$$\frac{\partial K}{\partial y} - \frac{d}{dx} \frac{\partial K}{\partial y'} = 0. \qquad (2.4.13)$$

When this method is applied to the above problem we obtain:

$$\mathbf{K} = |\mathbf{H}(\omega)|^{2} \mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{i}}(\omega) + \lambda_{1} \mathbf{H}(\omega) \mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{i}}(\omega) + \lambda_{2} |\mathbf{H}(\omega)|^{2} |\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{i}}(\omega)|^{2}. \quad (2.4.14)$$

For this problem K does not depend explicitly upon $H'(\omega)$. Application of Eq. (2.4.13) therefore leads to:
$$2 | H(\omega) | W_{i}(\omega) + \lambda_{1} \frac{H(\omega)}{|H(\omega)|} S_{i}(\omega) + 2 \lambda_{2} | H(\omega) | |S_{i}(\omega)|^{2} = 0,$$
(2.4.15)

where we have used $|H(\omega)|$ as y(x) in Eq. (2.4.13). We now multiply by $H^*(\omega)/|H(\omega)|$ and obtain:

$$2 \operatorname{H}^{*}(\omega) \operatorname{W}_{i}(\omega) + \lambda_{1} \operatorname{S}_{i}(\omega) + 2 \lambda_{2} \operatorname{H}^{*}(\omega) \left| \operatorname{S}_{i}(\omega) \right|^{2} = 0. \quad (2.4.16)$$

Solving for $H^*(\omega)$ and taking the complex conjugate gives:

$$H(\omega) = \frac{-\frac{\lambda_1}{2} S_i^*(\omega)}{W_i(\omega) + \lambda_2 |S_i(\omega)|^2} , \qquad (2.4.17)$$

which is the frequency response function (the Fourier transform of the weighting function) for the optimum linear resolution enhancement filter.

We have held the line width constant by use of the parameter λ_2 . It is clear from its origin in the third term of Eq. (2.4.14) that if $\lambda_2 = 0$ we obtain the filter with the maximum signal-to-noise ratio regardless of line width, since this eliminates consideration of line width in Eq. (2.4.14). If λ_2 approaches infinity we eliminate the first two terms of Eq. (2.4.14) and obtain the minimum line width regardless of the signal-to-noise ratio. First, we take the limit as λ_2 approaches infinity.

The limit of the frequency response function as λ_2 approaches infinity is:

$$\underset{\lambda_{2} \to \infty}{\text{Limit}} H(\omega) = -\frac{\lambda_{1}}{2 \lambda_{2}} \left[S_{1}(\omega) \right]^{-1}. \qquad (2.4.18)$$

We now substitute this limiting form for $H(\omega)$ in Eq. (2.2.9) giving:

$$\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{0}}(\omega) = \frac{-\lambda_1}{2\lambda_2}. \tag{2.4.19}$$

Taking the Fourier transform of this we obtain:

$$\mathbf{s}_{0}(t) = \frac{-\lambda_{1}}{4\pi\lambda_{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{\mathbf{i}\omega t} d\omega . \qquad (2.4.20)$$

The integral is easily evaluated 14 giving:

$$s_0(t) = \frac{-\lambda_1}{2\lambda_2} \delta(t)$$
 (2.4.21)

The signal has been transformed into a Dirac delta function. This indicates that our definition of line width was realistic, since in the limit it leads to a peak with zero resolution line width and no shift of adjacent peaks.

The second situation of interest is the case $\lambda_2 = 0$. This gives:

$$H(\omega) = -\frac{\lambda_1}{2} S_i^*(\omega) / W_i(\omega),$$
 (2.4.22)

which is the form for a matched filter.⁴ In addition to giving the maximum signal-to-noise ratio, the maximum of the filtered function

is the most probable position of the line.

The parameter λ_2 determines the emphasis of the filter on resolution or sensitivity, while λ_1 determines the normalization. We now assume that the noise power spectral density is a constant (i. e., the noise is white or frequency independent) and rearrange Eq. (2.4.17) to:

$$H(\omega) = \frac{c(q) S_{i}^{*}(\omega)}{1 + q |S_{i}(\omega)|^{2}}, \qquad (2.4.23)$$

where c(q) is the normalization constant and q determines the resolving power of the filter. If we require that:

$$s_0(0) = s_i(0),$$
 (2.4.24)

so that the filter is height preserving, then:

$$\mathbf{c}(\mathbf{q}) = \mathbf{s}_{\mathbf{i}}(0) \left\{ \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{i}}(\omega)|^2 / [1 + \mathbf{q} |\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{i}}(\omega)|^2] d\omega \right\}^{-1}.$$
 (2.4.25)

This frequency response function [Eqs. (2.4.23) and (2.4.25)] defines a family of linear resolution enhancement filters which depend only on the input line shape. In the next section we consider the implementation of these filters.

2.5 Numerical Fourier Transforms

The Fourier transform of the weighting function for the optimum linear resolution enhancement filter has the form given in Eq. (2.4.23).

The calculation of this weighting function using the I. B. M. provided subroutine "<u>HARM</u>" has been programmed. This subroutine uses the very efficient numerical Fourier transform algorithm of Cooley and Tukey. ¹⁵ The calculation of a Fourier transform at N points using this algorithm requires only N \log_2 N multiplications rather than the N² required by a more straightforward approach. The execution time for the complete filtering program is about 10 seconds on an I. B. M. 360/75 computer when the H level compiler is used.

Both linear and non-linear filters require some knowledge about the noise function n(t). We obtained the final form of the linear resolution enhancement filters by assuming that the power spectral density of the input noise $W_i(\omega)$ was not a function of ω . In order to test the validity of this assumption under the operating conditions of our experiments we recorded the noise from the Varian Model DFS-60 spectrometer. The power spectral density was calculated using the above program. The results are shown in Figure 2.5.1. The assumption that the noise is white [$W(\omega)$ is constant] is clearly quite good. There is no systematic variation of $W(\omega)$ with ω (Fig. 2.5.1). The Fourier transform of an n.m.r. signal (Fig. 2.5.2, page 37) does vary with ω . The only assumption made in deriving Eq. (2.4.23) has been verified. We now consider a numerical problem which arises in the use of these filters.

The program requires a table of values of the line-shape function, s(t), from which h(t) is calculated. This line shape function is best determined experimentally. We therefore must make the

33



Figure 2.5.1. The power spectral density of noise from the DFS-60 spectrometer.

approximation:

$$\mathbf{s}_{\mathbf{i}}(t) \doteq \mathbf{s}_{\mathbf{i}}(t) + \mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{s}}(t), \qquad (2.5.1)$$

where $n_s(t)$ is the noise in the peak we are using for the line shape. This leads to the approximation for the frequency response function:

$$H(\omega) \doteq \frac{c(q) \left[S_{i}^{*}(\omega) + N_{s}^{*}(\omega) \right]}{1 + q \left| S_{i}(\omega) + N_{s}(\omega) \right|^{2}}.$$
(2.5.2)

This approximation must be modified to eliminate the domination of high frequency noise. We shall first prove that this is true in principle and then show that it can be important in practice. The line-shape function at t = 0 is given by:

$$\mathbf{s}_{\mathbf{i}}(0) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{i}}(\omega) \, d\omega, \qquad (2.5.3)$$

which implies that:

$$\lim_{|\omega| \to \infty} S_{i}(\omega) = 0.$$
(2.5.4)

The noise frequency response function satisfies the limiting equation:

$$W_{s}(\omega) = \lim_{T \to \infty} |N_{s}(\omega)|^{2}/2 \pi T, \qquad (2.5.5)$$

where $W_{s}(\omega)$ is the power spectral density of the noise. Since the noise is white so that $W_{s}(\omega)$ is independent of ω , then $|N_{s}(\omega)|$ is also independent of ω . Therefore the limit of the noise spectrum is:

$$\underset{\omega \to \infty}{\text{Limit}} N_{s}(\omega) = \eta_{s} e^{i\theta(\omega)} \neq 0, \qquad (2.5.6)$$

wher η_s is a constant but θ is not. The limit of the weighting function, Eq. (2.5.2), is therefore:

$$\lim_{\omega \to \infty} \operatorname{H}(\omega) \stackrel{\prime}{=} \frac{\operatorname{c}(q) \operatorname{N}_{s}^{*}(\omega)}{1 + q |\operatorname{N}_{s}(\omega)|^{2}}.$$
(2.5.7)

We recall that the filtered spectrum is given by:

$$f_0(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} H(\omega) F_i(\omega) e^{i\omega t} d\omega, \qquad (2.5.8)$$

where $F_i(\omega)$ is the Fourier transform of the input spectrum. Equations (2.5.7) and (2.5.8) show that the noise in the line-shape function will dominate the output spectrum.

Clearly, there exists an $\omega_\eta > 0$ such that:

$$\eta_{\mathbf{s}} > |\mathbf{S}(\omega)|; \quad |\omega| \ge \omega_{\eta}.$$
 (2.5.9)

If we use Eq. (2.5.2) beyond ω_{η} we are mainly increasing the noise in the output spectrum. We therefore use ω_{η} for a cut-off frequency and redefine $H(\omega)$ to be:

$$H(\omega) \doteq \begin{cases} \frac{c(q, \omega_{\eta}) \left[S^{*}(\omega) + N_{s}^{*}(\omega) \right]}{1 + q \left| S(\omega) + N_{s}(\omega) \right|^{2}}; & \omega \leq \omega_{\eta} \\ 0 & ; & \omega > \omega_{\eta} \end{cases}$$
(2.5.10)

This is equivalent to replacing the limits of integration by ω_η in Eq. (2.5.8).

When performing a numerical Fourier transform, Eq. (2.5.8) must be replaced by the approximation:

$$f_{0}(t) \doteq \frac{\Omega}{2\pi} \int_{-\Omega}^{\Omega} H(\omega) F_{i}(\omega) e^{i\omega t} d\omega, \qquad (2.5.11)$$

where Ω is determined by the number of data points for $f_i(t)$. The

above discussion would be purely academic if ω_{η} were larger than Ω . Their relative sizes must be determined experimentally.

Figure 2.5.2 shows a computer drawn plot of the modulus of an experimentally determined line-shape transform $|S(\omega)|$. The signal-to-noise ratio for s(t) was approximately 200/1. It is clear



Figure 2.5.2. The modulus of the line-shape transform, $|S(\omega)|$, for an n.m.r. signal.

that in this case ω_{η} is much less than Ω . A frequency response function which gives high resolution enhancement has been computed from this line shape. The plot of the modulus, $|H(\omega)|$, is shown in Figure 2.5.3 and the corresponding time function, $h(\tau)$, is shown in



Figure 2.5.3. The modulus of the frequency response function, $|H(\omega)|$, for a high resolution weighting function.

Figure 2.5.4. It is obviously desirable to make use of the cut-off frequency, ω_{η} .

In practice we compute $\overline{\eta}_{s}$ as the average value of $|S_{i}(\omega) + N_{s}(\omega)|$ for the ten highest frequencies available. We then choose ω_{η} to be the smallest positive value of ω for which:

$$\left| \mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{j}}(\omega) + \mathbf{N}_{\mathbf{S}}(\omega) \right| \leq 2 \,\overline{\eta}_{\mathbf{S}} \,. \tag{2.5.12}$$



Figure 2.5.4. The weighting function h(t) corresponding to Figure 2.5.3.

This effectively limits the frequency response function to those frequencies for which the signal is greater than the noise.

Figure 2.5.5 shows the results of using this value of ω_{η} on $|H(\omega)|$. The effect that this has on the weighting function, h(t) is shown in Figure 2.5.6. We have eliminated the problems caused by high frequency noise.



Figure 2.5.5. The modulus of the frequency response function $|H(\omega)|$ using the cut-off frequency ω_{η} .



Figure 2.5.6. The weighting function h(t) resulting from the frequency response function in Figure 2.5.5.

The effects of multiple scans on the above frequency response functions are shown in Figure 2.5.7. Comparison with Figures 2.5.2 and 2.5.3 indicates that eliminating the higher frequencies from the single scan data was quite reasonable. The weighting function calculated from the multiple scan data is shown in Figure 2.5.8. The use of the cut-off frequency causes $H(\omega)$ and h(t) to more closely resemble the results which could be obtained by collecting additional data. We note that the high frequency wiggles towards the right in h(t) have been decreased by obtaining better data.



Figure 2.5.7. Frequency response functions obtained from a multiple scan experiment.

41



Figure 2.5.8. The weighting function resulting from the high resolution frequency response function shown in Figure 2.5.7.

The elimination of high frequency noise is not obviously important when these weighting functions are used to filter a spectrum. It would be silly to use data for $s_i(t)$ which did not have a significantly higher signal to noise ratio than the input spectrum $f_i(t)$. The high frequency noise in $s_i(t)$ will therefore always be small. However, the high frequency noise in $f_i(t)$ is not necessarily small, and the filter will take the product of the two. The more important application of the cut-off criterion will probably be found in the study of the behavior of h(t). In this case, we clearly eliminate most of the noise. All weighting functions discussed in the remainder of this thesis have been computed using the above cut-off criterion.

2.6 RC Filters

These simple analog filters are of particular interest since one is built into most commercially available n.m.r. spectrometers. They consist of one or more pairs of resistors and capacitors (Fig. 2.6.1).



Figure 2.6.1. Single and double section RC filters.

From elementary circuit theory¹⁶ we know that:

$$f_i(t) = I(t) R + Q(t)/C,$$
 (2.6.1)

where $f_i(t)$ is the input voltage (signal), I(t) is the current, and Q(t) is the charge on the capacitor. Since the current is the rate of change of the charge:

$$f_{i}(t) = \dot{Q}(t) R + Q(t)/C.$$
 (2.6.2)

The output voltage (signal) is given by Q/C so that:

$$f_i(t) = RC f_o(t) + f_o(t)$$
. (2.6.3)

The input and output voltages are connected by a first order linear differential equation. We first put it in standard form:

$$\dot{f}_{0}(t) + \frac{1}{RC} f_{0}(t) - \frac{1}{RC} f_{i}(t)$$
 (2.6.4)

The general solution is:¹⁷

$$f_0(t) = ke^{-t/RC} + e^{-t/RC} \int e^{\tau_1/RC} [1/RC] f_i(\tau_1) d\tau_1$$
 (2.6.5)

where k is an arbitrary constant. Since this filter is a real time device it can not use future data. Therefore, $\tau_1 \leq t$. The case of interest also satisfies the initial condition:

$$f_0(-\infty) = f_i(-\infty) = 0.$$
 (2.6.6)

The result of using a single section RC filter is therefore:

$$f_{0}(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{t} e^{-(\tau_{1}-t)/RC} [1/RC] f_{i}(\tau_{1}) d\tau_{1}. \qquad (2.6.7)$$

We now put this in the form of Eq. (2.2.1) by making the substitution τ = t - τ_1 :

$$f_{0}(t) = \int_{0}^{\infty} (\frac{1}{RC}) e^{-\tau/RC} f_{i}(t-\tau) d\tau. \qquad (2.6.8)$$

This gives the weighting function:

$$h_{\rm RC}(\tau) = \left\{ \begin{array}{ccc} \frac{1}{\rm RC} \ {\rm e}^{-\tau/\rm RC} & ; \ \tau \ge 0 \\ & & & \\ 0 & & ; \ \tau < 0 \end{array} \right\}$$
(2.6.9)

for a single section RC filter.

When two of these filters are placed in sequence the output function is:

$$f_{0}(t) = \int_{0}^{\infty} (\frac{1}{RC}) e^{-\tau_{1}/RC} \int_{0}^{\infty} (\frac{1}{RC}) e^{-\tau_{2}/RC} f_{1}(t - \tau_{1} - \tau_{2}) d\tau_{2} d\tau_{1}.$$
(2.6.10)

This can be rearranged to:

$$f_{0}(t) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} (\frac{1}{RC})^{2} e^{-(\tau_{1} + \tau_{2})/RC} f_{i}[t - (\tau_{1} + \tau_{2})] d\tau_{2} d\tau_{1}. \quad (2.6.11)$$

We now make the substitution $\tau = \tau_1 + \tau_2$, giving:

$$f_{0}(t) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\tau} \left(\frac{1}{RC}\right)^{2} e^{-\tau/RC} f_{i}(t-\tau) d\tau_{2} d\tau, \qquad (2.6.12)$$

where the upper limit on τ_2 comes from the fact that τ_1 can not be negative. Integration over τ_2 gives:

$$f_0(t) = \int_0^\infty (\frac{1}{RC})^2 \tau e^{-\tau/RC} f_i(t-\tau) d\tau.$$
 (2.6.13)

The weighting function for a double section RC filter is therefore:

$$h(\tau) = \left\{ \begin{array}{ccc} \left(\frac{1}{RC}\right)^{2} \tau e^{-\tau/RC} & ; \tau \ge 0 \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & 0 & ; \tau < 0 \end{array} \right\}.$$
(2.6.14)

This result could also have been obtained by taking the inverse Fourier transform of $H^2_{RC}(\omega)$. That is, by working in frequency space. We shall find this approach particularly helpful when we consider sequences of filters in the next section.

2.7 Sequences of Filters

It is sometimes desirable to use a series of successive filters. One example is the double section RC filter. A second is suggested by the design of an n.m.r. spectrometer. An n.m.r. spectrometer is equipped with a double section RC filter with variable capacitors.¹⁸ We must decide how to set this device, since all data we obtain will have been filtered by it (or not filtered by it if we decide to remove it).

The result of two filters applied in sequence is most easily discussed in frequency space. We therefore take the Fourier

transform of the weighting function:

$$H_{RC}(\omega) = \frac{1}{RC} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\tau/RC} e^{-i\omega\tau} d\tau, \qquad (2.7.1)$$

 \mathbf{or}

$$H_{\rm RC}(\omega) = \frac{1}{\rm RC} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-(i\omega + 1/\rm RC)\tau} d\tau. \qquad (2.7.2)$$

Integration yields:

$$H_{RC}(\omega) = \frac{1}{1 + i\omega RC},$$
 (2.7.3)

for the frequency response function of a single section RC filter.

We shall examine single section RC filters in detail. It will be obvious that multiple section filters behave similarly. We recall from Eq. (2.2.9) that the result of a linear filter in frequency space is a simple product:

$$S_{RC}(\omega) = H_{RC}(\omega) S_{i}(\omega), \qquad (2.7.4)$$

where $S_{RC}(\omega)$ is the result of an RC filter on the Fourier transform of the line shape. Similarly:

$$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{RC}}(\omega) = \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{RC}}(\omega) \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{i}}(\omega), \qquad (2.7.5)$$

where $F_{RC}(\omega)$ is the RC filter output signal in frequency space. If

we use an RC filter on both our signal and our line shape function, and then construct a matched filter [Eq. (2.4.22)] based upon this new line shape, we obtain:

$$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{0}}(\omega) = \mathbf{C} \mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{RC}}^{*}(\omega) \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{RC}}(\omega). \qquad (2.7.6)$$

Substitution of Eq. (2.7.4) for $S_{RC}(\omega)$ and Eq. (2.7.5) for $F_{RC}(\omega)$ gives:

$$\mathbf{F}_{0}(\omega) = \mathbf{c} \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{RC}}^{*}(\omega) \mathbf{S}_{i}^{*}(\omega) \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{RC}}(\omega) \mathbf{F}_{i}(\omega), \qquad (2.7.7)$$

or:

$$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{0}}(\omega) = \left| \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{RC}}(\omega) \right|^2 \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{m}}(\omega), \qquad (2.7.8)$$

where $F_{m}(\omega)$ is the result of a matched filter on the spectrum. We see that this procedure gives the desired result if and only if:

$$|H_{RC}(\omega)|^2 = 1.$$
 (2.7.9)

From Eq. (2.7.3) and Eq. (2.7.8) we see that:

$$F_{o}(\omega) = \frac{1}{1 + (RC\omega)^{2}} F_{m}(\omega).$$
 (2.7.10)

We could obtain the results of a matched filter by computing:

$$\mathbf{F}_{\mathrm{m}}(\omega) = \mathbf{c} \left[\mathbf{1} + (\mathbf{RC}\,\omega)^2 \right] \mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{RC}}^*(\omega) \mathbf{F}_{\mathrm{RC}}(\omega), \qquad (2.7.11)$$

but this is considerably more time consuming than carrying out the integration in time space:

$$f_{m}(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} s_{i}(-\tau) f_{i}(t-\tau) d\tau,$$
 (2.7.12)

which we can do when no RC filter is used. The simplest procedure is clearly to disconnect the RC filter (frequency response control) on the spectrometer.

The extension of these results to multiple section filters is obvious. We conclude that the results of an optimum filter are recoverable after the use of any RC filter, but that the most efficient procedure is to disconnect the RC filter on the spectrometer. More generally, this is true of any filter for which the inverse exists (i. e., $H(\omega) \neq 0$; for all ω).

The RC filter may be disconnected from the Varian Model DFS-60 (or HR-60) spectrometer by using the "scope" setting. The RC filter on an A-60 type spectrometer may be effectively disconnected by setting the filter bandwidth control at 4. At this setting, RC in Eq. (2.7.11) can be regarded as zero for most purposes.

2.8 Determination of Signal-to-Noise Ratios

The most straightforward method of measuring the signal-tonoise ratio is to take the ratio of the peak height to the rms value of the spectrum where the signal is zero. This method works in some cases. In many of the spectra we deal with, the value of the signal is greater than the noise level at all points. A less empirical method is therefore necessary.

The output signal-to-noise ratio is given by:

$$(S/N)_0 \equiv s_0(t)_{max}/n_{rms},$$
 (2.8.1)

$$(S/N)_{0} = s_{0}(t)_{\max} / \left[\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |H(\omega)|^{2} W_{i}(\omega) d\omega \right]^{\frac{1}{2}}. \qquad (2.8.2)$$

For white noise this becomes:

$$(S/N)_{0} = \frac{s_{0}(t)_{\max}}{W_{1}^{\frac{1}{2}}} \left[\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |H(\omega)|^{2} d\omega \right]^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (2.8.3)

Using the Plancherel theorem⁹ gives:

$$(S/N)_{0} = \frac{s_{0}(t)_{max}}{W_{1}^{\frac{1}{2}}} \left[2\pi \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} h^{2}(\tau) d\tau \right]^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (2.8.4)

The improvement in the signal to noise is then:

$$\frac{(S/N)_{0}}{(S/N)_{i}} = \frac{s_{0}(t)_{max}}{s_{i}(t)_{max}} \left[\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} h^{2}(\tau) d\tau \right]^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \qquad (2.8.5)$$

or approximately:

$$\frac{(S/N)_{o}}{(S/N)_{i}} \stackrel{:}{=} \frac{f_{o}(t)_{max}}{f_{i}(t)_{max}} \left[\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} h^{2}(\tau) d\tau \right]^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(2.8.6)

This is true regardless of whether or not $h(\tau)$ is based upon the line shape s(t). We can therefore use this relationship to compare optimum filters with other filters assuming only that the noise is white.

The above equation can also be derived from a statistical approach. Consider the discrete transformation:

$$f_{o}(t_{j}) = \sum_{k} h(\tau_{k}) f_{i}(t_{j} - \tau_{k}).$$
 (2.8.7)

The classical statistical equation for the linear propagation of errors¹⁹ is:

$$\sigma_0^2(t_j) = \sum_k \left[\frac{\partial f_0(t_j)}{\partial f_i(t_j - \tau_k)} \right]^2 \sigma_i^2(t_j - \tau_k).$$
(2.8.8)

Using Eq. (2.8.7) for $f_0(t_j)$ and assuming that the noise is random we obtain:

$$\sigma_0^2 = \sum_k h^2(\tau_k) \sigma_i^2, \qquad (2.8.9)$$

or:

$$\sigma_{\mathbf{0}} = \left[\sum_{\mathbf{k}} \mathbf{h}^{2}(\tau_{\mathbf{k}})\right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \sigma_{\mathbf{i}}.$$
 (2.8.10)

The signal-to-noise ratio is given by:

$$(S/N)_{o} = s_{o}(t)_{max} / \sigma_{o}.$$
 (2.8.11)

The improvement in the signal-to-noise ratio is therefore:

$$\frac{(S/N)_{o}}{(S/N)_{i}} = \frac{s_{o}(t)_{max}}{s_{i}(t)_{max}} \left(\frac{\sigma_{i}}{\sigma_{o}}\right), \qquad (2.8.12)$$

or finally:

$$\frac{(S/N)_{0}}{(S/N)_{i}} = \frac{s_{0}(t)_{max}}{s_{i}(t)_{max}} \left[\sum_{k} h^{2}(\tau_{k}) \right]^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \qquad (2.8.13)$$

which is the discrete approximation to the result obtained from the information theory approach, Eq. (2.8.5).

This relationship, Eq. (2.8.6), was used to evaluate the signalto-noise ratio obtained from the filters we later discuss.

3. RESULTS OBTAINED WITH LINEAR FILTERS

The effects of several linear filters on the types of line shapes resulting from an n.m.r. experiment have been studied. The resolution and signal to noise of spectra can be significantly improved with the aid of linear filters. Resolution enhancement requires more detailed knowledge of the line shape than sensitivity enhancement does.

Two line shapes have been studied in detail. The first, an experimental n.m.r. signal, was obtained from the proton-decoupled 13 C spectrum of carbon-1 of <u>trans</u>-1, 3-pentadiene using a 0.2 Hz/sec. sweep rate. We considered this to be a representative line shape (Fig. 3.1). The second was a Lorentzian line, the form of an n.m.r.



Figure 3.1. The line shape of a typical n.m.r. signal.

53

signal for infinitely slow pasage.²⁰ These line shapes are two members of the family of possible line shapes which result from varying the sweep rate. We shall examine the nature of resolution enhancement by careful consideration of these two line shapes.

Since a filtering device based upon a Lorentzian line shape is commerically available, ²¹ we have compared the results obtained by using the correct line shape to filter the above experimental line with those obtained using a Lorentzian line shape. Both these Lorentzian filters and RC filters contain the line width as a variable parameter. It is therefore necessary to optimize this parameter before comparisons can be made.

3.1 Optimum Line Widths of Weighting Functions

The line width of the weighting function, $h(\tau)$ has been varied for several combinations of line-shape function and weighting function. The results of using an RC filter are shown in Fig. 3.1.1 for a Lorentzian line shape and for the above experimental n.m.r. line shape. The use of a double section RC filter on a Lorentzian line can give up to 96.1% of the signal to noise obtainable with a matched filter. The use of a double section RC filter on the experimental signal gave up to 97.1% of the signal to noise obtainable with a matched filter. In the case of an n.m.r. line shape with "wiggles" the signal to noise peaks more sharply, indicating that setting the time constant of the filter is somewhat more critical in this case.

54



Figure 3.1.1. Signal-to-noise ratios from using a double section RC filter. Curve A results from a Lorentzian line shape and B results from the experimental line shape. ν_i is the input line width and α is the sweep rate.

Whereas the double section RC filter with the optimum time constant broadens a Lorentzian line by 90%, the experimental n.m.r. signal is broadened by only 26%. This is because the optimum time constant for filtering the experimental signal is only 42% of the line width (full width at half height), while for a Lorentzian line it is 50% of the line width. Our results for filtering a Lorentzian agree with those obtained earlier by Ernst. 22

We have also studied filters using Lorentzian weighting functions of varying half width. The results of using this filter on both the Lorentzian and the experimental line shapes are shown in Fig. 3.1.2. The Lorentzian function achieves a maximum when the line width of the filter function exactly equals that of the signal. This represents a matched filter. The Lorentzian line is broadened by $100\%^{23}$ and the experimental signal by 53% when the optimum line width weighting function is used.



Figure 3.1.2. Signal-to-noise ratios from using a Lorentzian weighting function. Curve A is from Lorentzian line shape and B results from an n.m.r. line shape. ν_i is the input line width and ν_f is the filter line width.

The Lorentzian weighting function which gives the maximum signal-to-noise for the experimental signal had a line width which was 0.79 times the line width of the n.m.r. signal. This is the Lorentzian line width we shall use to evaluate a resolution enhancement filter based upon a Lorentzian line shape but applied to general n.m.r. signals.

3.2 Resolution Enhancement

With the signal-to-noise ratios which are experimentally accessible, one can achieve almost an order of magnitude reduction in the resolution line width. This represents a substantial improvement in the capabilities of the instrument. Figure 3.2.1 shows an example of the results we have achieved in resolution enhancement. The spectrum was obtained by adding together two slightly displaced spectra from carbon-1 of 1, 3-pentadiene. The line shape was also taken from pentadiene. It is clear that a high degree of resolution enhancement is possible.



Figure 3.2.1. Resolution enhancement of an n.m.r. signal. The large peak and its "wiggles" are an unresolved doublet. The two smaller peaks are the same doublet after resolution enhancement (q = 3000).

57

We shall now consider the nature of resolution enhancement in some detail and try to achieve a better intuitive understanding of the process. Resolution enhancement is most easily understood in frequency space. We consider the Fourier transform of the weighting function, $h(\tau)$, which is the frequency response function, $H(\omega)$. We recall that this function is given by:

$$H_{r}(\omega) = \frac{c(q) S_{i}^{*}(\omega)}{1 + q |S_{i}(\omega)|^{2}}.$$
 (3.2.1)

The degree of resolution enhancement increases with increasing values of q (see section 2.4). Since c(q) is real and not a function of ω , the phase is unchanged from the phase of the frequency response function for a matched filter, $H_m(\omega)$. However, the amplitude is modified to emphasize higher frequencies. This is clear from the plots of $|H_m(\omega)|$ and $|H_r(\omega)|$ shown in Fig. 3.2.2.

To understand the significance of this shift to higher frequencies, we consider the corresponding weighting functions $h_r(\tau)$ and $h_m(\tau)$, shown in Fig. 3.2.3. In time space, the emphasis has been shifted from the main peak to the "wiggles" and the weighting function has taken on the appearance of a diffraction pattern. When the frequency response function shifts emphasis to higher frequencies, the effective wavelength of the diffraction pattern $h(\tau)$ is decreased. Thus, resolution enhancement can be looked upon as using a higher frequency diffraction pattern to fix positions more accurately.



Figure 3.2.2. The modulus of the frequency response functions for a matched filter and for a resolution enhancement filter.

We note from Fig. 3.2.3 that the "wiggles" still line up perfectly. This suggests that unlike sensitivity enhancement, resolution enhancement requires a detailed knowledge of the line shape. We now consider what happens if our knowledge is limited.

One method of determining the importance of the "wiggles" in an n.m.r. line is to eliminate them from the line-shape function and look at the effect on filtering. The above experimental n.m.r.



Figure 3.2.3. The weighting function for a matched filter (bottom) and for a resolution enhancement filter (top). The former is the mirror image of the line shape.

spectrum was filtered with a matched filter based upon the correct line shape and with the corresponding filter based upon a line shape with the "wiggles" removed (Fig. 3.2.4). The results are shown in



Figure 3.2.4. The weighting function for a matched filter with the "wiggles" removed.

Figure 3.2.5. The signal-to-noise ratios differ by only 2.6% and the spectra look quite similar. This is not the case when resolution enhancement filters based upon these two line shapes are used (Fig. 3.2.6). When the "wiggles" are removed from the line shape the results of resolution enhancement are not even useful. Thus, we see that while 97% of the signal to noise of an n.m.r. signal comes from



Figure 3.2.5. The results of filtering an n.m.r. signal with a matched filter which: A includes the "wiggles"; and B does not include the "wiggles".

the broad first maximum, the position of the signal (or resolution) is determined almost entirely by the much narrower wiggles.

This raises the question of whether or not we can measure the line shape sufficiently accurately in practice for these techniques to be useful. In an attempt to answer this question we compare the above line shape from pentadiene with a proton-decoupled benzene ¹³C spectrum taken under identical conditions (Fig. 3.2.7). There is almost no difference between these line shapes; in particular, the



Figure 3.2.6. The results of filtering an n.m.r. signal with a resolution enhancement filter which includes the "wiggles" (top), and with one which does not (bottom).



Figure 3.2.7. The proton decoupled ¹³C spectrum of benzene (top) and the one carbon of trans-1, 3-pentadiene (bottom).

"wiggles" line up perfectly. The result of filtering the benzene spectrum with a resolution enhancement filter based upon the line shape from pentadiene (Fig. 3.2.8) does not show any of the difficulties encountered earlier. When we consider the effects of sweep rate we shall see that line shapes generally appear to be sufficiently predictable as to make resolution enhancement based upon the exact line shape practical.

Another case of interest is to assume a Lorentzian line shape,²¹ since this is the exact line shape for an infinitely slow sweep rate.



Figure 3.2.8. The result of filtering the above benzene spectrum with a resolution enhancement filter which uses the line shape from pentadiene.

That Lorentzian line width was selected which gave the maximum signal to noise for a filter which uses the Lorentzian as the weighting function to filter the pentadiene signal (see section 3.1). Weighting functions based upon this Lorentzian line shape are shown alongside the equivalent functions based upon the above pentadiene line shape in Fig. 3.2.9. Although both are diffraction patterns, they are drastically different. Most notably, the Lorentzian pattern is symmetric and remains centered at t = 0. What effect the differences will have on a filtered signal is not obvious. The results of using


Figure 3.2.9. A comparison of weighting functions based upon the experimental n.m.r. signal (left) with those based upon the Lorentzian line which gives the maximum signal to noise (right).

these two sets of weighting functions to filter n.m.r. spectra are shown in Fig. 3.2.10. For low resolution enhancement the filters based upon a Lorentzian line shape give some improvement in the line width, but for high resolution enhancement they give results which are useless. The Lorentzian results are quite similar to those using the correct line shape, but with the "wiggles" removed.

We should keep in mind that the sweep rate for the original n.m.r. spectrum was only 0.2 Hz/sec. Slower sweep rates than this are often impractical. Under normal conditions of n.m.r. spectroscopy the deviations of the line shape from a Lorentzian are extremely important for resolution enhancement. These deviations are sufficient to make a filter based upon a Lorentzian line shape of questionable value.

Some of the difficulties encountered in filtering an n.m.r. signal with a Lorentzian resolution enhancement filter might be eliminated by first filtering the spectrum with an RC filter to remove the "wiggles". It is clear from section 2.7 that this is not the best method of going about things.

If for some reason (e.g., the sweep rate is sufficiently slow, the magnetic field is inhomogeneous, etc.) the "wiggles" disappear, the Lorentzian assumption is not too bad. Figure 3.2.11 shows the results of using the above Lorentzian resolution enhancement filters on a Lorentzian line. The achievable resolution is not as great as that from filtering an n.m.r. signal containing "wiggles" with the correct filter. This is because the natural diffraction pattern of a Lorentzian

di



Figure 3.2.10. The results of using the weighting functions based upon the correct n.m.r. line shape (left) and those based upon the Lorentzian line shape (right).



Figure 3.2.11. Resolution enhancement of a Lorentzian line using the correct line shape function. The inner lines represent successively higher resolution enhancement.

line is not as good as that of an n.m.r. signal containing "wiggles". Figure 3.2.11 does indicate however, that these Lorentzian filters can be quite effective if the line shape is similar to a Lorentzian.

The results of using a Lorentzian resolution enhancement filter on the experimental n.m.r. signal (Fig. 3.2.10) are quite similar to the mirror image of a weighting function based upon the same n.m.r. signal (Fig. 3.2.9). The similarity remains even if a Lorentzian line is filtered (see Figs. 3.2.11 and 3.2.9). This similarity is easy to understand in frequency space. The results of using a Lorentzian resolution enhancement filter are:

$$S_0(\omega) = \frac{c(q_1) L(\omega) S_i(\omega)}{1 + q_1 L^2(\omega)}, \qquad (3.2.2)$$

which has the same phase as $H^*(\omega)$, since $L(\omega)$ is real and:

$$H^{*}(\omega) = \frac{c(q_{2}) S_{i}(\omega)}{1 + q_{2} |S_{i}(\omega)|^{2}}.$$
 (3.2.3)

It is quite reasonable that these two expressions should be almost equal for some value of q_1/q_2 .

The experimental n.m.r. signal is more closely related to a Lorentzian line shape than the above discussion indicates. In addition to l(t) being the limiting form of $s_i(t)$ for slow sweep rates, $L(\omega)$ is an excellent approximation to $|S(\omega)|$ for any sweep rate. We shall first demonstrate that this statement is true, and then use it to determine some general properties of linear resolution enhancement filters.

Consider the normalized Lorentzian function:

$$\ell(t) = \frac{(\pi b_{\ell})^{-1}}{1 + (t/b_{\ell})^2}, \qquad (3.2.4)$$

which has a full width at half height equal to $2b_{\ell}$. The Fourier transform of $\ell(t)$ is given by:





$$L(\omega) = \frac{1}{\pi b_{\ell}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-i\omega t}}{1 + (t/b_{\ell})^2} dt. \qquad (3.2.5)$$

Integration gives the simple result:

$$L(\omega) = e^{-b\ell|\omega|}. \qquad (3.2.6)$$

The modulus of the Fourier transform of the experimental n.m.r. signal also decays exponentially (Fig. 3.2.12). We can therefore make the approximation:

$$|\mathbf{H}(\omega)| \doteq \frac{\mathbf{c}(\mathbf{q}) \, \mathbf{e}^{-\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{S}} |\omega|}}{1 + \mathbf{q} \, \mathbf{e}^{-2 \, \mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{S}} |\omega|}}, \qquad (3.2.7)$$

for the frequency response function. The phase of $H(\omega)$ is the same as the phase of $S_i^*(\omega)$. This will depend upon the sweep rate, however, the modulus, $|H(\omega)|$, has a form which is independent of sweep rate. The exponent, b_s , increases with increasing sweep rate, but the form of $|H(\omega)|$ does not change.

If q is between zero and one, this function has a single maximum at $\omega = 0$ (Fig. 3.2.2). If q is greater than one, $|H(\omega)|$ will have two maxima at:

$$\omega_{\rm q} = \pm \frac{1}{2 \, {\rm b}_{\rm S}} \, \ell {\rm n} \, {\rm q}.$$
 (3.2.8)

If we define:

$$\omega_1 \equiv |\omega - \omega_q|, \qquad (3.2.9)$$

then it follows from Eq. (3.2.7) that:

$$|H(\omega)| = \frac{c(q) q^{-\frac{1}{2}} e^{-b_{s}\omega_{1}}}{1 + e^{-2b_{s}\omega_{1}}}$$
 (3.2.10)

The effect of changing q is simply to change the position of the maximum, ω_q . Each branch of $|H(\omega)|$ is symmetric about this maximum (Fig. 3.2.2).

We shall return to the approximation:

$$|S_{i}(\omega)| \doteq e^{-b_{S}|\omega|},$$
 (3.2.11)

when we discuss line shapes.

Diffraction patterns have long been used to measure positions accurately. Since the linear filters we have developed make effective use of this technique, it seems rather unlikely that any modification of our definition of line width would lead to a significant improvement in resolution enhancement.

The qualitative conclusions we have reached in this section apply to any n.m.r. signal, whereas the quantitative results are a function of the sweep rate. The two line shapes studied above indicate the nature of the dependence of these results upon the sweep rate. We shall study the details of this dependence later.

3.3 Line Shapes Resulting from Resolution Enhancement

We concluded in section 2.1 that in addition to decreasing the resolution line width we wanted to make the signal approach zero rapidly. Figure 3.3.1 shows the line shapes of filtered spectra for several values of q in Eq. (3.2.1). These lines obviously have both of the desired properties. The line shapes are similar to those resulting from filtering a Lorentzian with an optimum filter ²⁴ (Fig. 3.2.11). In both cases "wiggles" are introduced in the tail of the line shape. These "wiggles" grow with increasing resolution enhancement.



Figure 3.3.1. The line shape of the experimental n.m.r. signal after resolution enhancement. The outside line results from a matched filter. The inside lines result from successively higher values of q in Eq. (3, 2, 1).

The general features of these line shapes are independent of the sweep rate. The Fourier transform of the line shape resulting from a linear resolution enhancement filter is given by:

$$S_{\mathbf{0}}(\omega) = \frac{c(q) |S_{\mathbf{i}}(\omega)|^2}{1 + q |S_{\mathbf{i}}(\omega)|^2}. \qquad (3.3.1)$$

The output from a matched filter (q = 0) is then:

$$\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{m}}(\omega) = \mathbf{c}(0) \left| \mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{i}}(\omega) \right|^{2}. \tag{3.3.2}$$

Substituting the approximate form of $|S_i(\omega)|$ given by Eq. (3.2.11) we find:

$$S_{\rm m}(\omega) \doteq c(0) e^{-2b_{\rm s}|\omega|}$$
 (3.3.3)

The output from a matched filter is therefore:

$$\mathbf{s}_{m}(t) \doteq \frac{(2 \pi \mathbf{b}_{s})^{-1}}{1 + (t/2 \mathbf{b}_{s})^{2}}.$$
 (3.3.4)

That is, if q equals zero, then the output line shape is approximately Lorentzian.

If q is much greater than one, $S_0(\omega)$ is approximately a step function (Fig. 3.3.2). That is, one can make the approximation:

$$\underset{q \to \infty}{\operatorname{Limit}} S_{0}(\omega) \stackrel{*}{\Rightarrow} \left\{ \begin{array}{c} c(q)/q ; & |\omega| \leq \omega_{q} \\ 0 ; & |\omega| > \omega_{q} \end{array} \right\}$$
(3.3.5)



Figure 3.3.2. The Fourier transform of a filtered line.

Taking the Fourier transform gives:

$$\lim_{q \to \infty} \mathbf{s}_0(t) \doteq \frac{\mathbf{c}(q)}{\pi q} \left[\frac{\sin(\omega_q t)}{t} \right], \qquad (3.3.6)$$

for the output line shape. As q increases, so does ω_q . This causes the frequency of the wiggles to increase. The full width at half height of this line shape must be determined numerically. The result is:

$$\underset{q \to \infty}{\text{Limit}} \nu_{0} \stackrel{:}{:=} \frac{3.7910}{\omega_{q}} . \tag{3.3.7}$$

Substitution of Eq. (3.2.8) for ω_q gives:

$$\underset{q \to \infty}{\text{Limit}} \nu_{0} \stackrel{*}{=} \frac{7.5820 \text{ b}_{\text{S}}}{\ln q} = \frac{1.8955}{\ln q} \nu_{\text{m}}, \qquad (3.3.8)$$

since the output line width from a matched filter is $4b_s$ [Eq. (3.3.4)]. As q approaches infinity, $S_0(t)$ approaches a Dirac delta function according to Eq. (3.3.6). If we wish to resolve two overlapping peaks of greatly differing amplitudes, these "wiggles" may prevent us from doing so. A method of avoiding this problem by using nonlinear filters will be discussed later. We shall use linear filters only for lines of comparable magnitude.

A quantitative measure of the desirability of a line shape is the ratio of the observed separation to the exact separation for two closely spaced lines (Fig. 3. 3. 3). Ideally this ratio should always be one. In practice it is zero when the separation is less than the resolution line width and deviates from one for larger separations. The ''wiggles'' in a resolution enhancement line shape cause this ratio to oscillate about one. The observed separation is not a lower bound to the true separation, however the magnitude of the deviations has not increased. The resolution line width therefore seems to be an adequate measure of the resolution of these types of line shapes.

The situation is somewhat more complicated for other line shapes. Figure 3.3.4 shows an n.m.r. spectrum of two overlapping lines obtained by adding together two of the above pentadiene spectra.



Figure 3.3.3. The observed separation of a symmetric doublet as a function of the actual separation. Curve A results from a Lorentzian line shape. Curves B and C result from the experimental n.m.r. signal using a matched filter and a resolution enhancement filter respectively.



Figure 3.3.4. The n.m.r. spectrum of two overlapping lines before (top) and after (bottom) using a matched filter.

The raw spectrum is rather difficult to interpret. After filtering this spectrum with a matched filter it is obvious that the spectrum represents a symmetric doublet. The matched filter made the line shape symmetric and easy to interpret.

In general, we obtain the Fourier transform of the output line shape by taking the product of the Fourier transform of the input line shape and the frequency response function of the filter:

$$S_0(\omega) = H(\omega) S_i(\omega). \qquad (3.3.9)$$

In the case of an optimum linear resolution enhancement filter based upon the correct line shape this leads to the output function:

$$S_{0}(\omega) = \frac{c(q) S_{i}^{*}(\omega) S_{i}(\omega)}{1 + q |S_{i}(\omega)|^{2}}.$$
 (3.3.10)

Since $S_0(\omega)$ is real, the output line-shape function $s_0(t)$ is symmetric (see Section 2.2). Only a filter based upon the correct line shape can lead to a symmetric filtered line. The above example indicates that using the correct line shape can be important beyond the obvious advantage of a decreased resolution line width.

3.4 Signal-to-Noise Ratios

Now we consider exactly how much signal to noise we must sacrifice for a given improvement in resolution. The signal-to-noise level was calculated using Eq. (2.8.6) and the resolution was measured using the full width at half height since this quantity is easily obtained. The results for several combinations of line shape and filter are shown in Fig. 3. 4. 1. The best resolution improvement clearly results when there are "wiggles" in both the signal and the line shape the filter is based upon. An n. m. r. line with "wiggles" gives considerably better results than a Lorentzian line shape when the correct resolution enhancement filter is used for both (A and D



Figure 3.4.1. The output signal to noise as a function of the line width, where ν_i is the input full width at half height and ν_0 is the output full width at half height. Curves A and B result from filtering the experimental n. m. r. signal with a resolution enhancement filter based upon the correct and Lorentzian line shapes respectively. Curve C results from filtering this n. m. r. signal with an RC filter. Curve D results from filtering a Lorentzian line with a resolution enhancement filter based upon the correct Lorentzian line shape.

in Fig. 3.4.1). Enhancement of the above experimental n.m.r. signal with "wiggles" is roughly equivalent to that of a Lorentzian line with half the full width at half height. The results of filtering this n.m.r. signal with a Lorentzian-based filter (B in Fig. 3.4.1) could not be measured for high resolution enhancement since the resulting line shape (Fig. 3.2.10) becomes too ambiguous to interpret. The line width resulting from using an RC filter (C in Fig. 3.4.1) is never less than the original line width. As RC approaches zero the RC weighting function approaches a Dirac delta function (i.e., it becomes equivalent to not using any filter at all).



Figure 3.4.2. The relative signal-to-noise ratio as a function of the parameter q in Eq. (3.2.1).

In practice, the resolution enhancement and consequent loss of signal to noise are determined by our choice of the parameter q in the frequency response function [Eq. (3.2.1)]. The loss in signal to noise is a smooth monotonic function of q (Fig. 3.4.2) when the correct line shape is used. The loss in signal to noise varies only slightly between the Lorentzian and the experimental n.m.r. line shapes. That is, it is independent of the sweep rate. Thus, it is possible (and obviously desirable) to know in advance how much signal to noise we shall lose.

We sought a simple expression for the loss of signal to noise as a function of q. The following relationship was empirically determined:

$$(S/N)_{max}/(S/N) \doteq 1 + (\frac{q}{137})^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (3.4.1)

This equation predicts signal-to-noise losses of up to one thousand to within 30% for all sweep rates of interest. Our program requires only the tolerable signal-to-noise loss $(S/N)_T$ as input. It then calculates q from:

$$q \equiv 137 ((S/N)_T - 1)^2.$$
 (3.4.2)

When using the program one should keep in mind that a matched filter can give an improvement of up to ten to one over the signal-to-noise ratio of the raw data.

The empirical relationship in Eq. (3.4.1) is adequate for the useful range of q. A more accurate relationship between q and the signal-to-noise loss can be obtained from the asymptotic behavior of linear resolution enhancement filters. We shall use the approximate form of $|S_i(\omega)|$ given by Eq. (3.2.11) and the asymptotic form of $S_0(\omega)$ given by Eq. (3.3.5). This leads to the approximation:

$$\underset{\mathbf{q} \to \infty}{\operatorname{Limit}} | \mathbf{H}(\omega) | \stackrel{\text{s}}{\Rightarrow} \begin{cases} \frac{\mathbf{c}(\mathbf{q})}{\mathbf{q}} e^{\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{S}} | \omega |}; & \omega \leq \omega_{\mathbf{q}} \\ \\ 0 & ; & \omega > \omega_{\mathbf{q}} \end{cases}$$
(3.4.3)

for the asymptotic form of the frequency response function. From Eq. (2.8.3) we see that the loss in signal-to-noise from resolution enhancement is given by:

$$\frac{(S/N)_{0}}{(S/N)_{m}} = \frac{s_{0}(t)_{max}}{s_{m}(t)_{max}} \left\{ \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |S_{i}(\omega)|^{2} d\omega}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |H(\omega)|^{2} d\omega} \right\}^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(3.4.4)

Integration using the above approximations for $|S_i(\omega)|$ and $|H(\omega)|$ gives:

Substitution of Eq. (3.2.8) for ω_q gives:

÷

for the asymptotic behavior of resolution enhancement filters. This suggests the approximation:

$$\frac{(S/N)_{0}}{(S/N)_{m}} \stackrel{\ddagger}{=} \frac{1 + \ln(q+1)}{1 + q^{\frac{1}{2}}}$$
(3.4.7)

which is accurate to within 15% for all q greater than or equal to zero. Unfortunately, we cannot solve Eq. (3.4.7) for q as an explicit function of the signal-to-noise loss. We therefore retain Eq. (3.4.2) as our basis for selecting q.

We have used the full width at half height to compare several filters. A more realistic comparison would use the resolution line

TABLE 3.4.1	
Line Shape	(R.L.W.)/(F.W.H.H.)
Lorentzian	0.864
Experimental N.M.R.	0.664
Exp. Matched Filter	0.511
Exp. Res. Enhc. $(q = 3000)$	0.950

width (sec. 2.1) for two equal lines. The resolution line widths of some typical line shapes are given in Table 3.4.1. Although they vary

by almost a factor of two, they do not effect any of the qualitative conclusions reached on the basis of the full width at half height. The variation of signal-to-noise ratio with line width (Fig. 3.4.1) has been recalculated on the basis of Table 3.4.1. The two cases of principal interest are filtering the experimental n.m.r. line and the Lorentzian line with the correct resolution enhancement filters. Figure 3.4.3 shows the variations in signal to noise with resolution line width for these two cases. The Lorentzian curve (B) is almost unchanged from that in Fig. 3.4.1. The curve (A) for an n.m.r. line with "wiggles" shows greater improvement for low resolution enhancement. Even a matched filter can give an improvement in the resolution line width. The curves shown in Fig. 3.4.3 are two members of the family of



Figure 3.4.3. The output signal to noise as a function of the resolution line width. Curve A results from filtering the n.m.r. signal with "wiggles" using the correct resolution enhancement filter. Curve B results from filtering a Lorentzian signal using the correct resolution enhancement filter.

possible curves for resolution enhancement in an n.m.r. experiment with varying sweep rate. Curve B ($\alpha = 0$) appears to be the limiting worst case. Significant improvement in resolution can be achieved in any n.m.r. experiment for which we can measure the line shape. We shall now consider the effects of sweep rate in more detail.

3.5 The Effects of Sweep Rate

Changing the sweep rate has dramatic effects upon all aspects of an n.m.r. experiment. To understand the effects involved we consider briefly the physical nature of a typical n.m.r. experiment.

If nuclei are placed in a homogeneous magnetic field in the z direction, they tend to align themselves with the field and precess about this direction with the Larmor frequency ν_0 (Fig. 3.5.1). A net magnetization M_0 develops in the z direction, with the characteristic time constant T_1 . If the magnetic field is turned on at t = 0, then:

$$M_{a} = M_{0} (1 - e^{-t/T_{1}}), \qquad (3.5.1)$$

where M_{Z} is the instantaneous magnetization in the z direction. If an rf field, $2 H_1$, of frequency ν_0 is applied in the x direction, it will have components of magnitude H_1 and frequency ν_0 rotating clockwise and counter-clockwise in the xy plane. The clockwise component is stationary with respect to the nuclei, while the counter-clockwise





component rotates with frequency $2\nu_0$ with respect to the nuclei and has no effect on them. The nuclei will precess about the "stationary" clockwise component. This leads to an induced magnetization in the xy plane, M_{xy} , which trails the clockwise component of the rf field by 90° (Fig. 3.5.2). If H_1 is turned off, M_{xy} decays with characteristic time constant T_2 . That is:

$$|| \underset{\sim}{\mathbb{M}}_{xy} || = || \underset{\sim}{\mathbb{M}}_{xy} ||_{t=0} e^{-t/T_2},$$
 (3.5.2)

where \underline{H}_1 was turned off at t = 0. The torque exerted by \underline{H}_1 on \underline{M}_{xy} leads to absorption.

If the frequency of the rf field, ν_{rf} , is slightly different from ν_0 , \underline{H}_1 will slowly rotate with respect to \underline{M}_{xy} . If ν_{rf} has been increased sufficiently past ν_0 , then \underline{H}_1 no longer affects \underline{M}_{xy} and \underline{M}_{xy} will rotate at exactly ν_0 . The rate of change of θ (Fig. 3.5.2) is then given by:

$$\theta = 2\pi(\nu_{\rm rf} - \nu_{\rm o}), \qquad (3.5.3)$$

where θ is measured in radians. If the frequency (or field) sweep is linear and we passed through resonance at t = 0, then:

$$(\nu_{\rm rf} - \nu_0) = \alpha t,$$
 (3.5.4)

where α is the sweep rate in Hz. Combining these two equations and integrating we obtain:



Figure 3.5.2. The rf field leads to an induced magnetization in the xy plane.

$$\theta = \pi \alpha t^2 + \theta_0, \qquad (3.5.5)$$

or:

$$\theta = \frac{\pi}{\alpha} (\nu_{rf} - \nu_0)^2 + \theta_0. \qquad (3.5.6)$$

The torque exerted by $\underset{\sim}{H_1}$ on $\underset{\sim}{M_{xy}}$ depends upon the sine of θ . We observe alternating absorption and emission, or "wiggles". The

maxima are determined by the condition $\sin \theta = 1$. Since θ_0 is approximately $\pi/2$:

$$\theta_{\max} - \theta_0 = \frac{\pi}{\alpha} \left(\nu_{\mathrm{rf}} - \nu_0 \right)^2 \doteq 2 \pi \mathrm{n}, \qquad (3.5.7)$$

where n is an integer. The maxima of the "wiggles" therefore occur when:

$$(\nu_{\rm rf} - \nu_0) \doteq \sqrt{2 \, n \alpha}; \qquad n = 0, 1, 2, \cdots. \qquad (3.5.8)$$

The positions of the "wiggles" depend only upon the sweep rate and not on the relaxation times or the magnetogyric ratio of the nuclei (Fig. 3.5.3). Therefore, for purposes of resolution enhancement,



Figure 3.5.3. The approximate positions of the maxima in an n.m.r. experiment.

line shapes may be measured by using standard samples. We shall have problems only if either the standard or the unknown is sufficiently broadened to make the "wiggles" disappear.

The full width at half height of these "wiggles" is roughly the time it takes for θ to change by $2\pi/3$ (Fig. 3.5.4), so that:

$$\nu_{\rm n} \doteq \sqrt{2({\rm n}+1/3)\alpha} - \sqrt{2\,{\rm n}\alpha}; {\rm n}=0, 1, 2, \cdots$$
 (3.5.9)

Although this relationship is not accurate for small n, it does give a rough approximation for the full width at half height of the first maximum:

$$\nu_{i} \doteq 0.817 \sqrt{\alpha}$$
 (3.5.10)



Figure 3.5.4. The projection of H_1 perpendicular to M_{xy} . Note that: $\theta(t_2) - \tilde{\theta}(t_1) = 2\pi/3$.

This approximation should be more accurate for large α , since $\nu_{\rm rf}$ becomes larger than ν_0 very quickly.

Ernst and Anderson 25 have solved the Bloch equations 20 numerically by the Runge-Kutta technique 26 and found that:

$$\underset{\alpha \to \infty}{\text{Limit}} \nu_{1} \doteq 0.66 \sqrt{\alpha}. \qquad (3.5.11)$$

Our simplified model is really then not too bad in that ν_i turns out to be proportional to $\sqrt{\alpha}$, even though with a different proportionality constant than shown in Eq. (3.5.11). In order to determine the detailed effects of sweep rate on filtering n.m.r. spectra, we return to a somewhat more pragmatic approach.

We have recorded the line shape of the proton signal from chloroform over a wide range of sweep rates. The observed line widths are shown in Fig. 3.5.5. The asymptotic form [Eq. (3.5.9)] is an excellent approximation at the faster sweep rates.

This experimental curve agrees very closely with the theoretical curve obtained by Ernst and Anderson²⁵ if we assume that $T_1 = T_2 =$ 3 sec. The two relaxation times will in general be equal for a nonviscous isotropic sample, and 3 sec is a reasonable relaxation time for protons.²⁷ The relaxation times of other nuclei with I = $\frac{1}{2}$, and whose chemical environments are comparable to those of protons are given by:²⁷

$$T_N/T_{H} \doteq (\gamma_{H}/\gamma_{N})^2.$$
 (3.5.12)



Figure 3.5.5. The line width of the proton signal from chloroform as a function of sweep rate.

Thus, ¹³C relaxation times should be about 16 times as large as proton relaxation times. This leads to ¹³C line widths which would be much narrower than the homogeneity of the magnetic field. Fortunately, an inhomogeneous field has approximately the same effect as decreasing the relaxation times.²⁸ We can rationalize this by considering an inhomogeneous field to be a random field with a long correlation time.²⁹ If we calibrate our sweep rates in terms of line shapes (e.g., the number of "wiggles") rather than Hz, the ratio of T_1/T_2 will have only minor effects upon these line shapes. In this sense, the conclusions we reach below will be quite general. The signal-to-noise ratio of an unfiltered spectrum varies considerably with the sweep rate. The nature of this variation depends upon how we change the other parameters of our n.m.r. experiment. We shall assume that we are interested in a given region of the spectrum, from ν_1 to ν_2 . We therefore keep the sweep width constant and vary only the sweep time. We shall also assume that we have a constant amount of total instrument time available, so that the number of scans we record is proportional to the sweep rate. Finally, we assume that we carefully adjust the strength of the rf field for the maximum signal-to-noise ratio at each sweep rate.

Ernst and Anderson²⁵ have determined the theoretical variation of the signal-to-noise level with sweep rate under these conditions (Fig. 3.5.6). For sweep rates above or below the region where saturation varies, the signal-to-noise ratio of an unfiltered spectrum approaches a constant value. If we calibrate the sweep rate as discussed above, this curve shows the same general behavior for any ratio of T_1/T_2 . We shall use this theoretical variation of the input signal-to-noise level since the noise produced during amplification is strongly dependent upon instrument design.

The signal-to-noise ratio of a filtered spectrum is of considerably greater interest. The signal-to-noise improvement from a matched filter is proportional to the square root of the number of data points under the line (Sec. 1.1). The signal-to-noise ratio resulting from the use of a matched filter is therefore approximately:



Figure 3.5.6. The theoretical variation of the input signal-to-noise ratio with the sweep rate.

$$(S/N)_{m} \doteq k_{1}(S/N)_{i} \nu_{i}^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
 (3.5.13)

where k_1 is a constant. Although the "wiggles" will dominate the signal-to-noise ratio at extremely fast sweep rates, they do not make an important contribution at the sweep rates available with our spectrometers. Recalling that the input signal-to-noise ratio approaches a constant value for large sweep rates and using Eq. (3.5.11) for the input line width we find that:

$$(S/N)_{\rm m} \doteq k_2 \alpha^{\frac{1}{4}}.$$
 (3.5.14)

This approximation is valid for moderately large values of α . The general variation with sweep rate of the signal-to-noise ratio resulting from using a matched filter was calculated from Eq. (2.8.5) using Fig. 3.5.6 for the input signal-to-noise ratio (Fig. 3.5.7).

We previously observed that lines with "wiggles" were not broadened by matched filters as much as Lorentzian lines were. This is essentially an artifact caused by our restriction of the definition of



Figure 3.5.7. The signal-to-noise ratio resulting from using a matched filter on the proton signal from CHCl₃.

line width to the first maximum. As we increase the sweep rate and more "wiggles" appear, the "average" width of a "wiggle" decreases relative to the width of the first maximum [Eq. (3.5.9)]. Since a matched filter uses the entire line shape, the line width resulting from use of a matched filter depends upon the "average" line width of the input line shape. The ratio of the width of the first maximum to the line width after using a matched filter therefore decreases with increasing sweep rate (Fig. 3.5.8).



Figure 3.5.8. The ratio of the full width at half height after using a matched filter to the width of the first maximum before filtering for the proton signal from $CHCl_3$ as a function of sweep rate.

The effects of sweep rate on resolution enhancement filters may be determined by considering the filtering process in frequency space. The Fourier transform of the line shape resulting from a resolution enhancement filter is given by:

$$S_{0}(\omega) = \frac{c(q) S_{i}^{*}(\omega) S_{i}(\omega)}{1 + q |S_{i}(\omega)|^{2}},$$
 (3.5.15)

where $S_i(\omega)$ is the Fourier transform of the input line shape. Since filters take simple products in frequency space we can easily break this filter down into a sequence of two filters:

$$\mathbf{S}_{0}(\omega) = \left[\frac{\mathbf{c}(\mathbf{q})/\mathbf{c}(\mathbf{0})}{1+\mathbf{q}\left|\mathbf{S}_{i}(\omega)\right|^{2}}\right] \left[\mathbf{c}(\mathbf{0}) \mathbf{S}_{i}^{*}(\omega)\right] \mathbf{S}_{i}(\omega), \qquad (3.5.16)$$

where the first filter is a matched filter. The Fourier transform of the output line shape is therefore:

$$S_{0}(\omega) = \left\lfloor \frac{c(q)/c(0)}{1+q} \right\rfloor S_{m}(\omega), \qquad (3.5.17)$$

where $S_{m}(\omega)$ is the Fourier transform of the line shape resulting from using a matched filter.

The line shape resulting from a matched filter is always symmetric (see Sec. 3.3) and except for changes in line width shows little variation with sweep rate (Figs. 3.2.11, 3.3.1, and 3.3.3). The frequency response function in Eq. (3.5.17) can also be expressed in terms of $S_{m}(\omega)$. The Fourier transform of the output line shape is then:

$$S_{o}(\omega) = \frac{c(q) S_{m}(\omega)}{c(o) + q S_{m}(\omega)} . \qquad (3.5.18)$$

It is clear that the only effect of sweep rate on resolution enhancement filters is through the line width obtained by using a matched filter. If we plot the signal-to-noise ratio as a function of the line width as in section 3.4, but normalize the line width to that obtained by the use of a matched filter, then the resulting curve shows no observable trend with changes in the sweep rate (Fig. 3.5.9). The asymptotic form of these curves is easily determined by substituting Eq. (3.3.8) for ln qin Eq. (3.4.6). We find:

$$\underset{q \to \infty}{\text{Limit}} \frac{(S/N)_0}{(S/N)_m} \doteqdot 1.8955 \left(\frac{\nu_m}{\nu_0}\right) e^{-1.8955 \nu_m/2 \nu_0}$$
(3.5.19)

which is accurate to within 30% for all q greater than or equal to zero.

The sweep rate has an important effect on resolution enhancement which does not explicitly involve the filtering process. Both the signal-to-noise ratio and the line width of the input signal vary with the sweep rate (Figs. 3.5.5 and 3.5.6). If we plot the signal-to-noise level resulting from use of a matched filter as a function of the line width after using a matched filter, we obtain a curve indicating how the resolution may be enhanced by decreasing the sweep rate. At any sweep rate the resolution may be further enhanced by filtering (Fig. 3.5.9). The possible results of the combination of these two resolution enhancement processes is indicated in Fig. 3.5.10. The curve which is tangent to each of the smaller curves indicates a procedure in which we optimize both the sweep rate and the filter. First, we estimate the line width which will permit observation of a coupling. Then we select the sweep rate (using Fig. 3.5.10) such that a



Figure 3.5.9. The loss in signal-to-noise ratio resulting from resolution enhancement. The solid line was obtained by filtering a Lorentzian. The points shown were obtained by filtering the above CHCl₃ spectra. ν_0 is the output full width at half height and ν_m is the width resulting from using a matched filter.


Figure 3.5.10. Resolution enhancement in which we vary both the sweep rate and the filter. The numbers at the points indicate the sweep rate in Hz. This curve was obtained from the above $CHCl_3$ spectra with the exception of the point $\alpha = 0$, which was obtained from the asymptotic form.

2

resolution enhancement filter can bring us to the tangent curve at the desired line width. After collecting the data we then filter the spectrum using the proper value of q so that we achieve the desired line width. This procedure gives the maximum signal-to-noise for a given line width when linear filters are used for n.m.r. signals.

When we select the sweep rate we must keep in mind that it cannot be so fast that the nuclei will not return to equilibrium for the next scan, nor so slow that we cannot see a peak to "tune" on in a single scan. The latter consideration seriously limits the use of extremely slow sweep rates for ¹³C n.m.r. In this case, it is critical that we can use the correct line shape for resolution enhancement (see Sec. 3.2).

Although Fig. 3.5.10 was obtained from experiments using a specific sample, the basic form of this curve is quite general. The only important variation is in the scale for the sweep rate. This scale can be adjusted by considering the point labeled 0.1 to represent the minimum sweep rate for which the first downward "wiggle" goes below zero.

4. NON-LINEAR FILTERS

These filters are easier to describe than linear filters, but are in general more difficult to apply. The effect of a filter on a single line is given by:

$$\mathbf{s}_{0}(t) = \mathbf{H}[\mathbf{s}_{i}(t)], \qquad (4.1)$$

where $s_i(t)$ is the input line shape and $s_o(t)$ is the output line shape. The effect of this filter on a spectrum composed of two lines is then:

$$\underbrace{H}_{\Omega}[s_{i}(t)_{1} + s_{i}(t)_{2}] = s_{0}(t)_{1} + s_{0}(t)_{2} + \underbrace{H}_{12}[s_{i}(t)_{1}, s_{i}(t)_{2}], \quad (4.2)$$

where \underline{H}_{12} is the non-linear interaction term. This interaction term may be comparable to the linear terms. We therefore must know (or assume) the multiplicity of a spectrum before we can apply nonlinear filters. Although we could filter a spectrum assuming several different multiplicities and afterwards select the best one, linear filters are clearly simpler to apply in this case. In the discussion which follows we shall assume that the number of lines is known.

4.1 The Principle of Maximum Likelihood

A very useful group of filters is obtained by a statistical approach. We seek a basis for deciding that some quantity, x, lies in a certain interval.

$$\mathbf{x}_1 \leq \mathbf{x} \leq \mathbf{x}_2. \tag{4.1.1}$$

This decision is clearly valid only if:

$$P(x_1 \le x \le x_2) > 1/2$$
 (4.1.2)

where P(X) is the probability that X is true. Since this condition does not uniquely define x_1 and x_2 , any method of measuring x must include additional conditions. There is no rigorous approach to defining the best set of additional conditions. A reasonable approach might be to find the smallest interval which satisfies Eq. (4.1.2). This does not appear to be very practical since it does not suggest any method of finding this interval. A very common approach is the principle of maximum likelihood.³⁰ We select x_0 such that $P(x_0 \le x \le x_0 + dx)$ is a maximum. That is, we use the most probable value of x as an estimate of the true value. We then use the limits to which we can determine x_0 for the values of x_1 and x_2 . It is only the interval $({\rm x}_1,\,{\rm x}_2)$ that has any statistical significance. Although ${\rm x}_0$ is the most probable value of x, the interval (x_1, x_2) is not generally the smallest interval satisfying Eq. (4.1.2). There is no justification for assuming that the principle of maximum likelihood is the most powerful approach to measuring x. Later, we shall examine an important example for which it is not the most powerful approach.

If we wish to determine f, we can do an experiment and obtain a value f_i which will differ from f by the error or noise. The probability that the error, f_i -f, lies between f' and f' + df is given by:

$$P(f' \leq f_i - f \leq f' + df) = \phi(f') df, \qquad (4.1.3)$$

where $\phi(f')$ is the <u>probability density function</u>³¹ of the noise. If we measure f a total of N_T times, then the definition of the above probability is:

$$P(f' \leq f_{i} - f \leq f' + df) \equiv \lim_{N_{T} \to \infty} \left\lfloor \frac{N(f' \leq f_{i} - f \leq f' + df)}{N_{T}} \right\rfloor, \quad (4.1.4)$$

where N(X) is the number of measurements that satisfy X. From Eqs. (4.1.3) and (4.1.4) we see that we can measure $\phi(f')$ by using the following approximation:

$$\phi(\mathbf{f}' + \frac{\Delta \mathbf{f}}{2}) \doteq \left\lfloor \frac{\mathbf{N}(\mathbf{f}' \leq \mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{i}} - \mathbf{f} \leq \mathbf{f}' + \Delta \mathbf{f}) \pm \sqrt{\mathbf{N}(\mathbf{f}' \leq \mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{i}} - \mathbf{f} \leq \mathbf{f}' + \Delta \mathbf{f})}}{\mathbf{N}_{\mathrm{T}} \Delta \mathbf{f}} \right\rfloor, \qquad (4.1.5)$$

if we know f. The probability density function of the noise spectrum referred to in section 2.5 is shown in Fig. 4.1.1. The true value of the zero point was assumed to be the average value \overline{n} . The probability density function of this noise is not distinguishable from a Gaussian. This is the probability density function for the noise measured at different times. In a multiple-scan experiment, the value of the signal at any point in the spectrum is the average of measurements made at many different times (the individual scans). The average over this ensemble of scans is therefore in reality a time average. That is, regardless of the nature of the noise in a single scan, the noise in a multiple-scan experiment is effectively ergodic. We can therefore assume that the noise at each data point of an n.m.r. spectrum has a Gaussian probability density function:



Figure 4.1.1. The points are the probability density function of noise from the DFS-60 spectrometer. The curve is a Gaussian.

$$\phi[f_{i}(t) - f(t)] = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi} \sigma} e^{-[f_{i}(t) - f(t)]^{2}/2 \sigma^{2}}, \qquad (4.1.6)$$

where σ is the variance of the noise. The probability density function for the N data points of the spectrum is thus: 32

$$\phi(\underline{f}_{i} - \underline{f}) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{\frac{1}{2}N\sqrt{|C|}}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\underline{f}_{i} - \underline{f})^{t} \underbrace{C^{-1}(\underline{f}_{i} - \underline{f})}_{i}}, \qquad (4.1.7)$$

where \underline{f} is the vector with components $f(t_j)$, $\underline{f_i}$ is the vector with components $f_i(t_j)$ and \underline{f}^t is the transpose of \underline{f} . The <u>covariance matrix</u>,

C, has components:

$$C_{jk} \equiv \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} [f_i(t_j) - f(t_j)] [f_i(t_k) - f(t_k)] \phi(f_i - f_i) df. \qquad (4.1.8)$$

This is an ensemble average. Since the noise is effectively ergodic we can substitute a time average:

$$C_{jk} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} [f_i(t_j) - f(t_j)] [f_i(t_k) - f(t_k)] dt_j, \qquad (4.1.9)$$

or:

$$C_{jk} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} [f_{i}(\tau) - f(\tau)] [f_{i}(t_{k} - t_{j} + \tau) - f(t_{k} - t_{j} + \tau)] d\tau. \qquad (4.1.10)$$

The last expression is simply the autocorrelation function $r(t_k - t_j)$ for the noise (Sec. 2.3). In section 2.5, it was shown that the noise in an unfiltered n.m.r. spectrum is white. The autocorrelation function is therefore a delta function (Sec. 2.3).

We can check this by calculating this integral using the above experimental noise spectrum. The result (Fig. 4.1.2) clearly indicates that the assumption that $r(t_k - t_j)$ is a delta function is quite good. The components of the covariance matrix are simply:

$$C_{jk} = \delta_{jk} \sigma^2,$$
 (4.1.11)

and the determinant, $|\underline{C}|$, is equal to σ^{2N} .



Figure 4.1.2. The autocorrelation function [Eq. (2.3.35)] of noise from the DFS-60 spectrometer.

The total probability of the spectrum is:

$$P = \frac{df}{\sigma^{N} (2\pi)^{\frac{1}{2}N}} e^{-\sum_{j=1}^{N} [f_{i}(t_{j}) - f(t_{j})]^{2}/2\sigma^{2}}, \qquad (4.1.12)$$

which is the product of the probabilities of the individual data points. The data points are therefore independent for white ergodic Gaussian noise. The probability is a maximum when the exponent in Eq. (4.1.12) is a minimum. The principle of maximum likelihood leads to a simple least-squares procedure for white Gaussian ergodic noise. We have shown that the noise in an unfiltered n.m.r. spectrum has these properties. The principle of maximum likelihood therefore gives the form of f which minimizes the function:

$$\Phi = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} [f_i(t_j) - f(t_j)]^2, \qquad (4.1.13)$$

as the most probable form, f_0 , for a multiple-scan n.m.r. spectrum.

The situation is more complicated if the noise is not white. If an RC filter were used, the noise would still be Gaussian³³ and ergodic, but not white. We should then have to minimize the exponent in Eq. (4.1.7). That is, we must find the minimum of the more general function:

$$\Phi = (\mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{i}} - \mathbf{f})^{\mathsf{t}} \mathbf{C}^{-1} (\mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{i}} - \mathbf{f}), \qquad (4.1.14)$$

in order to determine f_0 , the most probable f_0 . We shall limit our discussion to the simpler case of white noise.

4.2 Least-Squares Filters

Let a spectrum be composed of n lines with k_j variable parameters for the line shape of line j, where $j = 1, 2, \dots n$. These parameters may include position, height, width, etc. There are M variable parameters in all, where:

$$M = \sum_{j=1}^{n} k_{j}.$$
 (4.2.1)

Let \underline{b} be a vector of dimension M whose components are the line-shape parameters. Then the spectrum is composed of the sum of the n lines, $f(t, \underline{b})$, and random noise. The function, $f(t, \underline{b})$ may be known either analytically or through a table of numerical values. The most probable value of b is the value which minimizes the function:

$$\Phi = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} [f_i(t) - f(t, b)]^2 dt, \qquad (4.2.2)$$

where $f_i(t)$ is the experimental spectrum. This is in general a nonlinear problem which is ill-conditioned. That is, the b_j are strongly coupled, and the problem is difficult to solve numerically. This approach does have the advantage that there is no systematic error in the result ³⁴ as with linear filters (Sec. 3.3). If the signal-to-noise ratio is sufficiently large, then the observed separation of two lines exactly equals the calculated separation. The values of the peak positions obtained in b are the most probable values. If the number and relative size of the lines is known, then the statistical approach is feasible. We shall use two simple filters to illustrate the above remarks.

We first examine filtering an input spectrum $f_i(t)$ composed of a single line with known line-shape function $s_i(t)$. The only unknown parameters are the position and amplitude of the line. The theoretical spectrum is therefore given by:

$$f(t, b) = a s_i(t - \delta),$$
 (4.2.3)

where $as_i(0)$ is the amplitude and δ is the position of the maximum of f(t). Substituting Eq. (4.2.3) in Eq. (4.2.2) we obtain:

$$\Phi = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} [f_{i}(t) - a s_{i}(t - \delta)]^{2} dt. \qquad (4.2.4)$$

Expansion of the integrand gives:

$$\Phi = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_{i}^{2}(t) dt - 2a \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} s_{i}(t-\delta) f_{i}(t) dt + a^{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} s_{i}^{2}(t) dt. \qquad (4.2.5)$$

The value of a which minimizes Φ satisfies the condition:

$$\frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial a} = 0 = 2a \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} s_i^2(t) dt - 2 \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} s_i(t-\delta) f_i(t) dt, \qquad (4.2.6)$$

so that:

3

$$a_{\min} = \left[\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} s_i^2(t) dt \right]^{-1} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} s_i(t - \delta) f_i(t) dt. \qquad (4.2.7)$$

Substituting this value of a in Eq. (4.1.5) gives:

$$\Phi_{a_{\min}} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_{i}^{2}(t) dt - \left[\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} s_{i}^{2}(t) dt \right]^{-1} \left[\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} s_{i}(t-\delta) f_{i}(t) dt \right]^{2}. \quad (4.2.8)$$

This function is clearly a minimum when the second term is a maximum, but the second term is a maximum when the output from a matched filter [Eq. (1.1.6)] is a maximum. The position of a single line obtained by the method of least-squares is therefore identical to that obtained with a matched filter. The amplitude obtained by the method of least squares is given by:

$$f_{0}(\delta_{0}) = a_{\min} s_{i}(0) = s_{i}(0) \left[\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} s_{i}^{2}(t) dt \right]^{-1} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} s_{i}(t-\delta_{0}) f_{i}(t) dt, \quad (4.2.9)$$

which is precisely the amplitude obtained by using a matched filter. Since Eq. (4.2.9) gives the most probable amplitude of a line with a maximum at δ_0 , for any δ_0 , we have simply given an alternate derivation of Eq. (1.1.6).

If the input spectrum is composed of a single line (or several lines which do not overlap), the non-linear interaction term in Eq. (4.2) vanishes and the method of least-squares is equivalent to using a matched filter.

It is of interest to consider the more general case of filtering a single line when the noise is not white. The principle of maximum likelihood then leads to seeking the minimum of Φ in Eq. (4.1.14).

From Eq. (4.1.10), we see that if the noise is colored, but still Gaussian and ergodic, then we must find the minimum of the function:

$$\Phi = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} [f_1(t_1) - f(t_1)] [f_1(t_2) - f(t_2)] r^{-1}(t_2 - t_1) dt_1 dt_2, \qquad (4.2.10)$$

rather than Eq. (4.2.2). The inverse of the autocorrelation function, r^{-1} , is defined by:

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbf{r}(\tau) \, \mathbf{r}^{-1}(t-\tau) \, d\tau = \delta(t). \qquad (4.2.11)$$

where $\delta(t)$ is the Dirac delta function. Taking the Fourier transform of both sides, we find:

$$R(\omega) R^{-1}(\omega) = 1$$
 (4.2.12)

where we have used Eqs. (2.2.9) and (2.3.33). Substituting Eq. (2.3.39) for $R(\omega)$ we see that:

$$R^{-1}(\omega) = \frac{1}{2\pi W(\omega)}.$$
 (4.2.13)

This suggests that these "generalized least-squares" filters [Eq. (4.2.10)] are described more concisely in frequency space.

We now substitute Eq. (4.2.3) for f(t) in Eq. (4.2.10). By the same arguments used to obtain Eq. (4.2.9), we see that we can determine the most probable value of δ by finding the maximum of the function:

$$f_{0}(\delta) = \frac{s_{i}(0) \int \int f_{i}(t_{1}) s_{i}(t_{2}-\delta) r^{-1}(t_{2}-t_{1}) dt_{1} dt_{2}}{\int \int \int f_{0}(t_{1}) s_{i}(t_{2}) r^{-1}(t_{2}-t_{1}) dt_{1} dt_{2}}.$$
(4.2.14)

Since the denominator is a constant, independent of δ , we can rearrange Eq. (4.2.14) to give:

$$f_{0}(\delta) = c \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} s_{i}(t_{2}-\delta) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_{i}(t_{1}) r^{-1}(t_{2}-t_{1}) dt_{1} dt_{2}. \qquad (4.2.15)$$

We define the intermediate function $f_1(t_2)$ by:

$$f_1(t_2) \equiv \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_1(t_1) r^{-1}(t_2 - t_1) dt_1 dt_2, \qquad (4.2.16)$$

so that:

$$f_{0}(\delta) = c \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_{1}(t_{2}) s_{1}[-(\delta - t_{2})] dt_{2}. \qquad (4.2.17)$$

As suggested by the properties of r^{-1} , we now take Fourier transforms of Eqs. (4.2.16) and (4.2.17) giving:

$$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{0}}(\omega) = \frac{\mathbf{c} \mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{i}}^{*}(\omega)}{2\pi \mathbf{W}(\omega)} \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{i}}(\omega). \qquad (4.2.18)$$

This is the general form of a matched filter [Eq. (2.4.22)]. For Gaussian ergodic noise, the principle of maximum likelihood leads to a "generalized least-squares" procedure. In the case of non-overlapping lines, this procedure is equivalent to a matched filter, regardless of the power spectral density of the noise.

We now examine filtering an input spectrum composed of two closely spaced lines of equal size, such as we find in either half of an AX spectrum. The theoretical spectrum is given by:

$$f(t, b) = a[s_i(t - \delta + J/2) + s_i(t - \delta - J/2)],$$
 (4.2.19)

where δ is the chemical shift and J is the spin-spin coupling constant. The chemical shift can be measured by using a matched filter and so we assume that it is known. The only unknowns are a and J. Substituting this in Eq. (4.2.2) we obtain:

$$\Phi = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_{i}^{2}(t) dt - 2a \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} [s_{i}(t - \delta + J/2) + s_{i}(t - \delta - J/2)] f_{i}(t) dt$$

$$(4.2.20)$$

$$+ a^{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} [s_{i}(t - \delta + J/2) + s_{i}(t - \delta - J/2)]^{2} dt.$$

The last two integrals can be expressed in terms of the convolution integrals for a matched filter:

$$\mathbf{s}_{\mathrm{m}}(t) \equiv \mathbf{c}(0) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbf{s}_{i}(-\tau) \mathbf{s}_{i}(t-\tau) d\tau, \qquad (4.2.21)$$

and:

$$f_{m}(t) \equiv c(0) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} s_{i}(-\tau) f_{i}(t-\tau) d\tau.$$
 (4.2.22)

The function we wish to minimize is then:

$$\Phi = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_{i}^{2}(t) dt - \frac{2a}{c(0)} \left[f_{m}(\delta + J/2) + f_{m}(\delta - J/2) \right] + \frac{2a^{2}}{c^{2}(0)} \left[s_{m}(0) + s_{m}(J) \right]. \qquad (4.2.23)$$

It follows that Φ is a minimum only if:

a = c(0)
$$\frac{f_{m}(\delta + J/2) + f_{m}(\delta - J/2)}{2[s_{m}(0) + s_{m}(J)]}$$
. (4.2.24)

Substituting this value of a in Eq. (4.2.23) we find:

$$\Phi_{a_{min}} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_{i}^{2}(t) dt - \frac{[f_{m}(\delta + J/2) + f_{m}(\delta - J/2)]^{2}}{2[s_{m}(0) + s_{m}(J)]}.$$
 (4.2.25)

The most probable value of J is clearly the one for which the second term on the right is a maximum. We shall call this term $g^2(J)$. The most probable amplitude of lines with chemical shift δ and spin-spin coupling constant J is given by:

$$a_{\min} s_{i}(0) = c(0) s_{i}(0) \frac{f_{m}(\delta + J/2) + f_{m}(\delta - J/2)}{2[s_{m}(0) + s_{m}(J)]}. \quad (4.2.26)$$

This function is not necessarily a maximum when $g^2(J)$ is a maximum. Both $g^2(J)$ and $a(J)_{min}$ were calculated for the spectrum shown in Fig. 3.2.1. The most probable value of a, a_0 , is not the maximum value. It is the value of $a(J)_{min}$ which corresponds to the maximum of $g^2(J)$ (Fig. 4.2.1). Rather than study $g^2(J)$, we shall find it more convenient to determine the maximum of the function:

$$g(J) \equiv \frac{f_{m}(\delta + J/2) + f_{m}(\delta - J/2)}{\sqrt{2} [s_{m}(0) + s_{m}(J)]^{\frac{1}{2}}} . \qquad (4.2.27)$$



Figure 4.2.1. The normalized functions, $g^2(J)$ and $a(J)_{min}$ corresponding to the spectrum shown in Figure 3.2.1.

This function takes an average of $f_m(\delta + J/2)$ and $f_m(\delta - J/2)$. That is, it averages the output of a matched filter about the center $(t = \delta)$. This is because we assumed that $f_i(t)$ should be symmetric about $t = \delta$. If we define the ''non-averaged'' function h(t) as:

h(t) =
$$\sqrt{2} f_{m}(t) \{s_{m}[0] + s_{m}[2(t-\delta)]\}^{-\frac{1}{2}},$$
 (4.2.28)

then:

$$g(J) = \frac{1}{2} [h(\delta + J/2) + h(\delta - J/2)], \qquad (4.2.29)$$

From Eqs. (4.2), (4.2.9), and (4.2.19) we see that the non-linear interaction term is given by:

$$\underset{\sim}{H_{12}[s_{i}(t)_{1}, s_{i}(t)_{2}]} = \frac{\sqrt{2} - \{1 + s_{m}[2(t-\delta)]/s_{m}[0]\}^{\frac{1}{2}}}{\{s_{m}[0] + s_{m}[2(t-\delta)]\}^{\frac{1}{2}}} \{s_{0}(t)_{1} + s_{0}(t)_{2}\}.$$

$$(4.2.30)$$

Least-squares filters are non-linear for the case of overlapping lines. Interaction terms appear in both the position and the amplitude functions. Neither is the sum of two analogous expressions involving the individual lines.

If a closely spaced doublet is processed with a matched filter, the maxima in the output spectrum are too close together (Sec. 3.3). A least-squares filter multiplies the matched filter output by the function:

$$x(t, \delta) = \sqrt{2} \{s_m[0] + s_m[2(t - \delta)]\}^{-\frac{1}{2}},$$
 (4.2.31)

to give a spectrum with the maxima in the most probable positions.

A least-squares filter produces maxima in the most probable positions even if a matched filter gives only one maximum at $t = \delta$. Since $x(t, \delta)$ varies by only a factor of $\sqrt{2}$ between $t = \delta$ and $t = \infty$, the maxima of the output spectrum are not much greater than the output at $t = \delta$ (Fig. 4.2.1). We would not expect the simple expedient of multiplying the matched filter output by $x(t, \delta)$ to be as powerful a technique as using the linear resolution enhancement filters developed earlier. In the next section we shall make a quantitative comparison between the two.

4.3 Comparison of Linear and Non-Linear Filters

We shall examine non-linear filters first. The signal-to-noise ratio of g(J) determines whether or not we can measure J and with what accuracy. From Eq. (4.2.28) we see that the signal-to-noise ratio of g(J) is given by:

$$(S/N)_{g} = \sqrt{2} (S/N)_{m}$$
 (4.3.1)

where $(S/N)_m$ is the signal-to-noise ratio resulting from a matched filter. This signal-to-noise level is a measure of the ratio of $[g(J_0) - g(\infty)]$ to the root-mean-square noise level. This is the signalto-noise level available to distinguish between two lines separated by J_0 and two lines separated by ∞ (or no lines at all). We are interested in the signal-to-noise level available to measure J. That is, we wish to distinguish between two lines separated by J_0 and a single line (J = 0). From Fig. 4.2.1 it is clear that the signal-to-noise level available to measure J is given by:

$$(S/N)_{J} = \frac{g(J_{0}) - g(0)}{g(J_{0})} (S/N)_{g}.$$
 (4.3.2)

The factor of $\sqrt{2}$ in Eq. (4.3.1) arises from the averaging effect discussed in the previous section. In order to make a valid comparison with linear filters we shall omit this factor and consider the function:

$$(S/N)_{J_0} \equiv \frac{g(J_0) - g(0)}{g(J_0)} (S/N)_m.$$
 (4.3.3)

This function has been calculated for both a Lorentzian line shape $(\alpha = 0)$ and for the line shape shown in Fig. 3.1 ($\alpha = 0.2$). The results (Fig. 4.3.1) are almost identical for the two cases, if we normalize the separation, J_0 , to the full width at half height resulting from a matched filter. Just as we previously found for linear filters (Fig. 3.5.9), non-linear resolution enhancement filters give results which are independent of the sweep rate if we normalize to the line width from a matched filter.

We are now ready to examine linear filters. The output of a linear filter is given by:

$$f_{q}(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} h_{q}(\tau) f_{i}(t-\tau) d\tau \qquad (4.3.4)$$



Figure 4.3.1. The signal-to-noise ratio available to measure a spin-spin coupling constant as a function of the coupling, J_0 . The line width resulting from a matched filter is ν_m , and α is the sweep rate in Hz.

where q determines the degree of resolution enhancement (Sec. 3.4). This function has a signal-to-noise ratio which is approximately given by:

$$(S/N)_{q} \stackrel{:}{=} \frac{1}{1 + (\frac{q}{137})^{\frac{1}{2}}} (S/N)_{m},$$
 (4.3.5)

where $(S/N)_m$ is the signal-to-noise ratio resulting from a matched filter. In order to improve our accuracy, we shall determine $(S/N)_q$ numerically (Sec. 2.8), rather than use Eq. (4.3.5). This is the signal-to-noise ratio available to determine whether or not there are any lines in the spectrum. We are interested in the signal-to-noise level available to measure J. It is clear from Fig. 2.1.2 that this is approximately given by:

$$(S/N)_{q,J} \doteq \frac{[s_q(0) + s_q(J)] - 2[s_q(J/2)]}{s_q(0)} (S/N)_q,$$
 (4.3.6)

where $s_q(t)$ is the output line shape of a single line with a maximum at t = 0. This function is independent of the sweep rate, α , since the line shape resulting from resolution enhancement is independent of α (Sec. 3.3). We therefore computed $(S/N)_{q,J}$ only for the case $\alpha = 0$. The results show considerable variation with q (Fig. 4.3.2). The "wiggles" in these curves for large q result from the "wiggles" in the line shape (Fig. 3.3.1).

The signal-to-noise ratio, $(S/N)_q$, decreases with increasing q [Eq. (4.3.5)]. The line width, ν_q , also decreases with increasing q (Fig. 3.5.9). Combining these relations, we obtain the family of curves shown in Fig. 4.3.3. We can use Fig. 4.3.3 to determine the optimum value of q. The signal-to-noise level available to measure J with this optimized process is given by the envelope (the dashed line in Fig. 4.3.3) of the family of curves, $(S/N)_{q.J}$.



Figure 4.3.2. The fraction of the signal-to-noise level available to measure J using linear resolution enhancement filters. The output line width is ν_q .

Finally, we are ready to compare the linear and non-linear filters for the resolution of two identical lines separated by J (Fig. 4.3.4). We have also included the results obtainable with a matched filter. The resolution enhancement of a filter is essentially any improvement over a matched filter.

It seems clear that no filter can resolve two lines separated by J, if the position of a single line cannot be measured to within $\pm J$. We therefore include the signal-to-noise level available to measure



Figure 4.3.3. The signal-to-noise level available to measure J when linear resolution enhancement filters are used.

a peak position of a single line to within ±J in Fig. 4.3.4. This is essentially an upper bound on the resolution which should be possible. Linear resolution enhancement filters come very close to this upper bound in the region of primary interest. They are more powerful than least-squares filters for any reasonable loss in the signal-to-noise ratio.

Least-squares filters perform well under two conditions. The first is the trivial case of large separation between lines.



Figure 4.3.4. The signal-to-noise level available to measure J by various methods.

The least-squares filter is then a matched filter and is identical to the linear resolution enhancement filter. The second case is of practical importance. If we wish to resolve two lines of drastically different size, the "wiggles" in the tail of the line shape from linear filters will interfere (Fig. 3.2.8). A least-squares filter does not suffer from this problem. Resolving lines of drastically different size is considered in the next section.

It is convenient to assign a line width to non-linear filters, in order to discuss the effects of varying sweep rates on these filters. We define the effective line width as follows:

$$\nu_{\text{eff.}_{X}} \equiv \left\{ \left(\frac{J_{X}}{J_{q}} \right) \nu_{q} \right\} \text{const.} (S/N) / (S/N)_{m}, \qquad (4.3.7)$$

where J_x is the minimum separation which can be measured by method x, J_q is the minimum separation which can be measured with linear resolution enhancement filters, and ν_q is the line width resulting from the optimum linear filter. Suppose we have sufficient signalto-noise that we can afford to reduce the signal-to-noise ratio to 0.1 times that available with a matched filter. We can then measure a coupling greater than or equal to $0.25 \nu_m$ with linear resolution enhancement filters. Using least-squares filters we can measure a coupling greater than or equal to $0.55 \nu_m$. The linear resolution enhancement filter has an output line width of approximately 0.17 ν_m when the signal-to-noise ratio is reduced by a factor of 10. The effective line width of the least-squares filter is therefore:

$$\nu_{\rm L.S.} \doteq \left\{ \left(\frac{0.55}{0.25} \right) 0.17 \nu_{\rm m} \right\} ({\rm S/N}) = 0.1 ({\rm S/N})_{\rm m}.$$
 (4.3.8)

We have calculated $\nu_{L.S.}$ for several values of the available signal-to-noise ratio and obtained a curve similar to that previously obtained for linear resolution enhancement filters (Fig. 3.5.9). We then determined the envelope of these curves as the sweep rate is varied, just as we had previously done for linear resolution enhancement filters (Fig. 3.5.10). This envelope (Fig. 4.3.5) gives the



Figure 4.3.5. Resolution enhancement by various methods in which the sweep rate is varied (see Figure 3.5.10).

maximum signal-to-noise level available as a function of the effective line width of a least-squares filter. The upper bound shown in Fig. 4.3.5 was obtained by performing the identical calculations for the upper bound in Fig. 4.3.4.

The time constant of an RC filter can be used as a resolution enhancement parameter analogous to q (Fig. 3.4.1), however the output line width is never less than the input line width. We can therefore obtain a curve similar to that in Fig. 3.5.9 for an RC filter. Although the resulting curve for an RC filter varies with the sweep rate since these filters are not based upon the exact line shape, we can still determine the envelope of these curves as the sweep rate is varied. The result is shown in Fig. 4.3.5.

We have also reproduced the analogous curves for matched filters and for optimum linear resolution enhancement filters in Fig. 4.3.5. We can now compare all the important filters that we have discussed so far. First, we should note that our definition of the effective line width [Eq. (4.3.7)] was somewhat arbitrary and therefore the details of the curves for the upper bound and the leastsquares filters are also somewhat arbitrary. They are qualitatively significant however. Least-squares filters are definitely intermediate between optimum linear resolution enhancement filters and matched filters. We should also keep in mind that we have no reason to believe that the upper bound in Fig. 4.3.5 is the smallest upper bound.

The simple RC filter which is built into most commercially available n.m.r. spectrometers is clearly adequate for all routine work. There are two general circumstances when it should not be used. The first is the obvious case of the resolution of lines separated by less than the "natural line width" $[J < \nu_m (\alpha = 0)/2]$. The "natural line width" is usually determined by the inhomogeneity of the magnetic field (Sec. 3.5). The second case is that of spectra with inherently low signal-to-noise levels, such as natural abundance ¹³C or ¹⁵N spectra. For the sweep rates considered (Fig. 3.5.10), optimum linear resolution enhancement filters give an improvement in the signal-to-noise level of about a factor of 2 over RC filters (Fig. 4.3.5). This represents a reduction of the number of scans which must be recorded by a factor of 4. Optimum linear resolution enhancement filters are the most powerful filters we presently have for dealing with lines of comparable size. We now consider the problem of filtering lines of drastically different size.

5. RESOLUTION OF SATELLITE PEAKS

Let X be a magnetic nucleus (e.g., 13 C) whose natural abundance is small. Let Y be a nucleus which is coupled only to X. If we measure the absorption spectrum of Y, we find a large parent peak at δ_{Y} and two small satellite peaks at approximately $\delta_{Y} \pm J_{XY}/2$. The parent peak results from those molecules which do not contain an X nucleus (e.g., they have a 12 C nucleus with spin 0 rather than a 13 C nucleus with spin 1/2). The satellite peaks arise from the small percentage of molecules which contain X.

If X and Y have similar resonance frequencies, the satellites will not be symmetric about δ_{Y} . We shall therefore adopt the following notation for spin-spin coupling constants: the upfield "shift" shall be labeled J_{\perp} and the downfield "shift" J_{\perp} (Fig. 5.1). That is:

$$J = J_{\perp} - J_{\perp}.$$
 (5.1)

If J is large, the optimum linear filters discussed earlier give the maximum signal-to-noise available to measure J. We shall examine two approaches for resolving satellite peaks when J is small. The first is a least-squares method. The second is a non-linear method which is closely related to linear resolution enhancement filters. The detection of satellite peaks which overlap the parent peak requires extremely accurate knowledge of the line shape of the parent peak. It is not practical to attempt a separate measurement of the line shape with sufficient accuracy (Figs. 3.2.7 and 3.2.8) to detect



Figure 5.1. The definition of J_{-} and J_{+} .

the small satellites. Both approaches we consider therefore determine the line shape from the spectrum of the sample.

5.1 The Least-Squares Approach

The intensity of a satellite peak such as that from ¹³C in natural abundance is of the order of 0.5% of the intensity of the parent peak. To first order we can ignore the satellite and perform a least-squares fit to the parent peak [i.e., we can minimize Φ in Eq. (4.2.2) while omitting the satellite from f(t, b)].

The shape of a resonance signal will depend upon the sweep rate and the relaxation times. The qualitative variation of the line shape with the sweep rate, α , was considered in section 3.5. Jacobsohn and Wangsness³⁵ have calculated the exact line shapes of n.m.r. absorption signals when a small rf field is applied (Fig. 5.1.1). The asymptotic form of these line shapes is identical to the form for adiabatic passage³⁵ ($\alpha = 0$). This form is:

$$\lim_{\Delta \nu \to -\infty} g(\nu) = \frac{|\gamma| H_1 T_2}{1 + (\Delta \nu T_2)^2}, \qquad (5.1.1)$$

where $|\gamma|$ is the absolute value of the gyromagnetic ratio, ν_0 is the resonance frequency, ν is the frequency of the rf field, $\Delta \nu \equiv \nu - \nu_0$,



Figure 5.1.1. Line shapes of n.m.r. absorption signals for varying sweep rates (Jacobsohn and Wangsness ³⁵).

 $2H_1$ is the amplitude of the rf field, and T_2 is the total relaxation time (i.e., T_2 takes into account broadening due to inhomogeneity of the strong magnetic field).

In an actual experiment it is difficult to avoid mixing in a small amount of dispersion mode. In fact, this can be helpful, by reducing the line width. The proper asymptotic form is therefore: 35

$$\lim_{\Delta \nu \to -\infty} g(\nu) = \frac{|\gamma| H_1 T_2}{1 + (\Delta \nu T_2)^2} [1 - d(\Delta \nu T_2)], \qquad (5.1.2)$$

where d determines the amount of dispersion mode. From Fig. 5.1.1 we see that this approximation is fairly good if:

$$\Delta \nu T_2 < -2.$$
 (5.1.3)

We therefore make the approximation:

where a, b, d_b , and ν_0 are determined by least-squares fitting. The value of ν_{max} is chosen so that:

$$.05 \le g(\nu_{\max})/g(\nu)_{\max} \le 0.5.$$
 (5.1.5)

That is, we are able to fit the experimental curve with Eq. (5.1.4) up to the point where it reaches 0.05 to 0.5 of the peak height. The procedure for the least-squares fit is discussed in the next section.

5.2 Least-Squares Fitting with Non-Linear Parameters

We wish to approximate a set of N experimental points $f_i(x_j)$, j = 1, 2, ... N by the function $f(\underline{x}, \underline{b})$. The vector \underline{b} is a set of M parameters we shall vary so as to minimize:

$$\Phi = \sum_{j} |f_{i}(x_{j}) - f(x_{j}, b)|^{2}.$$
 (5.2.1)

A necessary condition for Φ to be a minimum is that:

$$\frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial \mathbf{b}_{k}} = 0; \qquad \mathbf{k} = 1, 2, \dots, \mathbf{M}. \qquad (5.2.2)$$

If the parameters, b, are non-linear, this problem cannot in general be solved directly. The most common approach is the Taylor series method of linear approximation. This is the method currently used by most crystallographers.³⁶ It consists of taking only the linear term in the Taylor series expansion of the function f:

$$f(\underline{x}, \underline{b}_{0} + \underline{\delta}_{T}) = f(\underline{x}, \underline{b}_{0}) + \sum_{k=1}^{M} \frac{\partial f(\underline{x}, \underline{b}_{0})}{\partial b_{k}} \delta_{k}. \qquad (5.2.3)$$

This gives the approximation for Φ :

$$\Phi \doteq \sum_{j=1}^{N} \{f_{i}(x_{j}) - f(x_{j}, \underline{b}_{0}) - \sum_{k=1}^{M} \frac{\partial f(x_{j}, \underline{b}_{0})}{\partial b_{k}} \delta_{k} \}^{2}.$$
 (5.2.4)

The set of conditions, Eq. (5.2.2), then becomes:

$$0 = 2 \sum_{j=1}^{N} \{ f_{i}(x_{j}) - f(x_{j}, b_{0}) - \sum_{k=1}^{M} \frac{\partial f(x_{j}, b_{0})}{\partial b_{k}} \delta_{k} \} \{ - \frac{\partial f(x_{j}, b_{0})}{\partial b_{\ell}} \} ;$$

$$\ell = 1, 2, \dots M.$$
(5.2.5)

Rearranging this, we obtain the set of linear equations:

$$\frac{M}{\sum_{k=1}^{N}\sum_{j=1}^{N}\frac{\partial f(x_{j}, \underline{b}_{0})}{\partial b_{\ell}} \frac{\partial f(x_{j}, \underline{b}_{0})}{\partial b_{k}} \delta_{k} = (5.2.6)$$

$$\frac{\sum_{j=1}^{N} [f_{i}(x_{j}) - f(x_{j}, \underline{b}_{0})] \frac{\partial f(x_{j}, \underline{b}_{0})}{\partial b_{\ell}}; \quad \ell = 1, 2, \dots M.$$

These equations can be written more concisely in the matrix form:

$$\mathbf{A} \, \boldsymbol{\delta}_{\mathbf{T}} = \mathbf{g}, \qquad (5.2.7)$$

where:

$$\mathbf{A}_{\boldsymbol{\ell}\mathbf{k}} \equiv \sum_{\mathbf{j}=1}^{\mathbf{N}} \frac{\partial \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{j}}, \mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{0}})}{\partial \mathbf{b}_{\boldsymbol{\ell}}} \frac{\partial \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{j}}, \mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{0}})}{\partial \mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{k}}}, \qquad (5.2.8)$$

and:

$$\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{k}} \equiv \sum_{j=1}^{\mathbf{N}} \left[\mathbf{f}_{i}(\mathbf{x}_{j}) - \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x}_{j}, \mathbf{b}_{0}) \right] \frac{\partial \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x}_{j}, \mathbf{b}_{0})}{\partial \mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{k}}}.$$
(5.2.9)

The solution of these equations is then:

$$\delta_{\mathrm{T}} = A^{-1} \mathrm{g}. \qquad (5.2.10)$$

After solving for δ_{T} , we then set <u>b</u> equal to $\underline{b}_{0} + \delta_{T}$, and iterate until <u>b</u> converges. This set of equations can in principle be solved by Gaussian elimination; however, in practice we find that for the problem of interest the matrix <u>A</u> is <u>ill-conditioned</u> and the method does not work. This is because the diagonal elements of <u>A</u> are small compared to the off diagonal elements.³⁷

Another common approach is the gradient technique which iteratively moves in the direction of steepest descent on the Φ surface. That is:

$$\delta_{g} \equiv - \begin{pmatrix} \partial \Phi / \partial b_{1} \\ \partial \Phi / \partial b_{2} \\ \vdots \end{pmatrix} \qquad (5.2.11)$$

Substitution of Eq. (5.2.1) for Φ gives:

$$\delta_{\mathbf{k}} = 2 \sum_{j=1}^{N} \left[f_{\mathbf{i}}(\mathbf{x}_{j}) - f(\mathbf{x}_{j}, \mathbf{b}) \right] \left[-\frac{\partial f(\mathbf{x}_{j}, \mathbf{b})}{\partial \mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{k}}} \right].$$
(5.2.12)

Substituting Eq. (4.5.9) for g_k we find:

$$\delta_{\mathbf{k}} = -2 \, \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{k}} \,, \tag{5.2.13}$$

so that:

$$\delta_{g} = -2 g. \qquad (5.2.14)$$
This method suffers from extremely slow convergence near the minimum. The Taylor series method converges rapidly only near the minimum. Ideally, we should use the gradient method first, and switch to the Taylor series method near the minimum. In order to do this we must find a way to get around the ill-conditioning of \underline{A} . The most obvious way to make \underline{A} "better conditioned" is to construct:

$$(\mathbf{A} + \lambda \mathbf{I}) \delta_{\mathbf{0}} = \mathbf{g}, \qquad (5.2.15)$$

and decrease λ as we approach the minimum. Marquardt ³⁸ has shown that: 1) δ_0 minimizes Φ on the "sphere" of radius $||\delta_0||$; 2) $||\delta_0||$ is a continuous decreasing function of λ , such that as $\lambda \to \infty$, $||\delta_0|| \to 0$; 3) let γ be the angle between δ_0 and δ_g . Then γ is a continuous decreasing function of λ such that as $\lambda \to \infty$, $\gamma \to 0$; i.e., δ_0 rotates toward δ_g as $\lambda \to \infty$. Hence, this method is an interpolation between the above methods. Since δ_T is independent of scale, but δ_g is not, we must rescale A and g to be dimensionless. A convenient scale is the root-mean-square value of $[\partial f_0(x_j)/\partial b_k]$. This leads to the definition of the scaled quantities:

$$A_{jk}^{*} = \frac{A_{jk}}{\sqrt{A_{jj}} \sqrt{A_{kk}}},$$
 (5.2.16)

$$g_j^* = g_j / \sqrt{A_{jj}}$$
, (5.2.17)

and:

$$\delta_{j} = \delta_{j}^{*} / \sqrt{A_{jj}},$$
 (5.2.18)

where δ^* for the rth iteration is obtained from the solution of:

$$(\underline{A}^{*(\mathbf{r})} + \lambda^{(\mathbf{r})} \underline{I}) \underbrace{\delta}^{*(\mathbf{r})} = \underline{g}^{*(\mathbf{r})}.$$
(5.2.19)

The only question remaining is the selection of an appropriate value for $\lambda^{(\mathbf{r})}$. It is clear that $\Phi^{(\mathbf{r}+1)}$ must be less than $\Phi^{(\mathbf{r})}$ or the process will not converge. A procedure which has been found to work well is as follows:³⁸

Let
$$q = 10$$

- 1. If $\Phi(\lambda^{(r-1)}/q) \leq \Phi^{(r-1)}$, let $\lambda^{(r)} = \lambda^{(r-1)}/q$.
- 2. If $\Phi(\lambda^{(r-1)}/q) > \Phi^{(r-1)}$, and $\Phi(\lambda^{(r-1)}) \le \Phi^{(r-1)}$, let $\lambda^{(r)} = \lambda^{(r-1)}$.

3. If
$$\Phi(\lambda^{(r-1)}/q) > \Phi^{(r-1)}$$
, and $\Phi(\lambda^{(r-1)}) > \Phi^{(r-1)}$,

increase λ by successive multiplication by q until for some smallest m, $\Phi(\lambda^{(r-1)} q^m) \leq \Phi^{(r-1)}$, let $\lambda^{(r)} = \lambda^{(r-1)} q^m$.

4. If Eq. (4.5.19) is ill-conditioned and cannot be solved, increase λ by successive multiplication by q until for some smallest m, we can solve Eq. (5.2.19), let $\lambda^{(r)} = \lambda^{(r-1)} q^{m}$.

The non-linear least-squares procedure involves the calculation of many thousands of quantities $\partial f(x_j, b)/\partial b_k$. It is essential that these quantities be calculated in a reasonably efficient manner. Let the function, f, be given by:

$$f(x) = y_0 + a \left[\frac{1 - DB(x - x_0)}{1 + b(x - x_0)^2} \right].$$
 (5.2.20)

We then calculate the necessary quantities according to the following algorithm.

Number of Multiplications 1. B2 = b + b2. ADB = a * DB3. DO 12 j = 1, 2, ... N4. XJ = $x(j) - x_0$ 5. BX2 = $1./(1. + B * XJ^2)$ 2 6. $\partial f_j / \partial a = (1. - DB * XJ) * BX2$ 2 7. $f_i = a * (\partial f_i / \partial a) + y_0$ 1 8. $\partial f_i / \partial DB = -a * XJ * BX2$ 2 9. DFF = $(\partial f_j / \partial a) * (\partial f_j / \partial DB)$ 1 10. $\partial f_i / \partial b = XJ * DFF$ 1 11. $\partial f_j / \partial x_0 = ADB * BX2 - B2 * DFF$ 2 12. $\partial f_i / \partial y_0 = 1$. 11

Thus, there are a total of approximately 11N multiplications required to evaluate these quantities. This leads to an efficient and practical program for filtering spectra. The values of the parameters, <u>b</u>, which we obtain have a high degree of uncertainty. This uncertainty results from the ill-conditioning of <u>A</u>, which is caused by the large correlations between the parameters, b. It is irrelevant for our present purposes, since the important point is that the deviations between f_i and f should be small. This condition can be satisfied.

5.3 Filtering the Satellite Peak

After performing the least-squares fit of the parent peak, we are ready to search for the satellite peak. We remove the parent peak by subtracting the Lorentzian we have determined by leastsquares fitting from the experimental spectrum:

$$f_1(t) = f_i(t) - f(t, b),$$
 (5.3.1)

where $f_i(t)$ is the set of data points. The line shape of the satellite peak is significantly distorted, because the fitting procedure attempts to remove the satellite. The least-squares fit and the resulting distorted line shape are shown in Fig. 5.3.1 where the size of the satellite peak is exaggerated for clarity.

This distortion can be eliminated. The approximate position of the satellite can be determined from $f_1(t)$ (Fig. 5.3.1). We then construct:

 $f_{i_1}(t) = f_{i_2}(t) - f_{s_1}(t),$ (5.3.2)

where $f_s(t)$ is the satellite. A new $f_1(t, \underline{b})$ is then determined by least-squares fitting to $f_{i_1}(t)$. We remove the parent peak from $f_i(t)$ again:



Figure 5.3.1. The line shape of the satellite peak is distorted by removing the parent peak.

 $f_2(t) = f_1(t) - f_1(t, \underline{b}),$ (5.3.3)

and obtain a new spectrum of the satellite peak. Additional iterations are possible but not necessary.

If f(t, b) fits the parent peak exactly, then the sum of the squares of the residues, Φ , is given by:

$$\Phi = \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \left[f_s(t) + n_i(t) \right]^2 dt, \qquad (5.3.4)$$

where $f_s(t)$ is the satellite peak and $n_i(t)$ is the input noise. From Fig. 5.3.1 we see that in practice the value of Φ after the first iteration, Φ_1 is somewhat better described by:

$$\Phi_{1} \doteq \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} \left[\pm \frac{1}{2} f_{s}(t) + n_{i}(t) \right]^{2} dt. \qquad (5.3.5)$$

If $f_s(t)$ and $n_i(t)$ are of the same order of magnitude, we can make the further approximation:

$$\Phi_{1} \doteq \frac{1}{4} \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} [f_{s}(t)]^{2} dt + \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} [n_{i}(t)]^{2} dt, \qquad (5.3.6)$$

since the cross terms, $f_s(t) n_i(t)$ and $f_s(t+\tau) n_i(t+\tau)$ tend to cancel when the noise is white. We can express Φ_1 more concisely as:

$$\Phi_1 \doteq \frac{1}{4} E_s + E_n \tag{5.3.7}$$

where E_s and E_n are the energy of the satellite peak and the noise respectively [Eq. (2.3.8)]. If we determine the exact position of the satellite peak from the first iteration, then $f_{i_1}(t)$ in Eq. (5.3.2) will contain only the parent peak and noise. The sum of the squares of the residues would then be given by:

$$\Phi_2 \doteq E_n. \tag{5.3.8}$$

Combining Eqs. (5.3.7) and (5.3.8) we obtain a useful condition for the existence of a satellite at the position we determined from the

first iteration:

$$\Phi_1 - \Phi_2 \doteq 0.25 E_{g}. \tag{5.3.9}$$

The only remaining problem is the determination of the position of the satellite peak in the presence of random noise. The leastsquares position of the satellite peak can be determined by using a matched filter (Sec. 4.2). The parent peak can frequently be used for the line shape function. The examples we shall treat are all in this category. This iterative procedure leads to a least-squares estimate of the satellite and parent peak parameters. We have used what is essentially a perturbation approach.

A very high signal-to-noise spectrum of the proton resonance from chloroform was recorded using a Varian Associates Model A-60 spectrometer (Fig. 5.3.2). The Lorentzian least-squares function [Eq. (5.2.20)] provides a very accurate description of this experimental spectrum in the region of interest. If $f_i(t) \leq 0.5 f_i(\delta)$, then $|f_i(t) - f(t, b)| < 0.0005 f_i(\delta)$. A comparison of Figs. 5.1.1 and 5.3.2 indicates that the parameters, b, are not very good estimates of the parameters in Eq. (5.1.2). In order to determine whether or not the excellent fit we obtain using a Lorentzian is real, we have also performed a least-squares fit of the same data using a Gaussian:

$$f(x) = y_0 + a \left[\frac{1 - DB(x - x_0)}{e^{b(x - x_0)^2}} \right].$$
 (5.3.10)



Figure 5.3.2. The least-squares fit of the proton resonance of $CHCl_3$ ($\alpha = 1.0$) using a Lorentzian line shape function [Eq. (5.2.20)].

The result (Fig. 5.3.3) is clearly unsatisfactory. In the region of interest, $|f_i(t) - f(t, b)|$ can be greater than 0.005 $f_i(\delta)$ which is the amplitude of a ¹³C satellite. The parameters, b, are even less realistic than those obtained using a Lorentzian line shape. The parameter a in Eq. (5.3.10) is approximately 7.5 $f_i(\delta)$. Recalling the correlation of the Lorentzian parameters, we conclude that the asymptotic form [Eq. (5.1.2)] is a valid approximation in the region



Figure 5.3.3. The least-squares fit of the proton resonance of $CHCl_3$ ($\alpha = 1.0$) using a Gaussian line shape function [Eq. (5.3.10)].

of interest although the parameters are not well defined.

In order to determine the resolving power of these filters we have artificially added satellite peaks to the spectrum shown in Fig. 5.3.2. If we set J_ equal to -1.90 Hz, the maximum of $f_1(t)$ falls at -1.95 Hz (Fig. 5.3.4). We then set the maximum of $f_s(t)$ at -1.95 Hz [Eq. (5.3.2)] and calculate $f_{i_1}(t)$. A second least-squares fit gives $f_2(t)$ [Eq. (5.3.3)]. The maximum of $f_2(t)$ falls at -1.90 Hz and the



Figure 5.3.4. The functions $f_1(t)$ (top) and $f_2(t)$ (bottom) [Eqs. (5.3.1) and (5.3.3)] resulting from the above CHCl₃ spectrum. A matched filter has been used and the scale is such that $f_1(\delta) = 100$. The error bars represent one standard deviation (Sec. 6).

amplitude is within a few per cent of the correct value for the satellite. The condition in Eq. (5.3.9) is approximately satisfied (Fig. 5.3.4) and we have successfully resolved our artificial ¹³C satellite. By varying where we place this artificial satellite, we find that this filter can resolve a ¹³C satellite if the spin-spin coupling is

greater than about four times the line width of the parent peak.

When using this filter, there is some danger reporting a satellite which is not real. In order to assess this danger we have studied the above chloroform spectrum with no satellite added. The initial filtered spectrum, $f_1(t)$ shows nothing remotely resembling a satellite (Fig. 5.3.5). If however, we assume the existence of a ¹³C satellite with J₂ equal to -1.95 Hz, we obtain something strongly resembling a satellite peak at approximately -1.80 Hz in $f_2(t)$ (Fig. 5.3.5). The sum of the squares of the residues has increased



Figure 5.3.5. The functions $f_1(t)$ and $f_2(t)$ [Eqs. (5.3.1) and (5.3.3)] in the absence of a satellite peak. Note that $f_1(t)$ (top) is almost entirely within one standard deviation from zero.

however, and we therefore conclude that there is no satellite peak at -1.80 Hz in $f_i(t)$. The second output spectrum, $f_2(t)$, is useful only for the refinement of our estimate of the exact value of J_{\pm} . From Fig. 5.3.4 we see that the signal-to-noise level available to measure a small coupling constant when this least-squares filter can be used is approximately half that available with a matched filter for an infinitely large coupling.

A ¹³C spin-spin coupling constant greater than four line widths can be measured using this least-squares filter based upon the asymptotic form of the line shape. The loss in signal-to-noise from resolution enhancement is rather modest. Since the 'wiggles'' in the line shape obscure the satellite at high frequency, we must measure J_+ separately by sweeping from high frequency to low frequency. Although this doubles the work we must do, it does provide an important check on the results.

5.4 The Pseudo-Linear Approach

We shall now consider a class of filters which are conceptually derived from linear resolution enhancement filters, but are actually non-linear. A linear filter requires an independent measurement of the line shape. Since this is not practical for the resolution of satellite peaks, we shall derive some <u>pseudo-linear filters</u> which determine the line shape from the spectrum itself.

Consider a spectrum composed of n lines, all of which have the same line shape. If there is no noise, the spectrum is given by:

$$f_{i}(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{j} s_{i}(t - \delta_{j}), \qquad (5.4.1)$$

where δ_j and $a_j s_i(0)$ are the position and amplitude of the jth line. The Fourier transform of the spectrum is then:

$$\mathbf{F}_{i}(\omega) = \mathbf{S}_{i}(\omega) \sum_{j=1}^{N} a_{j} e^{-i\omega \delta_{j}}.$$
 (5.4.2)

If a_k is much greater than all the other a_j we can make the approximation:

$$S_{i}(\omega) \doteq S_{f}(\omega) \equiv F_{i}(\omega) \frac{e^{i\omega \delta_{k}}}{a_{k}},$$
 (5.4.3)

for the Fourier transform of the line shape. The output of a matched filter is given by:

$$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{m}}(\omega) = \mathbf{c}(0) \mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{i}}^{*}(\omega) \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{i}}(\omega). \qquad (5.4.4)$$

This suggests the construction of the self-filter:

$$\mathbf{F}_{0}(\omega) = \mathbf{c}(0) \mathbf{F}_{i}^{*}(\omega) \frac{e^{-i\omega \,\delta_{\mathbf{k}}}}{a_{\mathbf{k}}} \mathbf{F}_{i}(\omega). \qquad (5.4.5)$$

Substituting Eq. (5.4.2) for $F_i(\omega)$, we find that:

$$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{0}}(\omega) = \mathbf{c}(0) \mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{i}}^{*}(\omega) \mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{i}}(\omega) \xrightarrow{\mathbf{n}}_{\mathbf{j}=1}^{\mathbf{n}} \sum_{\ell=1}^{\mathbf{n}} \frac{\mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{j}} \mathbf{a}_{\ell}}{\mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{k}}} e^{\mathbf{i}\omega(\delta_{\mathbf{j}} - \delta_{\mathbf{k}} - \delta_{\ell})}.$$
(5.4.6)

Taking the Fourier transform gives:

$$f_{0}(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{\ell=1}^{n} \frac{a_{j} a_{\ell}}{a_{k}} s_{m}(t - \delta_{k} + \delta_{j} - \delta_{\ell}), \qquad (5.4.7)$$

where $s_m(t)$ is the line shape resulting from a matched filter. If a_k is indeed much greater than all the other a_j , then $a_j a_{\ell}/a_k$ will be very small unless j or ℓ or both are equal to k. The output of a self-filter is therefore approximately:

$$f_{0}(t) \doteq \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{j} [s_{m}(t-\delta_{j}) + s_{m}(t+\delta_{j}-2\delta_{k})] - a_{k} s_{m}(t-\delta_{k}). \quad (5.4.8)$$

The output spectrum is symmetric about $t = \delta_k$. For each line in the input spectrum at $t = \delta_j$ there is a line in the output spectrum at both $t = \delta_j$ and at $t = \delta_k + (\delta_k - \delta_j)$. These two lines are located symmetrically with respect to δ_k .

The simplest case of a self filter is that of a spectrum containing only one line and no noise. The output spectrum [Eq. (5.4.7)] is then:

$$f_0(t) = a_1 s_m(t - \delta_1),$$
 (5.4.9)

which is the output from a matched filter. If the input spectrum contains two lines, the output spectrum becomes:

$$f_{0}(t) = \left[a_{1} + \frac{a_{2}^{2}}{a_{1}} \right] s_{m}(t - \delta_{1}) + a_{2} s_{m}(t - \delta_{2}) + a_{2} s_{m}[t - \delta_{1} - (\delta_{1} - \delta_{2})], \qquad (5.4.10)$$

where $a_i s_i(t - \delta_i)$ is the larger of the two input lines. From Eq. (4.2) we see that the non-linear interaction term is given by:

$$H_{12}[s_{1}(t)_{1}, s_{1}(t)_{2}] = (\frac{a_{2}}{a_{1}})^{2} s_{0}(t)_{1} + s_{0}[t - 2(\delta_{1} - \delta_{2})]_{2}.$$
(5.4.11)

The self-filter is not a linear filter. The first term in Eq. (5.4.11) may be neglected when filtering satellite peaks, however, the second term is quite important. If J_{+} and J_{-} are unequal, the output spectrum will have four satellite peaks located at $\delta + J_{+}$, $\delta - J_{+}$, $\delta + J_{-}$, and $\delta - J_{-}$. If J_{+} and J_{-} are equal, the output spectrum will have two satellite peaks located at $\delta + J/2$ and $\delta - J/2$, and the output amplitudes of the satellites will be twice the input amplitudes. If J_{+} and J_{-} are unequal we lose all information about which is larger. Although the sign of δ_{xy} is lost, we can still measure the magnitude $|\delta_{xy}|$.

These self-matched filters are interesting, but not at all useful. If J is large we can select the portion of the spectrum which contains only the parent peak. Using this as the line shape we can construct a matched filter for the satellites. This procedure permits the determination of the sign of δ_{xy} , which can be valuable for the analysis of ¹³C spectra. If J is small, J₊ and J₋ will be nearly equal, and the fact that we cannot determine which is larger with a self-filter becomes unimportant. Unfortunately, a self-matched filter cannot resolve the satellite peaks when J is small. We therefore examine a self-resolution enhancement filter, which has the frequency response function:

$$H(\omega) = \frac{c(q) S_{f}^{*}(\omega)}{1 + q |S_{f}(\omega)|^{2}} , \qquad (5.4.12)$$

where $S_f(\omega)$ is defined by Eq. (5.4.3). We cannot use a very large value of q, because:

$$\underset{q \to \infty}{\text{Limit}} F_{0}(\omega) = \underset{q \to \infty}{\text{Limit}} H(\omega) F_{i}(\omega), \qquad (5.4.13)$$

or, from Eqs. (5.4.12) and (5.4.3):

$$\lim_{q \to \infty} \mathbf{F}_{0}(\omega) = \frac{\mathbf{c}(q) \mathbf{S}_{f}^{*}(\omega) \mathbf{F}_{i}(\omega)}{q |\mathbf{S}_{f}(\omega)|^{2}} = \frac{\mathbf{c}(q)}{q} \mathbf{a}_{k} e^{-i\omega \delta_{k}}.$$
 (5.4.14)

That is, for large q, $f_0(t)$ approaches a Dirac delta function of amplitude a_k , centered at $t = \delta_k$. The satellite peaks have been removed. If we use modest values of q (<~15), the satellites will still be present, but with decreased amplitudes.

Two ¹³C satellite peaks were added to the chloroform spectrum discussed in the previous section $(J_{+} = J_{-} = 1.90 \text{ Hz})$. The spectrum was then filtered using a self-resolution enhancement filter [Eq. (5.4.12)] in which the value of q was varied to obtain the minimum interference from the parent peak. The resulting spectrum shows

easily visible peaks in the positions of the satellites (Fig. 5.4.1). The satellites are nicely resolved and their intensity is still more than 25% of the intensity of satellite peaks filtered with a selfmatched filter. Unfortunately, the "wiggles" in the tail of the parent peak also look like satellite peaks. A chloroform spectrum with no satellites added has been filtered in the same manner (Fig. 5.4.2).



Figure 5.4.1. Self-resolution enhancement spectrum [Eq. (5.4.12)] with q = 12. The peaks at 1.4 Hz and 5.2 Hz are ¹³C satellites. The amplitude of the parent peaks is reduced by a factor of 100.



Figure 5.4.2. Self-resolution enhancement in the absence of satellites (see Fig. 5.4.1).

Comparing the two makes it clear that our interpretation of Fig. 5.4.1 was correct. In practice, we will not have Fig. 5.4.2 available for comparison and we will not know J in advance. The "wiggles" in the tail of the output line shape destroy the usefulness of these filters.

The "wiggles" in the tail of an output line shape are easily understood by considering the limiting form [Eq. (5.4.14)]. Taking the Fourier transform of this equation gives:

$$\underset{q \to \infty}{\text{Limit}} f_{0}(t) = a_{k} \underset{q \to \infty}{\text{Limit}} \left\{ \frac{\sin[(t - \delta_{k})\omega]}{\pi(t - \delta_{k})} \right\}, \qquad (5.4.15)$$

which is the well known oscillatory form of the Dirac delta function. In order to remove the "wiggles" we must convert the output line shape to some non-oscillating form. We can convert an arbitrary input line shape to any output line shape by setting:

$$H(\omega) = c S_0(\omega)/S_1(\omega), \qquad (5.4.16)$$

if $S_0(\omega)$ exists and $S_i(\omega)$ is never zero. Ernst ³⁹ points out that such filters exist for the conversion of a Lorentzian line to a Gaussian line of reduced line width. This Lorentzian to Gaussian filter has the frequency response function:

$$H(\omega) = \frac{e^{-\frac{b^2}{4\ln 2} (\frac{\nu_0}{\nu_1})^2 \omega^2}}{e^{-b|\omega|}}, \qquad (5.4.17)$$

where b describes the line width of the Lorentzian input line shape. The line shape of a typical n.m.r. signal is not Lorentzian and the filter which converts it to a Gaussian:

$$H(\omega) = \frac{e^{-\frac{b^2}{4 \ln 2} (\frac{\nu_0}{\nu_i})^2 \omega^2}}{S_i(\omega)}, \qquad (5.4.18)$$

does not necessarily exist. Even if it does exist, the self-filter:

$$H(\omega) = \frac{e^{-\frac{b^2}{4\ln 2}(\frac{\nu_0}{\nu_1})^2 \omega^2}}{S_f(\omega)}, \qquad (5.4.19)$$

leads to a single output peak centered at $t = \delta_k$. The Gaussian modification of Eq. (5.4.12) is given by:

$$H(\omega) = \frac{c(q) e^{-\frac{b^2}{4 \ln 2} (\frac{\nu_0}{\nu_i})^2 \omega^2} S_f^*(\omega)}{1 + q |S_f(\omega)|^2}.$$
 (5.4.20)

This frequency response function will exist for any value of q, and if q is not too terribly large, it will not remove the satellite peaks. As q approaches infinity, the output line shape from this filter will approach a Gaussian of line width ν_0 .

The parameters ν_i , ν_0 , and b must now be determined. We can consider these Gaussian self-filters to be a sequence of two filters. The first is a matched filter and the second has the form of Eq. (5.4.18) with the denominator equal to $S_m(\omega)$. We therefore set ν_i in Eq. (5.4.20) equal to ν_m , the line width resulting from a matched filter. From Figs. 5.4.1 and 5.4.2, we see that our problem is not to narrow the output line shape, but only to remove the "wiggles". Since a reduction of the output line width would reduce the signal-to-noise ratio, we set ν_0 equal to the output line width we would have if b = 0. This will be a function of q. A sufficiently accurate empirical estimate of this dependence is given by:

$$\left(\frac{\nu_{\mathbf{q}}}{\nu_{\mathbf{m}}}\right) \stackrel{:}{=} \frac{1}{1+0.53 \, \ln(\mathbf{q}+1)} \tag{5.4.21}$$

which is independent of the sweep rate (see Sec. 3.3).

We shall now estimate the proper value of b. The quantity $|S_{f}(\omega)|^{2}$ in Eq. (5.4.20) has the line shape which results from a matched filter. Since $s_{m}(t)$ looks very much like a Lorentzian function regardless of the sweep rate (Fig. 3.3.1), one could make the approximation:

$$\left|\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{f}}(\omega)\right|^{2} \stackrel{\sim}{\Rightarrow} \mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{f}} \stackrel{-\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{f}}(\omega)}{=}, \qquad (5.4.22)$$

where a_f and b_f may be determined by a least-squares procedure. Substituting our estimates of the parameters ν_i , ν_o , and b in Eq. (5.4.20) we obtain:

$$H(\omega) = \frac{c(q) e^{-\left[0.36 b_{f}^{2} \frac{\omega^{2}}{1+0.53 \ln(q+1)}\right] S_{f}^{*}(\omega)}}{1+q \left|S_{f}(\omega)\right|^{2}}$$
(5.4.23)

for the frequency response function of a Gaussian self-filter.

This Gaussian self-filter has been applied to the above chloroform spectrum with satellites. In order to check our estimates of the parameters in $H(\omega)$, we varied the output line width, ν_0 . As we predicted above, the optimum value of ν_0 is approximately ν_q (Fig. 5.4.3). That is, ν_q is the minimum output line width which will eliminate the "wiggles". The signal-to-noise ratio of the spectrum without "wiggles" in Fig. 5.4.3 (q = 12) is 96% of that resulting from a self-matched filter, however, the size of the satellite peaks has been reduced by a factor of four. This difficulty is easily avoided by using the approximation given by Eq. (5.4.22) for the denominator



Figure 5.4.3. Resolution enhancement of the chloroform spectrum (Fig. 5.3.2) with satellites added at $J_{\pm} = \pm 1.90$ Hz. The Gaussian self-resolution enhancement filter [Eq. (5.4.20)] gives the best results when ν_0 is approximately equal to ν_q [Eq. (5.4.23)].

of Eq. (5.4.23). The frequency response function of this filter is given by:

$$H(\omega) = \frac{c(q) e^{-\left[\frac{0.36 b_{f}^{2} \omega^{2}}{1+.53 \ln (q+1)}\right]}}{1 + q a_{f} e^{-b_{f} |\omega|}} S_{f}^{*}(\omega)}$$
(5.4.24)

where a_f and b_f are determined by a least-squares procedure (Sec. 5.2.). The above chloroform spectrum with satellites has been filtered using this frequency response function (Fig. 5.4.4).



Figure 5.4.4. Resolution of the chloroform spectrum using Eq. (5.4.24).

The amplitude of the satellite peaks is independent of q. We now have a very useful pseudo-linear resolution enhancement filter for satellite peaks.

The exponential approximation [Eq. (5.4.22)] is valid for large ω only if all "wiggles" in the input line shape are included in the spectrum. Therefore, these filters should not be used with large values of q for a spectrum such as that shown in Fig. 5.3.2. If all "wiggles" are included in the spectrum, we can achieve substantial resolution enhancement (Fig. 5.4.5). In this case, large values of q simply reduce the signal-to-noise ratio. They do not introduce any fluctuations which have the appearance of a satellite.

In practice, it is difficult to obtain a spectrum of the quality of Fig. 5.4.5 when studying (¹³C, ¹³C) coupling constants with natural abundance samples. Several hundred scans are necessary in order to achieve an adequate signal-to-noise ratio. With presently available spectrometers, this introduces a broadening due to the drift of the field (Fig. 5.4.6). When large values of q are used in Eq. (5.4.24), these spectra tend to produce minima adjacent to the parent peak (Fig. 5.4.7). Although this limits the resolution which is possible, there is no problem of producing spurious "satellite" peaks. When the input line shape is determined primarily by field drift, the exponential approximation [Eq. (5.4.22)] breaks down for large ω . The slow drift of the field limits the resolution, however, we can still obtain very useful spectra when small values of q are used (Fig. 5.4.8).



Figure 5.4.5. The proton resonance of $CHCl_3$ ($\alpha = 2.5$) with satellites added ($J_+ = 4.75$ Hz, $J_- = -3.29$ Hz). The frequencies are scaled by a factor of 10. Note that the upfield satellite is easily resolved even though it is completely buried in the "wiggles" before filtering.



Figure 5.4.6. The natural abundance ¹³C spectrum of carbons two and three from cyclopropyl chloride (925 scans), courtesy of F. J. Weigert.



Figure 5.4.7. The resolution enhancement of the spectrum in Fig. 5.4.6. using Eq. (5.4.24) for the filter $(q = 10^{14})$.



Figure 5.4.8. The resolution enhancement of the spectrum in Fig. 5.4.6 using Eq. (5.4.24) for the filter (q = 1.4). The observed value of J (14.0±0.1 Hz) compares favorably with the value (13.9±0.2 Hz) obtained after 2, 600 scans without resolution enhancement.

In principle we could measure an arbitrarily small spin-spin coupling constant using the pseudo-linear filter given in Eq. (5.4.24). Unfortunately, the signal-to-noise level available to measure J falls off extremely rapidly for couplings smaller than about twice the full width at half height resulting from a matched filter (Fig. 5.4.9). This is about the limit of the region which is accessible with leastsquares filters (Sec. 5.3).

The asymptotic behavior of these pseudo-linear filters can be determined by the techniques used in section 3.4 for linear filters. We find that:

$$\lim_{q \to \infty} \frac{(S/N)_{0}}{(S/N)_{m}} = \left(\frac{\pi \, \ell_{n} \, 2}{2}\right)^{1/4} \left(\frac{\nu_{m}}{\nu_{0}}\right)^{1/2} e^{-\left(\frac{\ell_{n} \, 2}{4}\right) \left(\frac{\nu_{m}}{\nu_{0}}\right)^{2}}.$$
 (5.4.25)

The signal-to-noise level falls off much more rapidly than it does with optimum linear resolution enhancement filters [Eq. (3.5.19)].⁴⁰

The point at which the signal-to-noise level begins to fall off is roughly the same as the point at which "wiggles" begin to appear in the tail of the output line shape. These "wiggles" are not important



Figure 5.4.9. The signal-to-noise level available to measure the position of a 13 C satellite using the pseudo-linear filter given in Eq. (5.4.24).

when filtering lines of comparable magnitude since the amplitude of the largest "wiggle" is always less than 12.8% of the amplitude of the peak [Eq. (5.4.15)]. We cannot afford to sacrifice much signal-tonoise when filtering satellite spectra. The importance of removing these "wiggles" by transforming to a Gaussian output function is therefore somewhat questionable, since in practice we can achieve approximately the same resolution without this transformation.

If the spin-spin coupling of the satellite peak is greater than eight times the natural line width $[\nu_{\rm m}(\alpha=0)/2]$, we can increase the signal-to-noise level by increasing the sweep rate. The maximum signal-to-noise ratio is achieved when $\nu_{\rm m}$ is approximately 4J. These filters permit the practical measurement of spin-spin coupling constants as small as 0.5 Hz for both (¹³C, H) and (¹³C, ¹³C) using natural abundance samples.

5.5 Spectral Analysis Using Satellites

Pseudo-linear and least-squares filters are complementary rather than competitive procedures. Pseudo-linear filters can be used to measure both J_+ and J_- , however they cannot distinguish between the two. Least-squares filters can be used to measure J_- (or J_+ if we sweep downfield). By using both pseudo-linear and least-squares filters one can obtain separate measurements of J_+ and J_- from a single spectrum. If J is large, this can be accomplished by using a linear filter (Sec. 5.4). The knowledge of J_+ and J_- can be valuable for the analysis of spectra. Natural abundance ¹³C spectra are much simpler than equivalent proton spectra. If the protons are decoupled, the ¹³C spectrum consists of single lines centered at the resonance frequencies of the various carbons. The chemical shifts can be measured directly, however the assignments of these shifts is not necessarily trivial. ⁴¹

Let us assume that the chemical shift of carbon A is known. It is then possible to assign carbon B based upon the measured values of J_{+} and J_{-} for the (A, B) coupling. The energy levels for an AB system ⁴² are shown in Table 5.5.1. Using these values we find that

1949 Y		TABLE 5.5.1 End	ergy Levels for an AB System
	State	Transitions	Energy
	1	A	+ J/4 + ($\gamma H_0/2$) (2 - $\sigma_A - \sigma_B$)
	2		- J/4 - (1/2) $\sqrt{J^2 + \gamma^2 H_0^2 (\sigma_A - \sigma_B)^2}$
	3		- J/4 + (1/2) $\sqrt{J^2 + \gamma^2 H_0^2 (\sigma_A - \sigma_B)^2}$
ас.	4	B1	+ J/4 - (γ H ₀ /2) (2 - σ _A - σ _B)

the transition energies are given by:

$$\Delta \mathbf{E}_{A_{1}} = -J/2 - \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{J^{2} + \boldsymbol{\gamma} H_{0}^{2} (\sigma_{A} - \sigma_{B})^{2}} + (\boldsymbol{\gamma} H_{0}/2)(2 - \sigma_{A} - \sigma_{B});$$
(5.5.1)

$$\Delta E_{A_2} = +J/2 - \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{J^2 + \gamma H_0^2 (\sigma_A - \sigma_B)^2} + (\gamma H_0/2)(2 - \sigma_A - \sigma_B)$$
(5.5.2)

we now define:

$$X^{2} \equiv J^{2}/\gamma^{2}H_{0}^{2}(\sigma_{A} - \sigma_{B})^{2}, \qquad (5.5.3)$$

and assume that $X^2 \ll 1$. The transition energy is then:

$$\Delta E_{A_1} = -J/2 - (\gamma H_0/2)(\sigma_A - \sigma_B)^{\sqrt{1 + X^2}} + (\gamma H_0/2)(2 - \sigma_A - \sigma_B).$$
(5.5.4)

We can expand the square root in a Taylor's series:

$$\sqrt{1+X^2} \doteq 1 + \frac{1}{2}X^2 - \frac{1}{8}X^4 + \cdots$$
 (5.5.5)

Substituting this in Eq. (5.5.4) gives:

$$\Delta E_{A_1} \doteq -J/2 + \gamma H_0 (1 - \sigma_A) - (\gamma H_0/2)(\sigma_A - \sigma_B)(\frac{1}{2}X^2 - \frac{1}{8}X^4). \quad (5.5.6)$$

Using the definitions of J_ and $\delta_{\mbox{AB}}$ this becomes:

$$J_{-} \doteq -J/2 - \frac{1}{4} \left[(J^{2}/\delta_{AB}) - \frac{1}{4} (J^{4}/\delta_{AB}^{3}) \right].$$
 (5.5.7)

Treating Eq. (5.5.2) similarly, we find:

$$J_{+} \doteq +J/2 - \frac{1}{4} \left[(J^{2}/\delta_{AB}) - \frac{1}{4} (J^{4}/\delta_{AB}^{3}) \right].$$
 (5.5.8)

Therefore:

$$J_{+} + J_{-} \doteq \frac{1}{2} \left[(J^{2} / \delta_{AB}) - \frac{1}{4} (J^{4} / \delta_{AB}^{3}) \right].$$
 (5.5.9)

Finally, we rearrange this expression and obtain:

$$\delta_{AB} \doteq -\frac{J^2}{2(J_+ + J_-)} \left[1 - \frac{J^2}{4\delta_{AB}^2} \right]$$
 (5.5.10)

This relationship can be quite useful in the assignment of the resonance line of a carbon which is directly bonded to another carbon whose chemical shift is known. When A and B are directly bonded, J_{AB} and $(J_{+} + J_{-})$ are both large and can therefore be measured with reasonable accuracy.

6 ERROR ESTIMATES

The techniques discussed in this thesis all involve the measurement of line positions. It is obviously desirable to have realistic estimates of the errors in these measurements. If we consider the derivation of a matched filter given in Section 1.1, a suitable method immediately suggests itself.

The output spectrum $f_0(t)$ is the weighted average of the values:

$$f_0(t, \tau) = f_i(t - \tau) s_i(0)/s_i(-\tau).$$
 (6.1)

We can therefore calculate the standard deviation of $f_0(t)$. This serves several very useful purposes. The points of the "base line" should all be within about one standard deviation of a straight line. If a point rises two standard deviations above the base line, the probability is 0.954 that it is a peak (the filtered noise is Gaussian, since each filtered point is a linear combination of points with Gaussian distributions ³³). If a point rises three standard deviations above the base line, the probability is 0.997 that it is a peak.

The standard deviations also provide a method of estimating the error in a measurement of a peak position. Let f(t) be the "true" value of $f_0(t)$. The upper and lower ends of the error bars (which indicate one standard deviation) constitute an envelope around $f_0(t)$. We shall call the upper curve $f_0^+(t)$ and the lower curve $f_0^-(t)$. The probability that any point of f(t) lies within these curves is 0.683. Therefore, 68.3% of f(t) lies within this envelope. This is true

whether we consider $f(T_1)$ in Fig. 6.2 to be above $f_0(T_1)$ or to the left of $f_0(T_2)$. Therefore, the interval of t with a probability of 0.683 that f(t) takes on a particular value is the horizontal distance to $f_0^+(t)$ or $f_0^-(t)$. Let t_1 and t_2 (Fig. 6.1) be chosen such that:

$$f_0^+(t_j) = f_0(t)_{max}$$
 (6.2)

These points will then satisfy:

$$P(t_1 < \delta < t_2) = .683,$$
 (6.3)

where δ is the position of the peak. We therefore estimate the error in the peak position to be $\pm(t_2-t_1)/2$.



Figure 6.1. The standard deviations of $f_0(t)$.



Figure 6.2. The standard deviations of t.

It can be shown that a maximum-likelihood estimate is normally distributed.⁴³ A peak position obtained with a matched filter is therefore normally distributed with standard deviation $(t_2 - t_1)/2$. Peak positions which are measured with resolution enhancement filters are not necessarily normally distributed, however the output from any linear filter will satisfy Eq. (6.3). Since an RC filter is linear, this provides a convenient error estimate for routine work.

7. APPLICATIONS

The filtering techniques discussed in this thesis are useful for improving the signal-to-noise ratio and the resolution of any spectrum where one or both present a problem. Although Fourier transform spectroscopy promises to provide additional sensitivity enhancement,⁴⁴ this new technique is not in competition with linear filtering. On the contrary, Fourier transform spectroscopy will make linear filters even easier to apply. One must simply multiply the spectrum by the frequency response function of the filter before taking the Fourier transform.

A set of instructions for the filtering program is included as Appendix A and a complete FORTRAN listing as Appendix B. We shall briefly discuss some experiments which were done with the intention of using this program, since they illustrate the kind of results one can expect.

7.1 Signal-to-Noise Enhancement

Dr. Robert L. Lichter has found the filtering program developed in this thesis useful for natural-abundance ¹⁵N studies of substituted hydrazines. Although the double section RC filter built into the spectrometer gives near optimum results, the extreme signal-tonoise problem inherent in natural-abundance ¹⁵N work justifies the use of a matched filter. The resonance from nitrogen-2 of 1, 1dimethyl hydrazine can be observed only after 1300 scans (Fig. 7.1.1).
The error bars constitute a valuable indication of the statistical significance of the peak. In general it would be desirable to obtain a better signal-to-noise ratio for the line shape than that shown in Fig. 7.1.1, however, the above spectra are quite acceptable.



Figure 7.1.1. Natural-abundance ¹⁵N spectrum showing the resonance from nitrogen-2 of 1, 1-dimethyl hydrazine, courtesy of Robert L. Lichter. Trace A is the experimental spectrum, B is the line shape (¹⁵N enriched nitric acid), and C is the filtered spectrum.

7.2 Resolution Enhancement

Dr. Robert L. Lichter has measured the directly bonded $({}^{15}N, {}^{13}C)$ spin-spin coupling in pyridine. Using a 98.9% ${}^{15}N$ labeled sample, he found the proton-decoupled ${}^{13}C$ spectrum of carbon-1 to be a singlet when the sweep rate was 1.0 Hz/sec (Fig. 7.2.1). Using a line shape from the cyclopentane solvent (Fig. 7.2.2), he was able to resolve this singlet into a doublet with a linear resolution enhancement filter (Fig. 7.2.3). The observed coupling was 0.45 ± 0.1 Hz. He then recorded the spectrum with a sweep rate of 0.1 Hz/sec and directly observed a coupling of 0.42 ± 0.05 Hz (Fig. 7.2.4).

In the above example we could verify the coupling measured with resolution enhancement by direct observation. If the coupling were smaller than the natural line width (or inhomogeneity in the magnetic field), direct observation would not be possible. However, it might still be possible to measure such a coupling using linear resolution enhancement filters. The spectra shown in Figs. 7.2.1 and 7.2.2 were recorded with the RC filter connected (frequency response setting = 5 Hz). This improved the signal-to-noise of the unfiltered spectra, and in this case did not interfere with the resolution enhancement. It would be a safer practice to disconnect the RC filter completely.



Fig. 7.2.1. The natural abundance ¹³C spectrum from carbon-1 of ¹⁵N labeled pyridine, courtesy of Robert L. Lichter ($\alpha = 1.0$ Hz/sec).



Fig. 7.2.2. The natural abundance ¹³C spectrum of cyclopentane, courtesy of Robert L. Lichter $(\alpha = 1.0 \text{ Hz/sec}).$



Fig. 7.2.3. The pyridine spectrum in Fig. 7.2.1 has been resolved with a linear resolution enhancement filter based upon the line shape in Fig. 7.2.2.



Fig. 7.2.4. The natural-abundance ¹³C spectrum from carbon-1 of ¹⁵N labeled pyridine, courtesy of Robert L. Lichter ($\alpha = 0.1 \text{ Hz/sec}$).

7.3 Filtering Satellite Peaks

The pseudo-linear filter given by Eq. (5.4.24) permits the observation of ¹³C satellites which cannot be observed with conventional filters. We shall use the natural-abundance ¹³C spectrum of 2.3-dimethyl-2-butene to illustrate this point. The proton decoupled spectrum of this molecule consists of two singlets from the vinyl and methyl carbons (Fig. 7.3.1). The methyl resonance was recorded with a reduced sweep rate (Fig. 7.3.2). This spectrum was then filtered with a double section RC filter, the time constant of which was varied in order to maximize the visibility of the ¹³C satellites. Even with the optimum time constant the satellite peaks remain buried in the noise (Fig. 7.3.3). If, however, we use a pseudo-linear filter, the ¹³C satellites resulting from the directly bonded coupling are clearly visible (Fig. 7.3.4). The pseudo-linear filter has taken full advantage of the symmetry in this "AX" system. For the rather modest resolution required to observe this coupling, the field drift indicated in this spectrum (Fig. 7.3.2) did not present any problems. We shall now demonstrate the kind of results which are possible in the absence of significant field drift.

The natural-abundance ¹³C spectrum of <u>trans</u>-1, 3-pentadiene (Fig. 7.3.5) provides examples of applications for several of the filters discussed above. Although the assignment of the methyl resonance is trivial, the assignment of the vinyl carbon resonances is quite difficult. The off-resonance decoupled ⁴⁵ spectrum (Fig. 7.3.6) indicates that the line at -46.9 ppm results from a carbon directly







Fig. 7.3.2. The methyl ¹³C resonance from 2, 3-dimethyl-2-butene ($\alpha = 4$ Hz/sec). The spinning rate was 30 ± 2 Hz.



Fig. 7.3.3. The spectrum shown in Fig. 7.3.2 has been filtered with a double section RC filter and the vertical scale has been atenuated by a factor of 100.



Fig. 7.3.4. The spectrum shown in Fig. 7.3.2 has been filtered with a pseudo-linear filter [Eq. (5.4.24)]. J = 43.9 ± 1 Hz.



Fig. 7.3.5. The noise decoupled natural-abundance ${}^{13}C$ spectrum of trans-1, 3-pentadiene.



Fig. 7.3.6. The off-resonance decoupled spectrum of the vinyl carbons of trans-1, 3-pentadiene.

bonded to two protons, hence this line results from carbon-1. The resonance from carbon-1 was then recorded at a reduced sweep rate (Fig. 7.3.7). This high resolution spectrum was used to observe the 13 C satellites.

A small portion of the spectrum (Fig. 7.3.8) was used to calculate the weighting function for a pseudo-linear resolution enhancement filter. This made the filter pseudo-linear only in the region immediately surrounding the parent peak and linear everywhere else. The asymmetry of the directly bonded (13 C, 13 C) spin-spin coupling satellites could therefore be measured (Fig. 7.3.9). The observed values of J₊ and J₋ were 31.1±1.0 Hz and -38.8±0.7 Hz, respectively. Substituting these values in Eq. (5.5.10) one calculates that the chemical shift of carbon-2 relative to dioxane is -68.0±3 ppm. The directly observed chemical shift of carbon-2 relative to dioxane is therefore either -70.4±0.1 ppm or -65.8±0.1 ppm (Fig. 7.3.6), since both of these peaks fall within the calculated interval. The analysis of this spectrum could be completed by scanning the region surrounding these peaks.

In addition to the large directly bonded coupling, Fig. 7.3.9 also indicates the presence of a smaller coupling $(J = 9.8 \pm 0.6 \text{ Hz})$. In order to demonstrate that these peaks represent real and reproducible satellites, a slow sweep rate spectrum was recorded (Fig. 7.3.10). This spectrum was then filtered with a least-squares satellite filter (Sec. 5.3). The resulting filtered spectrum (Fig. 7.3.11) clearly indicates the presence of a long range spin-spin



Fig. 7.3.7. The natural-abundance ¹³C spectrum from carbon-1 of trans-1, 3-pentadiene ($\alpha = 10$ Hz/sec). The spinning rate was 15 ± 5 Hz.



Fig. 7.3.8. The line shape (left) and weighting function (right) used to filter the spectrum in Fig. 7.3.7.



Fig. 7.3.9. The spectrum in Fig. 7.3.7 has been filtered with the weighting function shown in Fig. 7.3.8.



Fig. 7.3.10. The natural-abundance ¹³C spectrum from carbon-1 of trans-1, 3, -pentadiene ($\alpha = 0.4$ Hz/sec). The spinning rate was 15±5 Hz.



Fig. 7.3.11. The spectrum shown in Fig. 7.3.10 has been filtered with a least-squares satellite filter.

coupling of 9.5 ± 0.3 Hz. The origin of this satellite is not important for our present interests. The significant point is that the satellite is consistently observed.

The directly bonded $({}^{13}C, {}^{13}C)$ spin-spin couplings we have measured are consistent with the general trend of the variation of these couplings with the percent S hybridization (Fig. 7.3.12). If we base our prediction on the observed coupling in ethylene, the measured values are smaller than the predicted ones for small percent S and larger for large percent S. This has been rationalized in terms of the contraction of the carbon S orbitals as the multiplicity of the bonding increases. $\frac{46}{10}$



Fig. 7.3.12. Directly bonded (¹³C, ¹³C) spin-spin couplings as a function of the product of the S character at the two centers. In order of increasing coupling constant, the experimental values represent cyclopropane, ⁴⁷ ethane, ⁴⁸ tetramethyl ethylene, ethylene, ⁴⁸ pentadiene, and acetylene. ⁴⁸



Fig. 7.3.13. Directly bonded (¹³C, ¹³C) spin-spin couplings as a function of the values calculated by extended Hückel theory.

If we compare the experimental spin-spin couplings with those obtained from extended Hückel theory (see Appendix C), the general behavior is unchanged (Fig. 7.3.13). It would seem reasonable to use the calculated spin-spin couplings to select more realistic exponents for the 2S orbitals of extended Hückel calculations. These calculations should then give a better description of the effects of hybridization.

8. EXPERIMENTAL

The 2, 3-dimethyl-2-butene was purchased from Aldrich Chemical Co., and the <u>trans</u>-1, 3-pentadiene from Matheson Coleman and Bell. These samples were then sealed in 10-mm n.m.r. tubes.

The ¹³C and ¹⁵N spectra were determined with the DFS-60 spectrometer discussed by Weigert and Roberts, ⁴⁹ and the proton spectra were determined with a Varian Associates A-56/60 spectrometer. The spectra were accumulated on a Varian C-1024 computer and later transferred to cards with a Varian C-1001 coupler interface to an I. B. M. 526 printing summary punch. The data were then processed using the program SNARE on an I. B. M. 360/75 computer.

The spinning rates of the sample tubes were measured with a General Radio Co. model 631-B Strobotac which had been calibrated using the spinning side bands from the A-56/60 spectrometer.

Finally, we note that our experimental spectra were really filtered. A completely unfiltered spectrum, $f_i(t)$, would have zero signal-to-noise ratio, because the measurement at each frequency must be accomplished in zero time. All n.m.r. spectrometers involve an approximation of the form:

$$f_{i}(t) \doteq \int_{-T/2}^{T/2} h(\tau) f_{i}(t-\tau) d\tau. \qquad (8.1)$$

If T is much smaller than the narrowest "wiggle" in the spectrum, this will have negligible effect on the line shape.⁵⁰ A digital sweep

spectrometer generally uses a weighting function which is constant. That is, it simply takes the average of the measured signal over a small frequency range, $\Delta \nu$, and uses this for a data point. Continuous sweep spectrometers generally use an RC filter. If we had used it, the recording device on the spectrometer would have introduced additional filtering depending upon the response time of the pen. The exact form of $h(\tau)$ is unimportant, provided that T is sufficiently small (Sec. 2.7). We are not faced with the question of whether or not a spectrum should be filtered, but rather how it should be filtered.

APPENDIX A

USING THE PROGRAM SNARE

If one knows the line shape of an n.m.r. signal, it is possible to distinguish between one or more absorption lines and random noise. Given the line shape of a nuclear magnetic resonance signal as input, the program SNARE will remove most of the random noise in a spectrum or reduce the width of the lines, depending upon the options specified. In these instructions we shall not attempt to discuss the theory of filtering n.m.r. spectra, but limit ourselves to the use of the filtering program SNARE. We strongly recommend that the user of SNARE become moderately acquainted with the theory of filtering so that he may use the program to maximum advantage and avoid incorrect interpretation of the results. We shall begin by describing the types of filtering available with SNARE.

Signal-to-Noise Enhancement

The filter which gives the maximum signal-to-noise ratio for a given spectrum is called a matched filter. SNARE provides a matched filter as one option. The signal-to-noise ratio of a multiple-scan n.m.r. experiment can be further improved by increasing the sweep rate. The maximum signal-to-noise ratio available for measuring the position of a single line is obtained by using the fastest sweep rate available (i.e., with due consideration for the relaxation times of the nuclei and instrument limitations). The dependence of the signal-to-noise ratio upon the experimental parameters is approximately:

 $S/N = k (sweep rate)^{\frac{1}{4}} (sweep width)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$.

One should therefore use the fastest sweep rate and the smallest sweep width which is practical. However, one should also keep in mind that increasing the sweep rate will increase the line width, although this does not necessarily decrease the accuracy with which the position of a line can be measured.

A matched filter requires an independent measurement of the line shape.

Resolution Enhancement for Lines of Comparable Magnitude

The program SNARE includes an optimum linear resolution enhancement filter. The capabilities of this filter are indicated in Fig. 1. These filters "trade off" signal-to-noise for resolution. Decreasing the sweep rate will also trade signal-to-noise for resolution. The optimum procedure is to combine the two as



Figure

 Resolution enhancement of an n.m.r. signal. The large peak and its "wiggles" are an unresolved doublet. The two smaller peaks are the same doublet after resolution enhancement (q = 3000). indicated in Fig. 2. The curve which intersects all the points represents the result of varying the sweep rate and using a matched filter. The curves which intersect only one point represent the effect of using a linear resolution enhancement filter and the indicated sweep rate. The point labeled 0.1 should be interpreted as the minimum sweep rate for which the first downward "wiggle" goes below zero. The numerical value of the sweep rate at which this occurs will depend upon the sample used. The optimum process varies the sweep rate and uses a linear resolution enhancement filter. This gives the maximum signal-to-noise for a given line width and is represented by the envelope of the curves in Fig. 2. To use this optimum process one preselects the sweep rate and resolution enhancement filter such that one obtains the desired line width after resolution enhancement, and the signal-to-noise ratio is a maximum for this line width.

We shall illustrate the use of this optimum process with an example. Let us assume that we wish to measure the separation between two closely spaced lines (approximately 0.5 Hz separation) of a natural abundance ¹³C spectrum. We therefore decide that ν_0 should be 0.2 Hz in order to provide adequate resolution. We find that the minimum sweep rate for which the first downward "wiggle" for a sample of CS₂ crosses zero is 0.05 Hz/sec, and that the matched filter line width for this sweep rate is 0.27 Hz. We then modify Fig. 2 as indicated in Fig. 2a and find the point on the horizontal scale corresponding to 0.2 Hz. We see from Fig. 2a that we will



Figure 2. Resolution enhancement in which we vary both the sweep rate, α , and the filter. The output line width is ν_0 and the line width resulting from a matched filter is ν_m . The numbers at the points indicate the sweep rate in Hz. This curve was obtained from several CHCl₃ spectra with the exception of the point $\alpha = 0$, which was obtained from the asymptotic form.



Figure 2a. The use of Fig. 2 to select the sweep rate for an n.m.r. experiment.

obtain the maximum output signal-to-noise by using the following procedure: first collect data using a sweep rate of 0.5 Hz/sec, then use a linear resolution enhancement filter to reduce the line width to 0.2 Hz.

Several filters are compared in Fig. 3. The optimum linear filter discussed above gives the highest signal-to-noise ratio for a given line width of any filter presenting known. The instrument RC filter is clearly adequate for routine work. The curve representing this filter may be somewhat optimistic, however, because it assumes that the optimum time constant was used at each sweep rate. This is not generally done in practice. If either signal-to-noise or resolution is a problem, one should use the optimum linear filter. If one wishes to resolve lines differing in amplitude by more than a factor of five, a pseudo-linear filter, which is described in the next section, should be used.





3.

Resolution enhancement by various methods in which the sweep rate is varied.

A linear resolution enhancement filter requires an independent measurement of the line shape.

Pseudo-Linear Filters

These filters are similar to linear filters except the spectrum itself is used for the line shape. They produce a symmetric output spectrum regardless of the nature of the input spectrum. If a pair of satellites are not symmetric about the parent peak, the output spectrum will contain four satellites (Fig. 4). If the satellites are



Figure

4

The proton resonance of CHCl₃ ($\alpha = 2.5$) with satellites added ($J_+ = 4.75$ Hz, $J_- = -3.29$ Hz). The frequencies are scaled by a factor of 10. Note that the upfield satellite is easily resolved even though it is completely buried in the "wiggles" before filtering. symmetric in the input spectrum, their intensity will be doubled in the filtered spectrum.

Pseudo-linear filters are the most powerful presently known for resolving satellite peaks which are close to the parent peak. They should not be used to resolve lines which differ in amplitude by less than a factor of five.

If one wishes to determine whether the closer or farther satellite, of those on one side of the parent peak, is actually to the left of the parent peak, the least-squares satellite filter described in the next section can be used.

Filtering Satellite Peaks with Least-Squares Filters

The usefulness of these filters is described in the preceding section. This procedure approximates the parent peak by the Lorentzian asymptotic form (Fig. 5). The parameters in the Lorentzian are determined by performing a least-squares fit up to the point where the parent peak reaches "FIT" (a fraction which should be set between 0.05 and 0.5) of its maximum value. The resulting least-squares function f(t, b) is then subtracted from the input spectrum $f_i(t)$, leaving the satellite spectrum $f_1(t)$ (Fig. 6).

The position of the satellite can be estimated from $f_1(t)$. This estimate is then used as data ("SEPRTE") for the second iteration. This second iteration should remove the distortion in $f_1(t)$ indicated in Fig. 6, and produce a new spectrum, $f_2(t)$ with a maximum in the correct position (Fig. 7).





i. .

The line shape of the satellite peak is distorted by removing the parent peak.

The sum of the squares of the residues from the least-squares fit, ϕ , should decrease by about 0.25 E_s (the output parameter E_s is a convenient normalization for ϕ) during the second iteration (Fig. 7). If ϕ increases, the estimated position of the satellite was incorrect. This procedure should converge after two iterations.

The "wiggles" in the line shape must be to the right when the least-squares fit is performed. This is accomplished with the input parameter "NRFLCT".



Figure 7. The functions $f_1(t)$ (top) and $f_2(t)$ (bottom) [Eqs. (5.3.1) and (5.3.3)] resulting from the above CHCl₃ spectrum. A matched filter has been used and the scale is such that $f_1(\delta) = 100$. The error bars represent one standard deviation

Data Collection

All spectra must be taken with the instrument RC filter disconnected. This can be accomplished by setting the "function" switch of the DFS-60 spectrometer to "scope" or the "filter bandwidth" of the A-60 spectrometer to "4 cps". If the instrument RC filter is not disconnected, the noise in the spectrum will not be white, and using SNARE to filter spectra will not be valid.

If the line shape is determined separately, it is critical that all experimental parameters (sweep time, sweep width, phase, rf field strength, etc.) be as nearly identical to those for the spectrum as is possible. In order to accomplish this one should alternately scan the sample and the line-shape standard.

Considerable computing time can be saved by using only the portion of the line shape which differs significantly from zero.

The number of data sets to be added to form a spectrum, "NSTITL", can be arbitrarily large. Each data set must be properly "rolled over". Any data set in which one of the peaks is truncated is useless. To add m data sets, simply set "NSTITL" equal to m, place a card giving "NPOINT" and "NALIGN" in front of each data set, and place the data sets in the input data deck. The data set with the largest peak farthest to the left must be placed first. Two data sets should not be added unless the same setting of the "gain control" was used for both.

The Program

The current version of SNARE will cost between \$1 and \$5 per spectrum depending upon the options specified.

The program can select a portion of the input spectrum, FI(T), to use for the line shape, S(T). This will be convenient if the standard line shape sample and the spectrum were scanned simultaneously. To use this option, set "NSIG" equal to zero and set "FIT" slightly larger than $(S/N)^{-1}$. The program will then find the largest peak in FI(T) and use a segment of FI(T) which includes this peak for the line shape S(T). For absolute control of the segment used for the line shape-duplicate the cards representing this segment and submit them as a separate signal shape. Regardless of how the line shape is measured, the signal-to-noise ratio for the line shape must be better (by at least a factor of two) than that for the signal.

The functions F(T), H(T), and FO(T) are the least-squares Lorentzian, the weighting function and the output spectrum, respectively. The weighting function is calculated from S(T) and is of interest when considering the theory of filtering. A complete list of the input parameters is given on the next two pages.

It is assumed that the data has been punched on cards in format (8X, $12\emptyset6$), and that there is a maximum of 1024 data points per scan.

-	DATA 202	SNARO
C	CARD 1NSPECT(15) THE NUMBER OF INDEPENDENT SPECTRAL PROBLEMS	SNARO
Ċ,	PROBLEM ARE PREFACED HERE BY AD AD	SNAR
C	CARD AD DSCRPT(2044) TITLE FOR THE PRINTED OUTPUT.	SNAR
C C	CARD A1TITLE(A4) TITLE FOR THE PLOTS.	SNARO
L T.	NSWEEP(15). NUMBER OF POINTS EQUIVALENT TO THE SWEEP	SNAR
c	SPECTRA FROM THE 4-60 AND 999 FOR SPECTRA	SNAR
5	FROM THE DES-60.	SNAR
-	NSTITL(15) NUMBER OF SPECTRA TO BE ADDED AS "A". SEE	SNARO
č	1PSDL(12) = 0 PSEUDO-LINEAR FLITED	SMAR
C	.NE.O LINFAR DR LEAST-SOUARES FILTE-	SUARO
C C	NSIG(13) =- 1 REMOVE PARENT PEAK	STARG
č	U SIGNAL SHAPE IN SPECTRUM +1 SIGNAL SHAPE SEVANATE	54640
c	NRELCT(15) =-1 NO REFLECTIONS-USE FOR OPETHLO SPECTRE	CLAR ()
C.		SHENGI
c.	O TWO REFLECTIONS-USE FOR DOWDETELS	SHAAD
с	+1 ONE REFLECTION -USE FOR DOWNETELD	SHARO
C	SPECTRA FRIM DES-50.	SHAFG
c ·	NSTUN(15) SUGNAL TO NOISE .GT.1 OPTIMUM RESOLUTION	SNARG
c	NSTON FOLIAL TO LEN	SNAR
C.	TIMES THE LOSS IN	SINAHO
с. с	SIGNAL TO NOISE THAT	SNAROO
č	YOU THINK YOU CAN	SNAKO
С	1 MATCHEU FILLER - NO	SNAHO
C C	ERROR HAKS.	SNAROC
r	O MATCHED FILTER - ERROR	SNARDI
Č	IF1 RC FLITER	SNAROG
C	SET NSTON EQUAL TO	SNARO
C	-100#(THE HALF WIDTH	SNARO
c	AT HALF HEIGHT OF THE	SHARO
C	UPTIMUM TIME CONSTANT	SNARO
c	FOR THE DOUBLE SECTION	SHARD
c c	SWEEP(E11.5) SWEEP WIDTH IN H7. A POSITIVE NUMBER NETCH	SNARO
Č .	CORRESPONDS TO NEWEEP.	SNAR
C	FIT(F11.5) THE FRACTION OF THE INTENSITY OF THE PARENT	SNARA
C -	PEAK TO WHICH FITTING IS PERFORMED IN THE	SNAR
¢ *	WHICH DETERMINES THE SIZE OF THE SEGMENT	SNAR
C _	USED FOR THE LINE SHAPE WHEN NSIG=0.	SNAPO
C	YSCALE(F11.5) A SCALING FACTOR FOR THE FILTERED	SMARO
C	SPECTRUM. YSCALE TIMES THE SCALE FOR THE	SNAR
c c	URIGINAL SPECTRUM IS THE SCALE OF THE	SMAR
C.	IF YSCALE JE.O. VSCALE IS	CNADO
c	CALCULATED TO FIT THE FILTERED SPECTRUM	SNARO
C C	ON THE PLOTTING PAPER AND THE SCALE IS	SNARO
č	ABNUNC(F7.5) THE FRACTIONAL NATURAL ABUNDANCE OF THE	SNARO
C	NUCLEUS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE SATELLITE.	SNARO
c r	SEPRIE(F11.5) DISTALCE IN HERTZ BEIWEEN THE SATELLIE	SMAR
c	UNKNUPN.	SMAR
Ċ.	CARD A2 IFPLOT(1)(13) = 0 DO NOT PLOT THE LEAST-SOUARES	SNARO
r.	DETERMINED LORENIZIAN.	SNARO
č	IPLOTIZICI3) = 0 DO NOT PLOT FLOTI.	SMARDI
C	1 PLOT FILT).	SNARO
c r	2 PLOT AND LABEL FI(T).	SNARO
C	1 P[0T S(T)]	SNARO
C	2 PLOT AND LABEL S(T).	SNARO
C	IFPLOT(4)(13) = 0 D0 NOT PLOT H(T).	SNARO
с.	1 PLOT H(T).	SMARO
c	IFPLOT(5)(13) = 0 DO NOT PLOT FILTLEIT	SNARO
r.	1 PLOT FI(T)-F(T).	SNARO
Contraction of the	2 PLOT AND CABEL FIIT)-F(T).	SNARO
	(FPLO)(6)(13) = 0 D0 NOT PLOT FO(T).	CNIADA
	1 PLOT EDITI	SHARU
	1 PLOT FO(T). 2 PLOT AND LABEL FO(T).	SNARO
	1 PLOT FO(T). 2 PLOT AND LABEL FO(T). XUNGTMIF7.21 THE LENGTH OF THE X-AXIS IN INCHES.	SNARO
	1 PLOT FOIT). 2 PLOT AND LABEL FOIT). XLNGTMIF7.21 THE LENGTH OF THE X-AXIS IN INCHES. YLNGTHIF7.21 THE LENGTH OF THE Y-AXIS IN INCHES.	SNAROO SNAROO SNAROO SNAROO
	1 PLOT FOIT). 2 PLOT AND LABEL FOIT). XLNGTHIF7.21 THE LENGTH OF THE X-AXIS IN INCHES. YLNGTH(F7.2) THE LENGTH OF THE Y-AXIS IN INCHES. CARD A3KNPOINTIEST THE NUMBER OF DATA PUINTS IN THIS SCAN. THERE ARE A TIGAL OF NOTICE TO BE	SNAROO SNAROO SNAROO SNAROO SNAROO
	1 PLOT FO(T). 2 PLOT AND LABEL FO(T). XLNGTHIF7.21 THE LENGTH OF THE X-AXIS IN INCHES. YLNGTH(F7.2) THE LENGTH OF THE Y-AXIS IN INCHES. CARD A3KNPOINTIES THE NUMBER UF DATA PUINTS IN THIS SCAN. THERE ARE A. TOTAL OF NSTITL SCANS TO BE PROCESED AS 'A', EACH OF WHICH 'IS PRECEDED	SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNAR
	1 PLOT FO(T). 2 PLOT AND LABEL FO(T). XLNGTHIF7.21 THE LENGTH OF THE X-AXIS IN INCHES. YLNGTHIF7.21 THE LENGTH OF THE Y-AXIS IN INCHES. CARD A3KNPOINT(IS) THE NUMBER OF DATA POINTS IN THIS SCAN. THERE ARE A TUTAL OF NSTITL SCANS TO BE PROCESED AS 'A'. EACH OF WHICH IS PRECEDED BY A CARD A3K. NPOINT MILL BE LESS THAN	SNAROO SNAROO SNAROO SNAROO SNARO SNAR SNAR SNAR
	1 PLOT FOIT]. 2 PLOT AND LABEL FOIT]. XUNGTMIF7.21 THE LENGTH OF THE X-AXIS IN INCHES. YUNGTHIF7.21 THE LENGTH OF THE Y-AXIS IN INCHES. CARD A3KNPOINT(IS) THE NUMBER OF DATA POINTS IN THIS SCAN. THERE ARE A TOTAL OF NSTITL SCANS TO BE PROCESED AS 'A', EACH OF WHICH IS PRECEDED BY A CARD A3K. NPDINT HILD BE LESS THAN NSWEEP IF ANY PART OF THE SPECTRUM IS ABBLITABALLY ONLYTED OD ONLYTED DEFINITE	SNAROC SNAROC SNAROC SNAROC SNARO SNAR SNAR SNAR SNAR
	1 PLOT FO(T). 2 PLOT AND LABEL FO(T). XLNGTHIF7.21 THE LENGTH OF THE X-AXIS IN INCHES. YLNGTH(F7.2) THE LENGTH OF THE Y-AXIS IN INCHES. CARD A3KNPOINTIJ THE NUMBER UF DATA PUINTS IN THIS SCAN. THERE ARE A TOTAL OF NSTITL SCANS TO BE PROCESED AS 'A', EACH OF WHICH TS PRECEDED BY A CARD A3K. NPDINT HILL BE LESS THAN NSWEEP IF ANY PART OF THE SPECTRUM IS ARBITRARILY OMITTED OR OMITTED RECAUSE OF WOISE, SPIKES, ETC.	SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNAR SNAR SNAR SNAR SNAR
	1 PLOT FOIT], 2 PLOT AND LABEL FOIT), XUNGTMIF7,21 THE LENGTH OF THE X-AXIS IN INCHES, YUNGTMIF7,21 THE LENGTH OF THE Y-AXIS IN INCHES, CARU A3KNPOINTITIS THE NUMBER OF DATA PUTNTS IN THIS SCAN. THERE ARE A TUTAL OF NSTITL SCANS TO BE PROCESED AS 'A', EACH OF WHICH 'IS PRECEDED BY A CARD A3K. NPDINT WILL HE LESS THAN NSWEEP IF ANY PART OF THE SPECTRUM IS ARBITRARILY OHITTED OR OMITTED RECAUSE OF NUISE, SPIKES, ETC. NALIGN(IS) THE NUMBER OF POINTS TO THE LEFT THIS SCAN	SNAROC SNAROC SNAROC SNARO SNARO SNAR SNAR SNAR SNAR SNAR SNAR
	1 PLOT FO(T). 2 PLOT AND LABEL FO(T). XUNGTHIF7.21 THE LENGTH OF THE X-AXIS IN INCHES. YUNGTHIF7.21 THE LENGTH OF THE Y-AXIS IN INCHES. CARD A3KNPOINT(IS) THE TWUBER OF DATA POINTS IN THIS SCAN. THERE ARE A TUTAL OF NSTITL SCANS TO BE PROCESED AS 'A', EACH OF WHICH IS PRECEDED BY A CARD A3K. NPOINT HILL BE LESS THAN NSWEEP IF ANY PART OF THE SPECTRUM IS ARBITRARLLY OMITTED RO NOTITED RECAUSE OF NOISE, SPIKES, FTC. NALIGN(IS) THE NUMBER OF POINTS IN THE LEFT THIS SCAN IS TO BE SHIFTED. THE SCAN WHOSE MAXIMUM IS CADTURE TO THE SCAN WHOSE MAXIMUM IS	SNAROU SNAROU SNAROU SNARO SNARO SNARO SNAR SNAR SNAR SNAR SNAR SNAR SNAR SNAR
	1 PLOT FO(T). 2 PLOT AND LABEL FO(T). XLNGTMIF7.2] THE LENGTH OF THE X-AXIS IN INCHES. YLNGTMIF7.2] THE LENGTH OF THE Y-AXIS IN INCHES. CARD A3KNPOINTIJ3 THE NUMBER UF DATA POINTS IN THIS SCAN. THERE ARE A TOTAL OF NSTITL SCANS TO BE PROCESED AS 'A', EACH OF WHICH TS PRECEDED GY A CARD A3K. NPDINT WILL BE LESS THAN NSWEEP IF ANY PART OF THE SPECTRUM IS ARBITRARILY OMITTED OR OMITTED RECAUSE OF NOISE, STIKES, ETC. NALIGNI(5) THE NUMBER OF POINTS TO THE LEFT THIS SCAN IS TO BE SHIFTED. THE SCAN WHIST BAXIMUM IS FARTHEST TO THE LEFT MIST BE READ IN FIRST. NALIGN ON SUMPTO	SNAROU SNAROU SNAROU SNAROU SNARO SNAR SNAR SNAR SNAR SNAR SNARO SNARO SNARO
	1 PLOT FOIT]. 2 PLOT AND LABEL FOIT]. XUNGTMIF7.21 THE LENGTH OF THE X-AXIS IN INCHES. YUNGTMIF7.21 THE LENGTH OF THE Y-AXIS IN INCHES. CARD ASKNPOINTITIS THE LENGTH OF THE Y-AXIS IN INCHES. CARD ASKNPOINTITIS THE STAN. THERE ARE A TUTAL OF NSTITL SCANS TO BE PROCESSED AS 'A'. EACH OF WHICH 'IS PRECEDED BY A CARD A3K. NPDINT WILL HE LESS THAN NSWEEP IF ANY PART OF THE SPECTRUM IS ARBITRARILY OMITTED OR OMITTED RECAUSE OF WUSE, SPIKES, ETC. NALIGN(IS) THE NUMBER OF POINTS TO THE LEFT THIS SCAN IS TO BE SHIFTED. THE SCAN WHOSE MAXIMUM IS FARTHEST TU THE LEFT MUST BE READ IN FIRST. NALIGN = 0 NO SHIFT OR FIRST SCAN. USF A POISITIVE VALUE FOR NALIGN WHEN THERE	SNAROU SNAROU SNAROU SNAROU SNARO SNAR SNAR SNAR SNAR SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO
	1 PLOT FOIT]. 2 PLOT AND LABEL FOIT]. XLNGTHIF7.21 THE LENGTH OF THE X-AXIS IN INCHES. YLNGTHIF7.21 THE LENGTH OF THE Y-AXIS IN INCHES. CARD A3KNPOINTTIS) THE NUMBER OF DATA POINTS IN THIS SLAN. THERE ARE A TOTAL OF NSTITL SCANS TO BE PROCESED AS 'A', EACH OF WHICH TS PRECEDED BY A CARD A3K. NPOINT WILL BE LESS THAN WSWEEP IF ANY PART OF THE SPECTRUM IS ARBITRARILY OWITED OR ONITED DE CAUSE OF NALIGN(15) THE NUMBER OF POINTS IN THE LEFT THIS SCAN IS TO BE SHIFTED. THE SCAN WHOSE MAXIMUM IS FARTHEST TO THE LEFT MUST BE RATO IN FIRST. NALIGN = 0 NO SHIFT OR PIAST SCAN. USF A POSITIVE VALUE FOR NALIGN WHEN THERE TS AMBIGUITY ARMOUT WHICH PEAKS SHIFTED.	SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNAR SNAR SNAR SNAR SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO
	1 PLOT FO(T). 2 PLOT AND LABEL FO(T). XLNGTMIF.7.2.1 THE LENGTH OF THE X-AXIS IN INCHES. YLNGTMIF.7.2.1 THE LENGTH OF THE Y-AXIS IN INCHES. CARD A3KNPOINTIJS THE THIS SCAN: THERE ARE A TOTAL OF NSTITL SCANS TO BE PROCESED AS 'A', EACH OF WHICH TS PRECEDED GY A CARD A3K. NPDINT WILL BE LESS THAN NSWEEP IF ANY PART OF THE SPECTRUM IS ARBITRARILY OMITTED OR OMITTED RECAUSE OF NOISES, STIKES, ETC. NALIGNI(S) THE NUMBER OF POINTS TO THE LEFT THIS SCAN IS TO BE SHIFTED. THE SCAN WHISE MAXIMUM IS FARTHEST TO THE LEFT MIST BE READ IN FIRST. NALIGN = O NO SHIFT OR FIRST SCAN. USF A POISITIVE VALUE FOR NALIGN WHEN THERE TS AMBIGUITY ARMOT WHICH PEAKS SHOULD BE ALIGNED. NALIGN IN IS TO BE SHIFTOR THE SPECTRUE DE	SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNAR SNAR SNAR SNAR SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO
	1 PLOT FO(T). 2 PLOT AND LABEL FO(T). XLNGTHIFT,21 THE LENGTH OF THE X-AXIS IN INCHES. YLNGTHIFT,21 THE LENGTH OF THE Y-AXIS IN INCHES. CARD A3KNPOINTIJ THE NUMBER OF DATA PUINTS IN THIS SCAN. THERE ARE AT TOTAL OF NSTITL SCANS TO BE PROCESSED AS 'A', EACH OF WHICH TS PRECEDED BY A CARD A3K. NPDINT WILL BE LESS THAN NSWEEP IF ANY PART OF THE SPECTRUM IS ARBITRARILY OMITTED OR OMITTED RECAUSE OF NOISE SPIKES, ETC. NALIGN(IS) THE NUMBER OF POINTS TO THE LEFT THIS SCAN IS TO BE SMIFTED. THE SUCAN WHICH FIRST NALIGN(IS) THE NUMBER OF POINTS TO THE LEFT THIS SCAN IS TO BE SMIFTED. THE SCAN WHOSE MAXIMM IS FARTHEST TO THE LEFT MUST BE READ IN FIRST. NALIGN = 0 NO SHIFT OR FIRST SCAN. USF A POISITIVE VALUE FOR NALIGN WHEN THERE TS AMBIGUITY ARGOT WHICH PEAKS SHOULD BE ALIGNEG. NALIGN .LE-1 THE MAXIMA WILL BE LIND UP. CARDS (A(6)KA(NPUINT/S),, DAIA POINTS (BX.1200)	SNAROU SNAROU SNAROU SNARO SNARO SNARO SNAR SNAR SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO
	1 PLOT FO(T). 2 PLOT FO(T). 2 PLOT AND LABEL FO(T). XLNGTMIF7.21 THE LENGTH OF THE X-AXIS IN INCHES. YLNGTMIF7.21 THE LENGTH OF THE Y-AXIS IN INCHES. CARD ASKNPOINTIT15 THE THIS SCAN. THERE ARE A TUTAL OF NSTITL SCANS TO BE PROCESED AS 'A'. EACH OF WHICH TS PRECEDED BY A CARD A3K. NPDINT WILL BE LESS THAN NSWEEP IF ANY PART OF THE SPECTRUM IS ARBITRARILY UMITTED OR OMITTED RECAUSE OF NUISE, STIKES, FETC. NALIGN(IS) THE NUMBER OF POINTS TO THE LEFT THIS SCAN IS TO BE SHIFTED. THE SCAN WHOSE MAXIMUM IS FARTHEST TU THE LEFT MUST BE RACO IN FIRST. NALIGN = 0 NO SHIFT OR FIRST SCAN. USF A POISITIVE VALUE FOR NALIGM WHEN HERE TS AMBIGUITY ARMOT WHICH PEAKS SHMILD RE ALIGNEO. NALIGN _LF1 THE MAXIMA WILL BE LINFD UP. CARDS (A(4)KAINPUINT/12)K)DAIA POINTS (RX.12006)	SNAROU SNAROU SNAROU SNAROU SNAROU SNAR SNAR SNAR SNAR SNAROU SNAROU SNAROU SNAROU SNAROU SNAROU SNAROU
	1 PLOT FO(T). 2 PLOT AND LABEL FO(T). XLNGTHIF7.2] THE LENGTH OF THE X-AXIS IN INCHES. YLNGTHIF7.2] THE LENGTH OF THE Y-AXIS IN INCHES. CARD A3KNPOINTIJ] THE NUMBER UP DATA POINTS IN THIS SLAN. THERE ARE A TOTAL OF NSTITL SCANS TO BE PROCESSED AS 'A'. EACH OF WHICH TS PRECEDED GY A CARD A3K. NPDINT HILL BE LESS THAN NSWEEP IF ANY PART OF THE SPECTRUM IS ARBITRARILY OMITTED OR OMITTED RECAUSE OF NUISE, SPIKES, FIC. NALIGN(IS) THE NUMBER OF POINTS IN THE LEFT THIS SCAN IS TO BE SHIFTO. THE SCAN WHISE MAXIMUM IS FARTHEST TO THE LEFT MUST BE READ IN FIRST. NALIGN 0 NO SHIFT OR FIRST SCAN. USF A POISITIVE VALUE FOR NALIGN WHEN THERE TS AMBIGUITY ARHOT WHICH PEAKS SHOULD BE ALIGNED. NALIGN. LF1 THE MAXIMA WILL BE LINED UP. CARDS (A(4)KA(NPUINT/12)K)	SNAROU SNAROU SNAROU SNAROU SNAROU SNARO SNARO SNARO SNAROU SNARO
	1 PLOT FOITJ. 2 PLOT AND LABEL FOITJ. XLNGTMIFT.21 THE LENGTH OF THE X-AXIS IN INCHES. YLNGTMIFT.21 THE LENGTH OF THE Y-AXIS IN INCHES. CARD A3KNPOINTIEJ THE NUMBER OF DATA PUINTS IN THIS SCAN. THERE ARE AT UITAL OF NSTITL SCANS TO BE PROCESED AS 'A', EACH OF WHICH TS PRECEDED BY A CARD A3K. NPDINT HILL BE LESS THAN NSWEEP IF ANY PART OF THE SPECTRUM IS ARBITRARILY OMITTED OR OMITTED RECAUSE OF NOISE, SPIKES, FTC. NALIGNIES) THE NUMBER OF POINTS TO THE LEFT THIS SCAN IS TO BE SHIFTED. THE SCAN WHISE MAXIMUM IS FARTHEST TO THE LEFT MUST BE READ IN FIRST. NALIGN = 0 NO SHIFT OR FIRST SCAN. USF A POSITIVE VALUE FOR NALIGN WHEN THERE TS AMBIGUITY ARHOT WHICH PEAKS SHULLO RE ALIGNED. NALIGN .LEI THE MAXIMA WILL BE LIND (UP. CARD SAKNSPUINTIES) IN THE SIGNAL SHAPPSIGNAL FOLLOWING STALES IN THE SIGNAL SHAPP.	SNARO(SNARO) SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNAR SNAR SNAR SNAR SNARO SN
	1 PLOT FOIT]. 2 PLOT AND LABEL FOIT). XUNGTHIF7.21 THE LENGTH OF THE X-AXIS IN INCHES. YUNGTHIF7.21 THE LENGTH OF THE Y-AXIS IN INCHES. CARD ASKNPOINTITS IT THIS SCAN. THERE ARE A TUTAL OF NSTITL SCANS TO BE PROCESSED AS 'A'. EACH OF WHICH 'IS PRECEDED BY A CARD A3K. NPOINT WILL BE LESS THAN NSWEEP IF ANY PART OF THE SPECTRUM IS ARBITRARLLY OMITTED OR OMITTED RECAUSE OF NOISE, SPIKES, ETC. NALIGN(IS) THE NUMBER OF POINTS TO THE LEFT THIS SCAN IS TO BE SHIFTED. THE SCAN WHOSE MAXIMUM IS FARTHEST TU THE LEFT MUST BE READ IN FIRST. NALIGN = 0 NO SHIFT OR FIRST SCAN. USF A POISTIVE VALUE FOR NALIGN WHEN THERE TS AMBIGUITY ARIOT WHICH PEAKS SHOULD BE ALIGNEO. NALIGNNSPOINTINTY.SALA POINTS (IX.1206) THE FOLDWING CARDS ARE USED UNLY IF NSIG * 11. CARD A3K'NSPOINT(IS) THE NUMBER UP DIATA PUINTS IN THE SIGNAL SHAP. CARDS (A(4)K'A(NSPOINT/12)K'SIGNAL SHAPP DATA POINTS (A4(3)K'A(NSPOINT/12)K'SIGNAL SHAPP DATA POINTS	SNAROU SN
	1 PLOT FOITJ. 2 PLOT AND LAGEL FOITJ. XUNCTHIFT.21 THE LENGTH OF THE X-AXIS IN INCHES. YUNGTHIFT.21 THE LENGTH OF THE Y-AXIS IN INCHES. CARD A3KNPOINTIJJ THE NUMBER UF DATA PUINTS IN THIS SCAN: THERE ARE AT TOTAL OF NSTITL SCANS TO BE PROCESED AS 'A'. EACH OF WHICH TS PRECEDED BY A CARD A3K. NPDINT HILL BE LESS THAN NSWEEP IF ANY PART OF THE SPECTRUM IS ARBITRARILY OMITTED OR OMITTED RECAUSE OF NUISES, SPIKES, FIC. NALIGNI(5) THE NUMBER OF POINTS TO THE LEFT THIS SCAN IS TO BE SHIFTO. THE SCAN WHOSE MAXIMUM IS FARTHEST TU THE LEFT MUST BE READ IN FIRST. NALIGN 0 NO SHIFT OR FIRST SCAN. USF A POISITIVE VALUE FOR NALIGN WHEN THERE ALGONO CARDS (A(4)KA(NPTINT/12)K), IDAIA POINTS (NX, 1206) CARDS (A(4)KA(NSPTINT/12)K'), SIGNAL SHAPF DATA POINTS CARDS (A(4)K'A(NSPTINT/12)K'), SIGNAL S	SNARO(SNARO(SNARO) SNARO SNARO SNARO SNAR SNAR SNAR SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO SNARO

SNARE is currently on a disc library as JDR. NMRFLTR. The necessary Job Control Language cards and sample data cards are shown below:

$\begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} $	// JOB // EXEC //STEPLIB DD //FT06F001 DD	(98532,GAP,C PGM=SNARE,RE DSN=JDR.NMRF SYSOUT=A,DCE	HI, 'GEORGE A. GION=150K, TIM LTR. VOL=SER=C = (RECFM=FBSA,	PETERSSON', H E=1 ITSC2, UNIT=SY LRECL=133, BLK	SGLEVEL SDA,DIS SIZE=15	=1 P=SHR 96 }	
$\begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} 64-f & 999 & 6 & 0 & -1 & 8 & 250.0 \\ 1 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 2 & 12.50 & 10.00 \\ \hline 998 & 0 \end{array} \end{array} 0.05 0.02 0.01 \\ \end{array}$	//FTO5FOOL DD 1 TRANS-1,	* S-PENTADIENE	CARBON-1	3710 SCANS			
Data from C. A. T.	5A-F 999 (1 2 2 2 998 0	0 0 -1 2 2 12.50	8 250.0 10.00	0.05	0.02	0.01	
			Data f	from C.	A . 7	г.	

These are the only cards necessary to use SNARE.

The subroutine structure of SNARE is as follows:



APPENDIX B

A LISTING OF THE PROGRAM SNARE

с с	' SNARE 4	SNAROOOA
c		SNAROODA
C	THIS PROGRAM PERFORMS A VARIETY OF FILTERING OPERATIONS UN	SNAROOOH
C	NMR SPECTRA. THE DETAILS ARE DESCRIBED IN THE PHO THESIS OF	SNAROOOC
ć	THE PROGRAM CALLS THE FOLLOWING PLOTTING SUBPOLITINES!	SNAROOOD
с С	CPLUT: X,Y PLOTTING ROUTINE	SNAROOOF
C	EBPLOT: PLOTS ERROR HAHS	SNARDODG
Ç ·	VLABEL: LABELS THE AXES OF PLOTS.	SNAROOOH
C	THESE SUBRUUTINES ARE NUT INCLUDED IN THIS PROGRAM.	SNAROOOL
с с	DATA	SNAROOIA
c		SNARDO18
С	CARD 1 NSPECT(15) THE NUMBER OF INDEPENDENT SPECTRAL PROBLEMS	SNAKOOIC
C	TO BE CUNSIDERED. THE DATA CARDS FOR EACH	SNAR
c c	PRUBLEM AKE PREFALED HERE BY A0,A1,,ETC.	SNAR
č	CARD ALTITLE(A4) TITLE FOR THE PLOTS.	SNAROOIE
c	NSWEEP(15) NUMBER OF POINTS EQUIVALENT TO THE SWEEP	SNAR
С	WIDTH. THIS WILL GENERALLY BE 1024 FOR	SNAR
c c	SPECTRA FROM THE A-60 AND 999 FOR SPECTRA	SNAR
C	FROM THE DFS-60.	SNAR
ć	SEDADATE INSTRUCTIONS AS TO DATA CONSECTION	SNAROOLH
č	IPSDI (12) = 0 PSFUDD-I INFAR FUTER	SNAROOII
С	.NE.O LINEAR OR LEAST-SQUARES FILTER	SNAR0026
С	NSIG(13) =-1 REMOVE PARENT PEAK	SNAR002A
C	O SIGNAL SHAPE IN SPECTRUM	SNAR0028
C C	+1 SIGNAL SHAPE SEPARATE.	SNAROOZC
c	NKFLUI(15) =-1 NU REFLECTIONS-USE FOR UPFIELD SPECTRA	SNAR002D
c	O TWO REFIECTIONS-USE FOR DOWNETS O	SNAROUZE
č	SPECTRA FROM A-AO-	SNAR002F
С	+1 ONE REFLECTION -USE FOR DOWNFIFID	SNAR002H
C	SPECTRA FROM DFS-60.	SNAR0021
C	NSTON(15) SIGNAL TO NOISE .GT.1 OPTIMUM RESOLUTION	SNAR0036
C	ENHANCEMENT FILTER -SET	SNAR
c c	NSTON EQUAL TO TEN	SNAR003A
c c	SIGNAL TO NOISE THAT	SNAR003B
č	YOU THINK YOU CAN	SNAR003D
с	AFFORD.	SNAR003E
C .	1 MATCHED FILTER - NO	SNAR003F
c	ERROR BARS.	SNAR003G
c c	O MATCHED FILTER - ERROR	SNAR003H
c	JE1 RC FILTER	SNAR0031
c	SET NSTON EQUAL TO	SNAR004A
С	-100*(THE HALF WIDTH	SNAR0048
C	AT HALF HEIGHT OF THE	SNAR004C
c c	NARROWEST LINE) FOR THE	SNAR004D
č	FOR THE DOURLE SECTION	SNAR004E
С	RC FILTER.	SNAR004G
c	SWEEP(F11.5) SWEEP WIDTH IN HZ, A POSITIVE NUMBER WHICH	ISNAR004H
C	CORRESPONDS TO NSWEEP.	SNAR
c c	FITTELS) THE FRACTION OF THE INTENSITY OF THE PARENT	SNARDO41
č	PEAK TO WHICH FILLING IS PERFORMED IN THE REMOVAL OPERATIONOP_ THE DADAMSTED	SNAR
č	WHICH DETERMINES THE SIZE OF THE SEGMENT	SNAR005A
С	USED FOR THE LINE SHAPE WHEN NSIG=0.	SNAR0058
C	YSCALE(F11.5) A SCALING FACTOR FOR THE FILTERED	SNAR005C
C	SPECIRUM. YSCALE TIMES THE SCALE FIR THE	SNAR
C .	FILTERED SPECTRUM	SNAR
c	IF YSCALE .LE.O. YSCALE IS	SNAR005F
C	CALCULATED TO FIT THE FILTERED SPECTRUM	SNAROOSE
С	ON THE PLOTTING PAPER AND THE SCALE IS	SNAR005G
C	PRINTED.	SNAR005H
c	ADNUNG (FIS) THE FRACTIONAL NATURAL ABUNDANCE UP THE NUCLEUS RESPONSTRIE FOR THE SATELLITE	SNAROOAL
c	SEPRTE(F11.5) DISTANCE IN HERT7 BETWEEN THE SATELLITE	SNAR
C	PEAK AND THE PARENT PEAK. SET TO O. IF	SNAR
C	UNKNOWN.	SNAR
C	LAKU AZ IFPLOT(1)(13) = 0 DO NOT PLOT THE LEAST-SQUARES	SNAR006B
r,	1 PLOT THE LEAST-SOURCES FUNCTION	SNAROOAD
C	IFPLOT(2)(13) = 0 DU NOT PLOT FI(T).	SNARCOSE
C.	1 PLOT FI(1).	SKAROOAF
(.	2 PLOT AND LABEL FI(T).	SNAROOBG
6	IFPLOT(3)(I3) = 0 DO NOT PLOT S(T).	SNAR JOOH
č	2 PLOT AND LAREL SITE	SNALGO71
C	1FPLOT(4)(13) = 0.00 NOT PLOT H(T).	SNAR DUTA
С	1 PLOT H(T).	SNAR007P
C	2 PLOT AND LABEL H(T).	SNAR DOTC
C	IFPLOT(5)(13) = 0 DO NOT PLOT FI(T) - F(T).	SNAR OO 70
C .	1 ML(1) F1(1)+F(1). 2 MAT AND (ARE) F1/T1-6/T1	SNAROOTE
č	IFPLOT(6)(13) = 0.00 NOT PLOT FOLT).	SNAR0076
С	1 PLOT FO(T).	SNAROOTH
С	2 PLOT AND LABEL FO(T).	SNARDO71

-	VENETUES OF THE LENGTH OF THE VENTS IN ENDINGS	
	ALNGTHIF (+2) THE LENGTH OF THE X-AXIS IN INCHES.	SNAROURE
	TUNGFALFILL THE LENGTH OF THE THATS IN INCHES.	SNARUUGA
	GARD ASK NPUINITTS/ THE NUMBER OF DATA FOINTS IN THIS SCAN.	SNARUUOD
	BOCCECCO AC TAL DE VITEL SCANS ID DE	SNAR
	BY A CADD ANY NUMBER BE LESS THAN	SNAP
	NEWER TE ANY DAT OF THE SPETTIM IS	SNAD
	APAITPARTLY OMITTED OF ONITTED AFCAUSE OF	SNAR
r.	NULSE, SPIKES, STC.	SNAR
č	NALIGN (15) THE NUMBER DE POINTS TO THE LEFT THIS SCAN	SNAROORC
	IS TO BE SHIFTED. THE SCAN WHOSE MAXIMUM IS	SNARDORD
r	FARTHEST TO THE LEFT MUST BE READ IN FIRST.	SNAROOBE
r.	NALIGN = 0 NO SHIFT OR FIRST SCAN.	SNARDOBE
č	USE A POSITIVE VALUE FOR NALIGN WHEN THERE	SNAR
C	IS AMBIGUITY ABOUT WHICH PEAKS SHOULD BE	SNAR
с	ALIGNED.	SNAR
С	NALIGN .LE1 THE MAXIMA WILL BE LINED UP.	SNAROORG
С	CARDS (A(4)KA(NPOINT/12)K)DATA POINTS (8X,1206)	SNAR008H
С	THE FOLLOWING CARDS ARE USED ONLY IF NSIG = +1.	SNAR0081
С	CARD A3K'NSPOINT(15) THE NUMBER OF DATA POINTS IN THE SIGNAL	SNAR0096
c	SHAPE.	SNAR009A
C	CARDS (A(4)K A(NSPOINT/12)K)SIGNAL SHAPE DATA POINTS	SNAR009B
L	(42,1206).	SNAR009C
	CADAS ANY ALMOSTATIONS AND REPORTED VALUETTS	-SNAKO090
c	CARDS ASKA(NYUINI/12/K ARE REPEATED K=1,NSIIIL	SNARUU9F
č	CARUS DUDUPUINI/12/K ARE REPEATED DNSPECT	SNARU09F
. T	DIMENSION TITLE (3) . V(1024) . V(1024)	SNAROUSG
	110241, S(1024), E1(1024), E0(1024), H(1024), CO(1024), B(0), A(0,0), SUM	SNAROOSI
	2XAXIS(4), YAXIS(3), FMTH(2), FMTV(2), IEPINT(A)	SNAROLOF
	COMMON/COMCPI/LITEST. XI NGTH. YI NGTH	SNAROLOA
	PEAL LABELS	SNAPOLOB
	DATA EMTV/4H(FR. 4H3) /	SNAROLOC
	DATA FMTH/4H(FA-,4H)) /	SNAROLOD
	DATA LABEL/4HSPCT.4HSGNL.4HRMOV.4HFITR.4HH(T)/	SNAROLOF
	DATA XAXIS/4HEREO.4HUENC.4HY IN.4H HZ /	SNAROLOF
	DATA YAXIS/4HABSO.4HBPTI.4HON /	SNAROLOG
c-		-SNARO10H
С	READ THE NUMBER OF COMPLETE CYCLES.	SNAR0101
C-		-SNARO116
	READ (5,1) NSPECT	SNAR011A
	1 FORMAT (15)	SNAR011B
	DO 100 IS=1,NSPECT	SNAROLLC
	READ (5,102) (DSCRPT(1),1=1,20)	SNAR011D
	102 FURMAT (20A4)	SNARO11E
C-		-SNARO11F
С	READ IN THE PARAMETERS.	SNARDIIG
C-		-SNAROIIA
	READ(5,2) IIILE(2), NSWEEP, NSIIIL, IPSDL, NSIG, NKFLCI, NSIUN,	SNARO111
	$1 \rightarrow 1$ A HEP , FI + TSLALE , ADMUNUL, SEPTIE	CNADOIZA
	2 FURMAI (A4+213+12+13+213+3714-37714-37714-37	STA 11 S 11 S 11
	READ(5,699) (IFFCUILI) I-1,0/,ACHOIN, CHOIN	SNAR012A
	800 EDBMAT/413 2E7 3)	SNAR012B
	899 FDRMAT(613,2F7.2)	SNAR012B SNAR012C SNAR012D
	899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IE(1)NGTH (CT.12.5) XINGTH=12.5	SNAR012A SNAR012B SNAR012C SNAR012D SNAR012E
	899 FDRMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(XLNGTH.GT.10.0) XLNGTH=10.0	SNAR012A SNAR012B SNAR012C SNAR012D SNAR012F SNAR012F
	899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.10.0) YLNGTH=10.0 YING = XINGTH	SNAR012B SNAR012C SNAR012C SNAR012C SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012G
	899 FORMAT(6I3,2F7.2) 1TEST = 1 1F(1XNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.10.0) YLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH	SNAR012B SNAR012C SNAR012C SNAR012C SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F
	899 FORMAT(6I3,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.10.0) YLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH	SNAR012A SNAR012C SNAR012C SNAR012C SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012H SNAR0121
	899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.10.0) YLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NMOTH = (.*NSWEEP)/5	SNAR012R SNAR012C SNAR012C SNAR012D SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012G SNAR012H SNAR012I SNAR0136
	899 FORMAT(6[3,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.10.0) YLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NWDTH = (6*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 I= 1, 1024	SNAR0128 SNAR012C SNAR012C SNAR012E SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012I SNAR0136
	$\begin{array}{l} 899 \mbox{ FORMAT(613,2F7.2)} \\ \mbox{ ITEST = 1} \\ \mbox{ IF(xLNGTH.GT.12.5) } \\ \mbox{ XLNGTH.GT.12.5) } \\ \mbox{ IF(yLNGTH.GT.10.0) } \\ \mbox{ YLNG = XLNGTH} \\ \mbox{ YLNG = YLNGTH} \\ \mbox{ YLNG = YLNGTH} \\ \mbox{ XLNGT + 1.2.2XXLNGTH} \\ \mbox{ NWDTH = (6*NSWEEP)/5} \\ \mbox{ DO 3 } \mbox{ I = 1, 1024} \\ \mbox{ Y(1) = 0.} \end{array}$	SNAR012B SNAR012C SNAR012C SNAR012E SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012H SNAR0136 SNAR013B
	<pre>899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.10.0) YLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NWDTH = (A*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = 1</pre>	SNAR012R SNAR012C SNAR012C SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012I SNAR012I SNAR013A SNAR013A SNAR013A
	<pre>899 FORMAT(6[3,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.10.0) YLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NWDTH = (6*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0</pre>	SNAR012A SNAR012C SNAR012D SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012H SNAR012H SNAR012C SNAR013A SNAR013A SNAR013C
	<pre>899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.10.0) YLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NNDTH = (6*NSWEEP)/5 D0 3 I= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(I) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024</pre>	SNARO12A SNARO12C SNARO12D SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12B SNARO13C SNARO13A SNARO13C SNARO13C SNARO13C
C	<pre>899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.10.0) YLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NMOTH = (.6*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 </pre>	SNARO12B SNARO12C SNARO12D SNARO12D SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12G SNARO12G SNARO13C SNARO13G SNARO13G SNARO13G SNARO13C
	899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.10.0) YLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NWDTH = (6*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM.	SMARO12B SMARO12C SMARO12D SMARO12D SMARO12F SMARO12F SMARO12G SMARO12G SMARO13A SMARO13A SMARO13D SMARO13D SMARO13D SMARO13C SMARO13F SMARO13F SMARO13F
C C C	899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NWOTH = (6*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 	SMARO12B SMARO12C SMARO12D SMARO12F SMARO12F SMARO12F SMARO12F SMARO12T SMARO136 SMARO13B SMARO13D SMARO13D SMARO13D SMARO13F SMARO13F
C C C	899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.10.0) YLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NMOTH = (A*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. 4 READ (5,5) NPOINT, NALIGN 5 FORMAT (215)	SMARO12B SMARO12C SMARO12D SMARO12D SMARO12D SMARO12F SMARO12C SMARO12C SMARO13C SMA
C C C	899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.10.0) YLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NWDTH = (6*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. 4 READ (5,5) NPOINT, NALIGN 5 FORMAT (215) GALL OCTHEX(L.NPOINT)	SMAROIZA SMAROIZO SMAROIZO SMAROIZO SMAROIZO SMAROIZO SMAROIZO SMAROIZO SMAROI3A SMAROI3A SMAROI3A SMAROI30 SMAROI30 SMAROI36 SMAROI31 SMAROI31 SMAROI31 SMAROI31
C C C C	899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NNDTH = (.6*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. 4 READ (5.5) NPOINT, NALIGN 5 FORMAT (215) CALL 0CTHEX(L,NPOINT) IF(NRELCT.E0.0) CALL RELCTI(L.NPOINT)	SMARO12B SMARO12C SMARO12D SMARO12F SMARO12F SMARO12F SMARO12F SMARO12F SMARO12G SMARO13G SMARO13G SMARO13D SMARO13D SMARO13D SMARO13B SMARO13G SMARO13G SMARO14B SMARO146 SMARO146
с с с с с	899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NMOTH = (A*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. 4 READ (5.5) NPOINT, NALIGN 5 FORMAT (215) CALL DCTHEX(L.NPOINT) IF(NRFLCT.EQ.0) CALL RFLCT1(L.NPOINT)	SMARO12B SMARO12C SMARO12D SMARO12D SMARO12D SMARO12D SMARO12C SMARO12C SMARO12C SMARO13C SMARO13C SMARO13C SMARO13C SMARO13C SMARO13C SMARO13C SMARO13C SMARO13C SMARO13C SMARO13C SMARO13C SMARO14C SMARO14C SMARO14C SMARO14C
с. с. с.	899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NNDTH = (.6*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. 4 READ (5.5) NPOINT, NALIGN 5 FORMAT (215) CALL 0CTHEX(L.NPOINT) IF(NRFLCT.EQ.0) CALL RFLCT1(L.NPOINT) ALIGN THE SCANS.	SMARO12B SMARO12C SMARO12D SMARO12D SMARO12F SMARO12F SMARO12F SMARO12G SMARO12I SMARO13A SMARO13A SMARO13D SMARO13D SMARO13G SMARO13G SMARO13G SMARO13F SMARO13G SMARO13G SMARO14D SMARO14D
	899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NNDTH = (*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. 4 READ (5,5) NPOINT, NALIGN 5 FORMAT (215) CALL OCTHEX(L,NPOINT) IF(NRFLCT.EQ.0) CALL RFLCT1(L.NPOINT) ALIGN THE SCANS.	SMARO12B SMARO12C SMARO12F SMARO12F SMARO12F SMARO12F SMARO12G SMARO12G SMARO12G SMARO13C SMARO13C SMARO13C SMARO13C SMARO13C SMARO13C SMARO13C SMARO13C SMARO13C SMARO13C SMARO14C SMARO14C SMARO14C SMARO14C SMARO14C SMARO14C SMARO14C
	899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH NWDTH = (6*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 2*XLNGTH NWDTH = (6*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. 	SMARO12B SMARO12C SMARO12D SMARO12D SMARO12D SMARO12F SMARO12F SMARO12G SMARO12G SMARO13A SMARO13A SMARO13A SMARO13B SMARO13B SMARO13B SMARO13B SMARO13B SMARO13B SMARO13B SMARO13B SMARO13B SMARO13B SMARO13B SMARO14A SMARO14A SMARO14A SMARO14C SMARO14C SMARO14C
	899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NNDTH = (6*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. 4 READ (5,5) NPOINT, NALIGN 5 FORMAT (215) CALL 0CTHEX(L,NPOINT) IF(NRFLCT.EQ.0) CALL RFLCT1(L.NPOINT) ALIGN THE SCANS. 14 IF (NALIGN) 7,10,10 7 LBIG = 0	SMAR012B SMAR012B SMAR012D SMAR012F SMAR012F SMAR012F SMAR012F SMAR012F SMAR012F SMAR012F SMAR013G SMAR013G SMAR013G SMAR013G SMAR013G SMAR013G SMAR014G SMAR014G SMAR014G SMAR014G SMAR014G SMAR014G SMAR014G SMAR014G
	899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NNDTH = (**NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. 4 READ IS.5) NPOINT, NALIGN 5 FORMAT (215) CALL 0CTHEX(L,NPOINT) IF(NRFLCT.EC0.0) CALL RFLCT1(L.NPOINT) 4 IF (NALIGN) 7,10,10 7 LBIG = 0 DO 9 I = 1, NPOINT 0 0 9 I = 1, NPOINT	SNARO12B SNARO12C SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12G SNARO12G SNARO12G SNARO13C SNARO13C SNARO13B SNARO13B SNARO13B SNARO13B SNARO13B SNARO13B SNARO13C SNARO13B SNARO14C SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO14G
	899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NWDTH = (6*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. 4 READ (5,5) NPOINT, NALIGN 5 FORMAT (215) CALL OCTHEX(L,NPOINT) IF(NRFLCT.EQ.0) CALL RFLCTJ(L.NPOINT) ALIGN THE SCANS. 14 IF (NALIGN) 7,10,10 7 LBIC = 0 DO 9 I = 1, NPOINT IF (LBIC = L(1)) 8,9,9	SMARO12B SMARO12B SMARO12B SMARO12D SMARO12F SMARO12F SMARO12F SMARO12G SMARO12G SMARO13A SMARO13A SMARO13D SMARO13D SMARO13B SMARO13B SMARO13B SMARO13B SMARO13B SMARO13B SMARO13B SMARO13B SMARO13B SMARO13B SMARO13B SMARO14B SMARO14A SMARO14A SMARO14A SMARO14A SMARO14A
	899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NWOTH = (.*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. 4 READ (5.5) NPOINT, NALIGN 5 FORMAT (215) CALL OCTHEX(L,NPOINT) IF(NRFLCT.EC.0) CALL RFLCTI(L.NPOINT) ALIGN THE SCANS. 14 IF (NALIGN) 7,10,10 7 LBIG = 0 DO 9 I = 1, NPOINT IF (NELIGN = L(1)) 8,9,9 8 IBIG = 1	SNAR012B SNAR012C SNAR012D SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR013G SNAR013G SNAR013D SNAR013G SNAR013G SNAR013G SNAR013G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G
	<pre>899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NNDTH = (6*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. READ IN THE SPECTRUM. READ IN THE SPECTRUM. ALLGN THE SCANS. 14 IF (NALIGN) 7,10,10 7 LBIG = 0 DO 9 I = 1, NPOINT IF (LBIG - L(1) 8,9,9 8 IBIG =1 LBIG = L(1) POINT IN THE SEANS. 14 IF (LBIG - L(1) 8,9,9 15 IST (1) 15 IST</pre>	SNARO12B SNARO12C SNARO12C SNARO12C SNARO12C SNARO12F SNARO12G SNARO12G SNARO12G SNARO13A SNARO13A SNARO13C SNARO13D SNARO13G SNARO13G SNARO13G SNARO14A SNARO14A SNARO14H SNARO14F SNARO14F SNARO14F SNARO14F SNARO14F SNARO14F SNARO14F
	899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NNDTH = (6*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. 4 READ (5.5) NPOINT, NALIGN 5 FORMAT (215) CALL 0CTHEX(L.NPOINT) IF(NRFLCT.GQ.0) CALL RFLCTI(L.NPOINT) IF(NRFLCT.GQ.0) CALL RFLCTI(L.NPOINT) IF(NRFLCT.GQ.0) CALL RFLCTI(L.NPOINT) 14 IF (NALIGN) 7,10,10 7 LBIG = 0 DO 9 I = 1. NPOINT IF (LBIG = L(11) 8,9,9 8 IBIG = 1 LBIG = L(11) 9 CONTINUE	SNARO12B SNARO12C SNARO12D SNARO12D SNARO12D SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO13D SNARO13D SNARO13D SNARO13D SNARO13G SNARO13G SNARO13G SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14A SNARO15A SNARO15A SNARO15A
	899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NNUTH = (**NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. 4 READ (5,5) NPOINT, NALIGN 5 FORMAT (215) CALL 0CTHEX(L,NPOINT) IF(NRFLCT.EG.0) CALL RFLCTI(L,NPOINT) 4 LIGN THE SCANS. 14 IF (NALIGN) 7.10.10 7 LBIG = 0 DO 9 I = 1, NPOINT IF (LBIG - L(1)) 8.9.9 8 IBIG =1 LBIG = L(1) 9 CONTINUE NALIGN = IBIG - NBIG NALIGN = IBIG - NBIG	SNARO12B SNARO12C SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12G SNARO12G SNARO13G SNARO13G SNARO13D SNARO13D SNARO13D SNARO13D SNARO13G SNARO13G SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO14G SNARO15A SNARO15S
	899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NWDTH = (6*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. 4 READ (5,5) NPOINT, NALIGN 5 FORMAT (215) GALL OCTHEX(L,NPOINT) IF(NRFLCT.E0.0) CALL RFLCTI(L.NPOINT) ALIGN THE SCAMS. 14 IF (NALIGN) 7,10,10 7 LBIG = 0 00 0 I = 1, NPOINT IF (LBIG - L(1)) 8,9,9 8 IBIG = 1 LBIG = 1 LBIG = NBIG MALIGN = IBIG - NBIG 400 FORMAT(//,5X,60HTHE SCAN WHOSE MAXIMUM IS FARTHEST TO THE LEFT M IT BE BEAD IN FIRSL.]	SNARO12B SNARO12B SNARO12B SNARO12D SNARO12D SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12G SNARO12G SNARO13A SNARO13A SNARO13B SNARO13D SNARO13B SNARO13B SNARO13B SNARO13B SNARO13B SNARO13B SNARO14D SNARO14A SNARO15A SNARO15A SNARO15A
	899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NNDTH = (6*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. 4 READ (5,5) NPOINT, NALIGN 5 FORMAT (215) CALL 0CTHEX(L,NPOINT) IF(NRFLCT.EQ.0) CALL RFLCT1(L.NPOINT) IF(NRFLCT.EQ.0) CALL RFLCT1(L.NPOINT) CALIGN THE SCANS. 14 IF (NALIGN) 7,10,10 7 LBIG = 0 DO 9 I = 1, NPOINT IF (NALGN) 7,10,10 7 LBIG = 1 LBIG = 1 LBIG = 1 LBIG = 1 LBIG = 1 LBIG = 1 IF (NALGN) FIRST.) IF (NALGN N FIRST.) IF (NALGN N FIRST.) IF (NALGN N FIRST.) IF (NALGN N FIRST.)	SNAR012B SNAR012B SNAR012B SNAR012D SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR013G SNAR013G SNAR013G SNAR013G SNAR013G SNAR013G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015C SNAR015C SNAR015C SNAR015C
	899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NNDTH = (*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. 4 READ (5,5) NPOINT, NALIGN 5 FORMAT (215) CALL 0CTHEX(L,NPOINT) IF(NRFLCT.EG.0) CALL RFLCT1(L.NPOINT) 4 IF (NALIGN) 7,10,10 7 LBIG = 0 DO 9 I = 1, NPOINT IF (LBIG - L(1)) 8,9,9 8 IBIG =1 LBIG = L(1) 9 CONTINUE NALIGN = IBIG - NBIG 400 FDRMAT(//,5X.69HTHE SCAN WHOSE MAXIMUM IS FARTHEST TO THE LEFT M IT MALIGN.GE.0) GO TO 10 WRITE (6,400)	SNAR0128 SNAR0127 SNAR0127 SNAR0127 SNAR0127 SNAR0127 SNAR0126 SNAR0126 SNAR0126 SNAR0127 SNAR0127 SNAR0127 SNAR0130 SNAR0130 SNAR0130 SNAR0136 SNAR0144 SNAR0146 SNAR0156 SNA
	899 FORMATI(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NWDTH = (6*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. 4 READ (5,5) NPOINT, NALIGN 5 FORMAT (215) CALL OCTHEX(L.NPOINT) IF(NRFLCT.EQ.0) CALL RFLCTI(L.NPOINT) CALIGN THE SCAMS. 4 IF (NALIGN) 7.10.10 7 LBIG = 0 DO 9 I = 1. NPOINT IF (LBIG - L(11) 8.9.9 8 IBIG =1 LBIG = 1 LBIG = 0 YANGE NALIGN = NBIG 400 FDRMAT(//.5X.60HTHE SCAN WHOSE MAXIMUM IS FARTHEST TO THE LEFT M IT BE READ IN FIRST.] IF(NALIGN.GE.0) GO TO 10 WRITE (6.400) GO TO 100	SNAR012B SNAR012B SNAR012B SNAR012D SNAR012D SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR013D SNAR013D SNAR013D SNAR013D SNAR013B SNAR013B SNAR013B SNAR013B SNAR014B SNAR014B SNAR014B SNAR014A SNAR014A SNAR014A SNAR014A SNAR014A SNAR014A SNAR014B SNAR014A SNAR014B SNAR014A SNAR014B SNAR014B SNAR015B SNAR015F SNAR015F SNAR015F SNAR015F SNAR015F
000	<pre>899 FORMAT(613,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NWOTH = (*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. 4 READ (5,5) NPOINT, NALIGN 5 FORMAT (215) CALL OCTHEX(L,NPOINT) IF(NRFLCT.EC0.0) CALL RFLCTI(L.NPOINT) CALLGN THE SCANS. 14 IF (NALIGN) 7,10,10 7 LBIG = 0 DO 9 I = 1, NPOINT IF (NALIGN) 7,10,10 7 LBIG = 1 LBIG = 1 LBIG = 1 LBIG = 1 LBIG = 1 NBIG NALIGN = IBIG - NBIG 400 FORMAT(//S,400THE SCAN WHOSE MAXIMUM IS FARTHEST TO THE LEFT M IT BE READ IN FIRST.) IF(NALIGN.GE.0) GO TO 10 MRITE (6,400] GO TO 100 IO CONTINUE NALEN 10 CONTINUE NALIGN = 0 10 CONTINUE 10 CONTINUE 1</pre>	SNAR012B SNAR012C SNAR012B SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR013G SNAR013G SNAR013G SNAR013G SNAR013G SNAR013G SNAR014G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015G
000 000	899 FORMATIGI3,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NWDTH = (6*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y1]) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. 	SNARO12B SNARO12B SNARO12B SNARO12D SNARO12D SNARO12D SNARO12B SNARO12B SNARO12B SNARO12B SNARO13D SNARO13D SNARO13D SNARO13D SNARO13D SNARO13D SNARO13D SNARO13D SNARO13D SNARO14D SNARO14D SNARO14A SNARO14A SNARO14A SNARO14A SNARO14A SNARO14A SNARO14A SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO15B
	899 FORMATIGI3,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NNDTH = (6*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. 4 READ (5.5) NPOINT, NALIGN 5 FORMAT (215) CALL OCTHEX(L.NPOINT) IF(NRFLCT.GQ.0) CALL RFLCT1(L.NPOINT) C ALIGN THE SCANS. 14 IF (NALIGN) 7,10,10 7 LBIG = 0 DO 9 I = 1. NPOINT IF (LBIG - L(11) 8,9,9 8 IBIG = 1 LBIG = 1 LBIG = L(11) 9 CONTINUE NALIGN = IBIG - NBIG NALIGN = IBIG - NBIG NALIGN = IBIG - NBIG NALIGN = IBIG - NBIG NALIGN = INF(ST.) IF(NALIGN.GE.0) GO TO 10 WRITE (6,400) GO TO 100 IO CONTINUE IMAX = NPOINT - NALIGN L0 = 0	SNARO12B SNARO12B SNARO12B SNARO12D SNARO12D SNARO12D SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO12F SNARO13D SNARO13D SNARO13D SNARO13D SNARO13D SNARO13D SNARO13G SNARO13F SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14A SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO14B SNARO15F SNARO155 SNA
	899 FORMATIGI3,2F7.2) ITEST = 1 IF(XLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=12.5 IF(YLNGTH.GT.12.5) XLNGTH=10.0 XLNG = XLNGTH YLNG = YLNGTH XLNGTH = 1.2*XLNGTH NWDTH = (*NSWEEP)/5 DO 3 [= 1, 1024 Y(1) = 0. 3 X(1) = I NREAD = 0 NPT = 1024 READ IN THE SPECTRUM. 4 READ (5.5) NPOINT, NALIGN 5 FORMAT (215) CALL 0CTHEX(L,NPOINT) IF(NRFLCT.EG.0) CALL RFLCT1(L,NPOINT) CALIGN THE SCANS. 14 IF (NALIGN) 7,10,10 7 LBIG = 0 DO 9 I = 1, NPOINT IF (NALIGN) 7,10,10 7 LBIG = L(1) 9 COMTINUE NALIGN = IBIG - NBIG 400 FORMAT(//S,K-60HTHE SCAN WHOSE MAXIMUM IS FARTHEST TO THE LEFT M IT BE READ IN FIRST.) IF(NALIGN.GE.0) GO TO 10 MRITE (6.400] GO TO 100 10 CONTINUE IMAX = NPOINT - NALIGN L0 = 0 L0MAX = IMAX/20	SNAR012B SNAR012C SNAR012D SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR012F SNAR013G SNAR013G SNAR013G SNAR013G SNAR013G SNAR013G SNAR013G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR014G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015G SNAR015G

. 80	10 = L0+L(1)	SNAR016D
	LO = LO/LOMAX	SNAR016E
č	ADD THE SCANS.	SNAR016G
C	***************************************	SNAR016H
67 .	DG 11 I = 1, IMAX	SNAROLGI
	YL = L(K)-L0	SNAR017A
11	Y(1) = Y(1) + YL	SNAR0178
C	AFI = HINU(NFI((HAX)	SNARO17C
č	IF THIS IS THE FIRST SCAN FIND THE MAXIMUM.	SMARO17E
C		SNAR017F
15	YBIG = 0.	SMARD17G
	00 17 1 = 1, MPOINT	SMARGITE
	1F 1Y816 - Y11)) 16,17.17	SNAROINE
10	VRIG = V(I)	SNARO18B
17	CONTINUE	SNAR018C
18	NREAD = NREAD + 1	SNARO18D
C	IF INSILIC - NREAD) 14.14.4	SNAROIRE
č	ALL SCANS HAVE BEEN READ IN, ALIGNED, AND ADDED. WE NOW FIND	SNARO18G
C	THE MAXIMUM OF THE COMBINED SPECTRUM.	SNAR018H
19	YBIG = 0.	SNAR019E
	DO 117 1=1,NPT	SNAR019A
	IF(YBIG-Y(I)) 116,117,117	SNAR0198
116	YBIG = Y(I)	SNAR019D
117	CONTINUE	SNAR019E
C	IF(NSIG) 20,200,22	SNAR019F
c	USE THE ENTIRE SPECTRUM FOR THE LINE SHAPE.	SNAR019H
C		SNAR0191
20	DO 21 $I = 1$, NPT	SNAR0205
21	NSPT = NPT	SNAR020B
	NSMAX = NBIG	SNAR020C
	SMAX = Y(NBIG)	SNAR020D
C		SNAR020F
С	SELECT PART OF THE SPECTRUM FOR THE LINE SHAPE.	SNAR020G
C	VEIT - EIT+V/MBIC)	SNAROZOH
200	DO 201 I=1,NBIG	SNAR0216
	IF(YFIT-Y(1)) 202,201,201	SNAR021A
201	CONTINUE NEIT = 1	SNAR0218
	NN . NBIG-NFIT	SNAR0210
-	NSFIT = NFIT-NN	SNAR021E
	NSFII = MAXO(1,NSFII) NSFT = Table	CN480715
	NTEMP . NPT-NSFIT	
	NSPT = MINO(NSPT, NTEMP)	
	SMAX = Y(NBIG)	SNAR021H
	DO 203 1=1.NSPT	SNAR0211
202	K = 1 + NSFIT	SNAR022E
203	GO TO 27	SNAR0228
C		SNAROZZC
C	READ IN THE LINE SHAPE.	SNAR0220
22	READ (5+1) NSPT	SNAR022F
	CALL OCTHEX(L,NSPT)	SNAR022G
	DO 24 1 = 1. NSPT	SNAR0221
	S(I) = L(I) - L(I)	SNAR0236
	IF (SMAX - S(1)) 23,24,24	SNAR023A
23	SMAX = S(I)	SNAR023C
24	CONTINUE	SNAR023D
C	IF(NRFLCT.EQ.O) CALL RFLCTR(S.NSPT)	SNAR023E
č	FILTER THE SPECTRUM.	SNAR023G
C		SNAR023H
28	CALL REMOVE(NBIG, X, Y, FIT, FI, B, NPT, NFIT, ABNONC, NSWEEP, SWEEP, SEPRTE	SNAR024E
20	1NWDTH,NRFLCT,A,PHI,IFPLOT(1))	SNAR024A
	CALL FILTER (NSTON, S, NSPT, NFIT, NSMAX, SMAX, FI, FO, H, SDM, SWEEP, NSWEEP	SNAR0248
	NFIPT = NFIT	SNAR024D
2.5	GO TO 30	SNAR024E
29	LALL FILLER (NSTON, S. NSPT, NPT, NSMAX, SMAX, Y, FO, H, SOM, SWEEP, NSWEEP, IHELP, 1950)	SNAR024F
C	***************************************	-SNAR024H
c	SET THE PARAMETERS FOR PLOTTING FI(T).	SNAR0241
[NFIPT - NPT	SNAR0254
30	TITLE(3) = 1.	SNAR0258
*	TITLE(1) = LABEL(1)	SNARD25C

		YMIN = -0.8+Y(NBIG)	SNAR0250
2		WHAX = 1.2=Y(NBIG)	SNAR025E
20		NXO = NBIG	SNAR025G
C-		IF(NSTON.LT.0) GO 10 300	-SNAR025H
C		CALCULATE THE AVERAGE ENHANCEMENT OF THE SIGNAL-TO-NOISE	SNAR026E
č-		RAILU WHICH WOULD RESULT FROM A MATCHED FILTER.	-SNAR0268
		SIGMA = 0,	SNAR026C
		00 46 1=2,NSPT	SNAR026E
	46	\$\$Q(1) = \$\$Q(1~1) + {\${1}}**2 DO 44 J=1_NFIPT	SNAR026F
		K = NSMAX - J	SNAR026H
		IMAX = NSPT - K IMAX = MINO(NFIPT.IMAX)	SNAR0261 SNAR0276
		IMIN = 1-K	SNAR027A
		ININ = MAXOTI+IMIN) IXX = IMAX+K	SNAR0278 SNAR027C
		INK = IMIN+K	SNAR027D
	44	SIGMA = SIGMA+SURI(SSU(IXK)-SSU(INR)) #IMPT = NFIPT	SNAR027E
	200	ENHCHT # SIGNA/(SMAX+FINPT)	SNAR0276
C-	300][(NRFLC)]]]++1++4	-SNAR027T
£		REFLECT AND SHIFT THE SPECTRUM.	SNARO285
1	*7	NBIG = NPT-HBIG+1	SNAR0205
	h	CALL RPLOTREY (NPT)	SNAR0200
		CALL RELCTRIFO, NEIPT)	SNAR028E
		D0 501 1=1,NF1PT	SNAR028G
	501	FO(NPT-I+1) = FO(NFIPT-I+1)	SNAR028H
		BIG = 10.*Y(NBIG)	SNAR0296
	502	$\frac{D0}{D0} = \frac{1}{1}K$	SNAR029A
		NFIPT = NPT	SNAR029C
c- c		PLOT F1(T).	-SNAR029D SNAR029E
c-			-SNAR029F
	51	IF(IFPLUI(2).EQ.2) ICALL VLABEL(0.,0.,8,1.2,YLNG,10,YAXIS,10,1,FMTV,8)	SNAR0296
		IF(IFPLOT(2).EQ.2)	SNAR0291
		IF(IFPLOT(2).GE.1)	SNAR030A
		ICALL CPLOT(Y,NPT,NWDTH,TITLE,YMAX,YMIN,1)	SNAR0308
c-			-SNAR030D
C.		PLOT S(T).	SNAR030E
C		TITLE(1) = LABEL(2)	SNAR030G
		TMIN = -0.8 * SMAX $TMAX = 1.2 * SMAX$	SNAR030H
		IF(IFPLOT(3).EQ.2)	SNAR0316
		ICALL VLABEL(0.,0.,8,1.2,YLNG,10,YAXIS,10,1,FMIV,8) IF(IFPLOT(3).EQ.2)	SNAR0318
	<i>x</i> .	1CALL VLABEL 10.,0.,0.,SWEEP,XLNG,5,XAX1S,15,0,FMTH,8)	SNAR031C
		ICALL CPLOT(S, NSPT, NWDTH, TITLE, TMAX, TMIN, 1)	SNAR031E
с.		IF(NSTON.LE.O) GO TO 500	SNAR031F
č		PLOT H(T)	SNAR031H
C-		IF(NRFLCT.GE.O) CALL RFLCTR(H.NSPT)	SNAR0311 SNAR0326
	305	TITLE(1) = LABEL(5)	SNAR032A
		00 707 1=1,NSPT	SNAR0326
	707	ABSOL = ABS(H(1))	SNAR032D
	107	HMIN # -HMAX	SNAR032F
		IF(1FPLOT(4).EQ.2)	SNAR032G
	•	1F(1FPLOT(4).EQ.2)	SNAR0321
		ICALL VLABEL(0.,0.,SWEEP,XLNG,5,XAXIS,15,0,FMTH,8) IF(IFPLOT(4).GE.1)	SNAR0336 SNAR033A
	500	ICALL CPLOT(H,NSPT,NHDTH,TITLE,HMAX,HMIN,1)	SNAR0338
-	200	IF1YSCALE131,31,33	SNAR033D
C C		DETERMINE THE SCALE FUR THE INPUT AND DUTPUT SPECTOA.	SNAR033E
č			SNAR033G
	31	FOMAX = 0.	SNAR033H
		MINI = 1 IGINESICE (5.0) MINE - NEIDE NOUT -	SNAR0346
		DO 32 I=MINI +NFIPT	SNAR034A
	32	FOMIN = AMIN1(FOMIN,FO(I)) FOMAX = AMAX1(FOMAX_FO(I))	SNAR034C
		60 TO 34	SNAR034E
	33	FUMIN = YSCALE*YMIN FOMAX = YSCALE*YMAX	SNAR034F
	-25	and the second	

2	34	IF(NSIG) 35,36,36	NARO34H
c	-		SNAR0341
C		PLO FI() - F()	ENADO35A
C	35	TITIE()) - (ABE)(3)	NARO35A
	37		SNARO35C
	22	FIMAX = 10. +FOMAX	SNAR035D
		(FINRFLCT.GE.O) CALL RFLCTR(FI.NPT)	SNAR035E
	54	XMN = FIMIN/Y(NDIG)	SNAR035F
		XMX = FIMAX/Y(NB1G)	SNAR035G
		1F(1FPLOT(5).E0.2)	SNAR035H
		ICALL VLABEL(0.,0., XMN, XMX, YLNG, 10, YAXIS, 10, 1, FMIV, 8)	SNAR0351
		IF(IFPLOT(5).EQ.2)	SNAKUJOL
		ICAL VLABEL(0.,0.,0.,SWEEP,ALNG, S,AAIS, 12,0, FAIN, 0)	SNARO368
		ICALL COLOTED.NUDTH.TITLE.FUMAX.FIMIN.1)	SNAR036C
C			SNAR036D
c		PLOT FO(T) WITH OR WITHOUT ERROR BARS.	SNAR036E
C-			SNAR036F
	36	TITLE(1) = LABEL(4)	SNAR036G
		IF(NSTON) 38,37,38	SNAR036H
C-			SNAR0361
č -		PLUI THE GRUK BAKS.	CNARO374
·	37	NOTH = NUNTH	SNAR0378
	2.	D0 45 J=1.NOUT.20	SNAR037C
		IF(NRFLCT) 56,55,55	SNAR037D
	55	K = NFIPT-J+1	SNAR037F
		GD TO 75	SNAR037F
	56	- K = J	SNAR037G
	15		SNAR037H
		WIDE = WDINT+(10./XLNGIN) HIGHT = (EGMAY-EGMIN)#/10 /VINCTH1+EGMIN	SNARU371
	45	CALL ERDIOT (T. FO(K), SOM(1), 0 NIDE FOMIN, HIGHT-0.13)	SNARUSOG
	38		SNAR0388
	20	XMX = FDMAX/Y(NBIG)	SNAR038C
		IF(IFPLOT(6).EQ.2)	SNAR038D
2		ICALL VLABEL(0.,0.,XMN,XMX,YLNG,10,YAXIS,10,1.FNTV,8)	SNAR038E
		IF(IFPLDT(6).EQ.2)	SNAR038F
		1CALL VLABEL(0.,0.,0.,SWEEP,XLNG,5,XAXIS,15,0,FMTH.8)	SNAR038G
		IFIIFFLUI(6).GE.I)	SNARUSEM
F		ICALL CPLOTIFO, AFIFT, AND IN, TILE, FORAX, FORIN, \$1	CHAROSOI
č		PRINT OUT THE PARAMETERS AND NUMERICAL RESULTS.	SNAR039A
ē-			SNAR0398
		WRITE (6.101) (DSCRPT(1).[=1.20)	SNAR039C
-a-		WRITE (6.42) TITLE(2), NSWEEP, NSTITL, NSIG, NRFLCT, METON, SWEEP, FIT.	SNAR0390
		1YSCALF, ENHCHT, ABNDNC, SEPRTE, 1PSDL	SNAR039E
		WRITE (6,302) HELP	SNAR039F
	20	IF(NSIG) 39,40,40	SNAR039G
	34	AA = B(1)/T(BB(G))	SNAKUSAH
		U = D(2)/SWKI(D(3)) WATH = NSWEED	SNAROSOI
		YO = (WDTH/SWEEP)	SNAR0404
		BB= B(3)*(Y0**2)	SNAR040B
		$x_0 = Nx_0$	SNAR040C
		X0 = (X0-B(4))/Y0	SNAR040D
		YO = B(5)/Y(NBIG)	SNAR040E
		WKI1E(0,43) AA,U,BB,XU,YU Dut $=$ Dut (MAY#2)/(CCOMEDIATIV()/DEICIA EAADDD()/A#2))	SNARU4UF
		PHI = PHI+(SMAX*+2)/(SSQ(NSPI)*((T(NBIG)+.5*ABNUNC)*+2)) WRITE (6.998) PHI	SNAR040G
		WRITE $(6, 999)$ $((A(1, 4), 1=1, 5), J=1, 5)$	SNAR0401
	40	CONTINUE	SNAR0416
		WRITE (6,77)	SNAR041A
	77	FORMAT(1H1)	SNAR0418
	101	FORMAT (1H1,1X,20A4)	SNAR041C
	42	TURMAILLA, A4, / ./. IX, 9HNSWEEP = . 15./. IX, 9HNSTITL = . 15./. 3X, 7HNSIG	SNAR0410
		1 - +13+/+14.49000000 = +13+/+24+8000000 = +13+/+24+80500000 = +11- 25+/+42+600000000000000000000000000000000000	SNAR041E
		3.1././.1X.9HABNDNC = .F7.5./.1X.9HSEPRTE = .F11.5./.2X.8HIPCDI = .	SNAR0416
		415)	SNAR041H
	43	5 FORMAT (/,24X,3H1/2,/,15X,20H(1 - D*8 * (X-X0)),/,1X, 34HL(X)	SNAR0411
		1= Y0 + A*,/,30X,1H2,/,16X,17H(1 + B*(X-X0))	SNAR0426
		2,/,/,2X,4HA = ,E16.8,/,2X,4HD = ,E16.8,4X,1H2,/,2X,4HB = ,E16.8,4H	ISNAR04ZA
	305	> / TL + / + LA + DHAU = + E16.8, 3H HZ + / + 1X + 5HYO = + E16.8}	SNAR0428
	202	1)	SNAR0420
	998	FORMAT(//,5X,6HPHI = ,E16.8,6H E(FI),//)	SNAR042E
	999	FORMAT(40X,18HCORRELATION MATRIX,5(/,1X,5F19.6))	SNAR042F
	100	CUNTINUE	SNAR042G
		END	SNARU4ZH
		SUBROUTINE REMOVE (NBIG.X.Y.FIT.FI.B.NPT.NEIT.ABNDNC.NSWEEP.SWEEP	REMUDDOA
		1, SEPRTE, NWDTH, NRFLCT, A, PHI, IFPLOT)	REMODOOB
с-			REMDOOOC
C		THIS SUBROUTINE REMOVES THE PAKENT PEAK.	REMODOOD
C-			-REMODOOE
		UIMENSION X(1024),Y(1024),FI(1024),FPRIME(5),XFIT(5),YFIT(5),8(5)	REMOCOOF
		COMMON/COMPRESSION DUISIAATS, 51, 5000000, 0000000000000000000000000	REMODOOG
		DOUBLE PRECISION CMTX	REMODOOL
		DIMENSION CMTX(5,5)	REMODOLS
		RFAL LAMDAZ, LAMBDA	REMODOLA
		DD(1) = 0,	REMODOLA
DO	(3) = 1.	REMODO1C	
--	--	---	
FI	TT = F[T*Y(NB1G)]	REMMODID	
0C	1 I = 1, NBIG	REMODOLE	
1 F	(Y(1) - F(TT) 1 + 1 + 2	REMODOLE	
1 60	NTINUE	REMO001G	
2 NF	fT = 1	REMODOLH	
C		-REMODOII	
C	SUBTRACT THE SATELLITE PEAK FROM THE PARENT PEAK FOR THE	REM00026	
C LE	AST-SQUARES FIT.	REMO002A	
C		-REMODO28	
51	FEPN = NSWEEP	REMODOZC	
41.	ALF = SEPRTE*(SWEEPN/SWEEP)	REM0002D	
I.F	(JHALF-LE-0) GO TO 23	REM0002E	
A	D = 0.5*ABNDNC	REMOD021	
14	AX = NPT-JHALF	REM0002G	
M.	X = MINO(NELT.IMAX)	REMO002H	
DC	21 I=1-MAX	REM00021	
21 4	(1) = Y(1) - ADD + Y(1 + JHAIF)	REM00036	
C		-REMUDOJA	
C	OBTAIN AN ADDROVINATE ELT HEINE ONLY EIVE DATA DOINTS.	REMORDER	
C	STATE AN AFFRICATION OF THE DATE TO THE STATE	-REMORANC	
24 XE	$T_{1}(1) = 1$	REMD003D	
YE	(1) = Y(1)	REMODOBE	
01	3 1 = 2.5	REM0003F	
·	= (1-1)*(NF1T/4)	REM00036	
XI	-IT (I) = J	REM0003H	
3 YF	T(1) = Y(1)	REM00031	
C		-REM00048	
С	SET THE INITIAL VALUES OF THE PARAMETERS, 8.	REMODO4A	
C		-REMODO48	
B	1) = Y(NBIG)	REMDO04C	
B	(2) = 0.	REM00040	
B	(4) = NBIG	REMOD04E	
8	(5) = 0.	REMUD04F	
8	(3) = (B(1)/(YFIT(5)) -1.)/(XFIT(5) - B(4))**2	REMU0046	
PI	+10 = 5.*B(1)**2	REMUO04H	
	SI = ((.05*ABNDNC)**2)*PHIO	REMUUU41	
L	AMDAZ = 0.01	REMODUSE	
· C.	ALL PHILLC(PHIZ+5+XFII+YF(1+F1+8+5)	REMUUUSA	
C	ALL LSQFII(5,5,XFII,YFII,FI,6,1,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBDA,	REMUUOSB	
IA	SQRIC, 1, ATEST, DELTA, BIEST)	REMOUDSC	
P		REMODOSE	
0		REMODORE	
L	AMUAL = LAMUA	REMODORE	
6	112 - FRI ALL I COETTIS, 6. VETT. VETT. ET. 8. 3. DHT. FORTME.I AMDA7. DHT7.I AMBDA.	REMODOSH	
14	CODE A ATECT DE LA DEETA	ALL HODOD	
		H - M(1111) A	
14	SURIC, I, AIESI, DECIA, DICSII	REMODOSI	
D	s_{s} (c), a_{t} (c), $a_{$	REMODOGE REMODOGE	
D 1 4 P	SURIC, IFATESI, OELTA, DIEST/ ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIG = PHI	REM00066 REM0006A REM0006A	
D 1 4 P C	SURIC, ITATEST, DELTA, DIEST/ ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI	REM00066 REM0006A REM0006B	
D I 4 P C C	FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS.	REM00051 REM00066 REM00068 REM00066 REM00060	
C C C	FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS.	REM00051 REM00066 REM00068 REM00066 REM00060 REM00066	
D I 4 P C C C 5 T	SURTU, ITATEST, DELTA, DEST, ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT	REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00060 REM00066 	
C C C C C C S T P	SURTU, ITATEST, DELTA, DIEST, ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T*(Y(NRIG))**?	REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00060 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066	
C C C C C C F T	SURTU, ITATEST, DECTADEST) ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4.4.5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T*(Y(NRIG))**? ST = (1.05*ABNDNC)**2)*PHIO	REM00051 REM00066 REM0006A REM0006B REM0006C REM0006C REM0006F REM0006F REM0006F	
C C C C C C C F P T L	SURTU, ITATEST, DELTA, DIEST, ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T*(Y(NRIG))**? HST = (1.05*ABNDNC)**?)*PHIO ANDA7 = 0.01	REM0006 REM0006A REM0006A REM0006B REM0006C REM0006C REM0006F REM0006F REM0006G REM0006H REM0006H	
C C C C C F T L C	SURTU, ITATEST, DECTADEST ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T*(Y(NRIG))**? HIO = T*(Y(NRIG))**? HIO = T*(Y(NRIG))**? HIO = T*(Y(NRIG))**? HIO = AUDITION (AUDITION (AUDITIO))))))))))))))))))))))	REM00051 REM00066 REM00068 REM00068 REM00068 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00061 REM00061 REM00078	
C C C C C D T T L C C C C	SURTU, ITATEST, DECTA, DIEST, ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T*(Y(NRIG))A#? EST = (L,05*ABNDNC)#*2)#PHIO AMDAY = 0,01 ALL PHICLC(PHIZ,NFIT,X,Y,FI,B,5) ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,1,PHI,FPKIMF,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBUA,	REM00066 REM0006A REM0006A REM0006D REM0006D REM0006D REM0006F REM0006F REM0006H REM0006H REM0006H REM00076 REM00074	
C C C C C T L C C C I A	<pre>sum(t,1;ATEST,0ELTA,0TEST) ELPH1 = PH10 - PH1 F (TEST - DELPH1) 4,4,5 H10 = PH1 FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT H10 = T*(Y(NRIG))**2 H5T = (1,05*ABNDNC)**2)*PH10 ANDA7 = 0.01 ALL PH1CLC(PHIZ,NFIT,X,Y,FI,B,5) ALL LS0FIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,1,PHI,FPKIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMB0A, .S0RTC,1;ATEST,0ELTA,HITST)</pre>	REM00066 REM00066 REM00068 REM00060 REM00060 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00061 REM00076 REM00078	
C C C C C T C C C C	<pre>SUBLET = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4.4.5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T&(Y(NRIG)) 0=2 EST = (1.05*ABNDNC)**2)*PHIO ANDAZ = 0.01 ALL PHICLC(PHIZ,NFIT,X,Y,FI,B.5) ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,S,X,Y,FI,B.1,PHI,FPKIMF,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBOA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BIFST) HIO = PHI</pre>	REM00051 REM0006A REM0006A REM0006C REM0006C REM0006F REM0006F REM0006F REM0006F REM0006F REM00076 REM0007A REM0007A REM0007A	
C C C C T T L C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	SURTU, IATEST, DELTA, BIEST ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T*(Y(NRIG))A#? EST = ((.05*ABNDNC)#*2)#FHIO AMDA7 = 0,01 ALL PHICLC(PHIZ,NFIT,X,Y,FI,B,1)PHI,FPKIMF,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBUA, SOBTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BIFST) HIO = PHI 0.6 I = 1,10	REM00051 REM00066 REM00060 REM00060 REM00060 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076	
C C C C C C C C C C C C	<pre>sum tt, if a rest, det if det if if</pre>	REM00051 REM00066 REM00060 REM00060 REM00060 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00061 REM00061 REM00070 REM00070 REM00070 REM00070	
4 P C C C T L C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	<pre>sum (L, I, A T EST, OECTA, DTEST) ELPH1 = PH10 - PH1 F (TEST - DELPH1) 4.4.5 H10 = PH1 FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT H10 = T*(Y(NRIG)) 4#7 SST = (L, 05*ABNDNC) **2]*FH10 AmDAZ = 0.01 ALL PHICLC(PHIZ, NFIT, X, Y, FI, B, 5) ALL LSOFIT(NFIT, S, X, Y, FI, B, 1, PHI, FPKIMF, LAMDAZ, PHIZ, LAMBOA, SORTC, 1, ATEST, OELTA, BIFST) H10 = PH1 O 6 I = 1,10 AmDAZ = LAMBDA H1Z = PHI </pre>	REM00051 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00064 REM00074 REM00074 REM00074 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076	
C C C C C C	<pre>SUB (L, I, A TEST, OELTA, DTEST) ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI F IND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T*(Y(NRIG))A#? EST = (L, O5*ARNORC)#*2)#FHIO AMDAY = 0,01 ALL PHICLC(PHIZ,NFIT,X,Y,FI,B,5) ALL SCHTT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,1,PHI,FPKIMF,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBUA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BIFST) HIO = PHI O 6 I = 1,10 AMDAZ = LAMBDA HIZ = PHI ALL (SCHTI(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBUA, SORTC, 1, ATEST, DE TA, BIFST)</pre>	REM00051 REM00066 REM00060 REM00060 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00070 REM00070 REM00070 REM00070 REM00070	
C C C C C C C C C C	<pre>sum tt, if a rest, optimises if optimis</pre>	REM00051 REM00066 REM00060 REM00060 REM00060 REM00060 REM00060 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00070 REM00070 REM00070 REM00077 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076	
С С С С С С С С С С С	<pre>SUBMIC, IFATEST, OPELTA, BIEST) ELIPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T*(Y(NBIG))**2 St = (1,05*ABNONC)**2]*PHIO AMDA7 = 0.01 ALL PHICLC(PHIZ,NFIT,X,Y,FI,B,5) ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,1,PHI,FPKIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBOA, SORTC,1,ATEST,ODELTA,BIEST) HIO = PHI O 6 I = 1,10 AMDA7 = LAMBOA HIZ = PHI ALL ESOFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMPUA, SORTC,1,ATEST,ODELTA,BIEST) ELPHI = PHIO FITEST - DELPHI)6,6,77</pre>	REM00051 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076	
C C C C C C	<pre>SUBTIC, IATEST, DELTA, BIEST) ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI F IND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T*(Y(NRIG))A*? EST = (L.05*ARNORC)**2)*PHIO AMDAZ = 0,01 ALL PHICLC(PHIZ,NFIT,X,Y,FI,B,5) ALL SOFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,1,PHI,FPKIMF,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBUA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BIEST) HIO = PHI O 6 I = 1,10 AMDAZ = LAMBOA HIZ = PHI ALL CSUFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBUA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BIEST) ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F(TEST- DELPHI)6,6,6,7 HIO = PHI</pre>	REM00051 REM00066 REM00060 REM00060 REM00060 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00060 REM00070 REM00070 REM00070 REM00070 REM00070 REM00070 REM00070 REM00070 REM00070	
C C	<pre>sum tt, if a rest, btc if a rest, ELPH = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,44,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T & (Y(NRIG)) &= 2 EST = (1.05*ABNDNC)**2)*PHIO ANDAZ = 0.01 ALL PHICL(PHIZ,NFIT,X,Y,FI,B,1) ALL PHICL(PHIZ,NFIT,X,Y,FI,B,1) ALL SUBJET(NFIT,S,X,Y,FI,B,1,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBDA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BIFST) HIO = PHI D 6 I = 1.10 ANDAZ = LAMBDA HIZ = PHI ALL CSOFIT(NFIT,S,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBDA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BIEST) ELPHI = PHIO - PHI FITEST - DELPHI) 6,6,7 HIO = PHI FILED,ION WRITE(6,9)</pre>	REM00051 REM00066 REM00060 REM00060 REM00060 REM00060 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00066 REM00068 REM00070 REM00070 REM00070 REM00070 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076 REM00076 REM00086 REM00086 REM00086	
С	<pre>SUB (L, LATEST, OELTA, BTEST) ELPH1 = PH10 - PH1 F (TEST - DELPH1) 4,4,5 H10 = PH1 FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT H10 = T*(Y(NRIG))**2 SST = (L, O5*ABNONC)**2]*PH10 AMDAZ = 0.01 ALL PHICLC(PHIZ, NFIT,X,Y,FI,B,5) ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,1,PHI,FPKIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBUA, SORTC,1,ATEST,OELTA,BIEST) H10 = PH1 O 6 T = 1,10 AMDAZ = LAMBDA H1Z = PH1 ALL (SGFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMPUA, SORTC,1,ATEST,OELTA,BIEST) ELPHI = PH10 FITEST DELPHI)6,6,7 H10 = PH1 FITEST DELPHI)6,6,7</pre>	REM0005 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM	
C C C C C C C C C C	<pre>SUBMIC, IFATEST, OPELTA, DIEST/ ELPHI = PHIO - PHI 4,4,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = TA(Y(NRIG)) A#2 HIO = AUDICLE (PHIZ, NFIT, Y, Y, FI, B, 5) ALL LSOFIT(NFIT, S, X, Y, FI, B, 1, PHI, FPKIME, LAMDAZ, PHIZ, LAMBUA, SORTC, 1, ATEST, DELTA, BIFST) HIO = PHI O 6 T = 1, HO AMDAZ = LAMBUA HIZ = PHI ALL CSOFIT(NFIT, S, X, Y, FI, B, 3, PHI, FPRIME, LAMDAZ, PHIZ, LAMBUA, SORTC, 1, ATEST, DELTA, BIFST) FITEST DELPHI)6, 6, 7 HIO = PHI FITEST DELPHI)6, 6, 7 HIO = PHI FILEO, 10) WRITE(6,9) CALCULATE THE CORRELATION MATRIX</pre>	REM00051 REM00066 REM00066 REM00060 REM00060 REM00060 REM00060 REM00060 REM00060 REM00060 REM00060 REM00060 REM00071 REM00071 REM00071 REM00071 REM00071 REM00071 REM00071 REM00071 REM00071 REM00071 REM00071 REM00071 REM00071 REM00071 REM00080 REM00080 REM00080	
C C	<pre>SUMIC, IATEST, DECTA, DIEST/ ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T#(Y(NRIG)) 4=2 SST = (L.05#ABNDNC)**2)*PHIO ANDA7 = 0.01 ALL PHICLC(PHIZ,NFIT,X,Y,FI,B,1)PHI,FPKIMF,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBOA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BTFST) HIO = PHI O 6 I = 1,10 ANDA2 = LAMBOA HIZ = PHI ALL ESGFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBOA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BTEST) ELPHI = PHIO ALL ESGFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBOA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BTEST) ELPHI = PHIO HI = PHI FITEST-DELPHI)6,6,7 HIO = PHI FI1.E0,101 WRITE(6,9) CALCULATE THE CORRELATION MATRIX</pre>	REM0005 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008	
C C C C C C	<pre>SUB (L, I A FEST, OELTA, BTEST) ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T*(Y(NRIG)) A#2 EST = (L, OS*ABNONC) ##21#PHIO AMDA7 = 0.01 ALL PHICLC(PHIZ, NFIT, X, Y, FI, B, 5) ALL LSOFIT(NFIT, 5, X, Y, FI, B, 1, PHI, FPKIME, LAMDAZ, PHIZ, LAMBUA, SORTC, 1, ATEST, OELTA, BIFST) HIO = PHI O 6 I = 1,10 AMDA2 = LAMBDA HIZ = PHI ALL CSOFIT(NFIT, 5, X, Y, FI, B, 3, PHI, FPRIME, LAMDAZ, PHIZ, LAMBUA, SORTC, 1, ATEST, OELTA, BIEST) ELPHI = PHIO ALL CSOFIT(NFIT, 5, X, Y, FI, B, 3, PHI, FPRIME, LAMDAZ, PHIZ, LAMBUA, SORTC, 1, ATEST, OELTA, BIEST) ELPHI = PHIO ALL CSOFIT(NFIT, 5, X, Y, FI, B, 3, PHI, FPRIME, LAMDAZ, PHIZ, LAMBUA, SORTC, 1, ATEST, OELTA, BIEST) ELPHI = PHIO CALCULATE THE CORRELATION MATRIX 0 40 [=1,5]</pre>	REM0005 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0007 REM0007 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008	
C C C C C C C C	<pre>SUBMIC, IFATEST, DECIMPTENT ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = TA(Y(NRIG)) 4#2 EST = (1.05#ABNDNC)##2)#PHIO ANDAZ = 0.01 ALL PHICL(PHIZ,NFIT.X,Y,FI,B,1) HIO = ALL PHICL(PHIZ,NFIT.X,Y,FI,B,1) HIO = PHI O 6 J = 1,10 ANDAZ = LAMBDA HIZ = PHI ANDAZ = LAMBDA HIZ = PHIO - PHI F(TEST- DELTA,BIEST) ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F(TEST- DELTA,BIEST) ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F(TEST- DELPHI)6,6,7 HIO = PHI F(11.EG.10) WRITE(6,9) CALCULATE THE CORRELATION MATRIX O 40 J=1,5</pre>	REM0005 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008	
C C C C C C C	<pre>SUB (L, LATEST, DECTA, DIEST) ELPH1 = PH10 - PH1 F (TEST - DELPH1) 4,4,5 H10 = PH1 FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT H10 = T*(Y(NBIG)) 4#7 SST = (L, 05*ABNONC) **21*PH10 AMDA7 = 0.01 ALL PHICLC(PHIZ, NFIT,X,Y,FI,B,5) ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,S,X,Y,FI,B,1,PHI,FPKIMF,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMB0A, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BIFST) H10 = PH1 0 6 I = 1,10 AMDA2 = LAMB0A H12 = PH1 ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,S,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMB0A, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BIFST) H10 = PH1 ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,S,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMB0A, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BIFST) ELPHI = PHI0 - PHI F(TEST - DELPH1)6,6,7 H10 = PH1 F(TEST - DELPH1)6,6,7 H10 = PH1 CALCULATE THE CORRELATION MATRIX 0 40 I=1,5 MTX(1,J) = A(I,J)</pre>	REM0005 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008	
C C C C C C C C C C C	<pre>SUB (L, LATEST, DELTA, DIEST) ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T*(Y(NRIG))**? SST = (L, 05*ABNDNC)**2]*PHIO AMDAZ = 0,01 ALL PHICLC(PHIZ,NFIT,X,Y,FI,B,5) ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,1,PHI,FPKIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBUA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BIEST) HIO = PHI O 6 I = 1,10 AMDAZ = LAMBDA HIZ = PHI ALL CSOFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBUA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BIEST) ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F(TEST - DELPHI)6,6,7 HIO = PHI F(ILEO,10) WRITE(6,9) CALCULATE THE CORRELATION MATRIX 0 40 I=1,5 0 40 J=1,5 MIX(I,J) = A(I,J) ALL ANDINY(CHTX,5,DETERM,0,.ITESD) ELTESD E0 YOUNG (J, 1) FOR A DETERM, 0, ITESD) ELTESD E0 YOUNG (J, 1) FOR A DETERM, 0, ITESD) ELTESD E0 YOUNG (J, 1) FOR A DETERM, 0, ITESD) ELTESD E0 YOUNG (J, 1) FOR A DETERM, 0, ITESD) ELTESD E0 YOUNG (J, 1) FOR A DETERM, 0, ITESD) ELTESD E0 YOUNG (J, 1) FOR A DETERM A DETERMINE A DETE</pre>	REM0005 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0007 REM0007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM0008 REM008 REM08 RE	
С С	<pre>SUBMIC, IFATEST, DECIMPTERN ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,44,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T&(Y(NRIG)) 4#2 EST = (1.05#ABNDNC)##2)#PHIO ANDAZ = 0.01 ALL PHICL(PHIZ,NFIT,X,Y,FI,B,5) ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,1,PHI,FPKIMF,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBDA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BTFST) HIO = PHI O 6 I = 1.10 ANDAZ = LAMBDA HIZ = PHI ALL CSOFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBDA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BTFST) ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F(TEST- DELPHI)6,6,7 HIO = PHI F(ITEST- DELPHI)6,6,7 HIO = 0 HI = 1,5 MIX(1,J) = A(1,J) ALL RNDINW(CMTX,5,DETERM,0.,ITESD) F(ITFSD,PE,0) WRITE(6,45) ITESD H(ITESD) F(ITFSD,PE,0) WRITE(6,45) ITESD H(ITESD) F(ITESD,PE,0) WRITE(6,45) ITESD H(ITESD) F(ITESD,PE,0) WRITE(6,45) ITESD H(ITESD) F(ITESD) F(ITESD,PE,0) WRITE(6,45) ITESD H(ITESD) F(I</pre>	REM0005 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0008 REM008 REM08 RE	
C C C C C C C	<pre>SUBMIC, IAREST, OELTADIEST/ ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T*(Y(NBIG)) 4#7 SST = (L.05*ABNONC)**21*PHIO AMDA7 = 0.01 ALL PHICL(PHIZ,NFIT,X,Y,FI,B,5) ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,S,X,Y,FI,B,1,PHI,FPKIMF,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBOA, SORTC,1,ATEST,OELTA,BIFST) HIO = PHI ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,S,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBOA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BIFST) HIO = PHI ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,S,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBOA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BIFST) HIO = PHI ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,S,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBOA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BIFST) ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F(TEST - DELPHI)6,6,7 HIO = PHI F(TEST - DELPHI)6,6,7 HIO = PHI CALCULATE THE CORRELATION MATRIX D 40 I=1,5 MTX(I,J) = A(I,J) ALL RNDINV(CMTX,S,DETERN,0,,ITESD) F(ITFSO,NE.0) %RIF(6,45) ITESD HIIFSO,NE.0) %G TO 44 O 40 I=1.5 </pre>	REM0005 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0008 REM008 REM0	
C C C C C C C C C C C C C	<pre>SUBMIC, IFATEST, DECIMPTENT ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = TA(Y(NRIG)) A#2 HST = (1,05*ABNDNC)##2)#PHIO AMDA7 = 0.01 ALL PHICLC[PHIZ,NFIT,X,Y,FI,B,5) ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,1,PHI,FPKIMF,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBUA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BIFST) HIO = PHI O 6 T = 1,10 AMDAZ = LAMBDA HIZ = PHI ALL CSOFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBUA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BIFST) HIO = PHIO - PHI FITEST-DELPHI)6,6,7 HIO = PHI FITEST-DELPHI)6,7 HIO = PHI FITEST-DELP</pre>	REM0005 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0008	
C C C C C C C C	<pre>SUBMIC, IFATEST, DECIMPTERM, 0, , ITESD) FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HID = T&(Y(NRIG)</pre>	REM0005 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0008 REM008 REM08 REM0	
C C C C C C	<pre>SUBMIC, IFATEST, DECTA, DIEST/ ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T*(Y(NRIG)) 4*7 SST = (1,05*ABNONC)**21*PHIO AMDA7 = 0.01 ALL PHICL(PHIZ,NFIT,X,Y,FI,B,1)PHI,FPKIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBDA, SORTC,1,ATEST,OELTA,BIFST) HIO = PHI 0 6 I = 1,10 AMDA7 = LAMBDA HIZ = PHI ALL ESGFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMPDA, SORTC,1,ATEST,OELTA,BIFST) HIO = PHI ALL ESGFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMPDA, SORTC,1,ATEST,OELTA,BIFST) ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F(ITEST-DELPHI)6,6,7 HIO = PHI F(ITEST-DELPHI)6,6,7 HIO = PHI F(ITEST-DELPHI)6,6,7 HIO = PHI F(ITEST-DELPHI)6,6,7 HIO = PHI F(ITEST-DELPHI)6,6,7 HIO = AMITE(6,9) CALCULATE THE CORRELATION MATRIX 0 40 I=1,5 0 40 J=1,5 MIT(IT,J) = A(I,J) ALL RNDINV(CMTX,5,DETERN,0,.1TESD) F(ITESD,NE,0) GO TO 44 0 41 I=1,5 HIT = CMTX(I,I) ORTC(I) = SQR1(CMT) 0 42 I=1,5</pre>	REM0005 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0008 REM008 REM08 REM08 REM08 REM08 REM08 REM08 REM08 REM08 REM08 REM08 REM08 RE	
C C C C C C C C	<pre>SUBMIC, IFATEST, DECIMPTENT ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = TA(Y(NRIG)) 4=2 EST = (1.05*ABNDNC)**2)*PHIO ANDAZ = 0.01 ALL PHICL(PHIZ,NFIT.X,Y,FI,B,5) ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,1PHI.FPKIMF,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBDA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BTEST) HIO = PHI O 6 I = 1.10 ANDAZ = LAMBDA HIZ = PHI ANDAZ = LAMBDA HIZ = PHI ALL CSOFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI.FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBDA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BTEST) ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F(TFST-DELPHI)6,6,7 HIO = PHI F(ITEST-DELPHI)6,6,7 HIO = PHI F(ITEST-DELPHI)6,6,7 HIO = PHI F(ITEST-DELPHI)6,6,7 HIO = PHI CALCULATE THE CORRELATION MATRIX 0 40 I=1,5 CALCULATE THE CORRELATION MATRIX 0 40 I=1,5 HITE(I,J) GO TO 44 0 41 I=1,5 HITE(I,J) GO TO 44 0 41 I=1,5 HITE(I,J) SQRT(CHT) 0 42 I=1,5 HITE(I,J) SQRT(CMT) 0 42 I=1,5 HITE(I,J) SQRT(CMT) 0 42 I=1,5 HITE(I,J) SQRT(CMT) 0 42 I=1,5 HITESD, SQRT(CMT) D 42 J=1,1 HITESD, SQRT(CMT) D 42 J=1,1 HITESD, SQRT(CMT) D 42 J=1,1 HITESD, SQRT(CMT) HITESD, SQRT(CMT)</pre>	REM0005 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0008 REM008 REM08 REM	
L A L P CC CC CC CC T I L C C C C C P P C C C C C C C C	<pre>SUBMIC, IAREST, DECIMPTERN ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T*(Y(NRIG)) 4=2 SST = (L.05*ABNONC)**2)*PHIO ANDA7 = 0.01 ALL PHICLC(PHIZ,NFIT,X,Y,FI,B,5) ALL SOFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,1,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBOA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BTFST) HIO = PHI O 6 I = 1.10 ANDA2 = LAMBOA HIZ = PHI ALL CSGFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBOA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BTFST) HIO = PHI ALL CSGFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMPDA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BTEST) ELPHI = PHIO HITEST,DELTA,BTEST) ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F(11:E0,10) WRITE(6,9) CALCULATE THE CORRELATION MATRIX O 40 I=1,5 MTX(1,J) = A(1,J) ALL HNOINV(CMTX,5,DETERN,0,,ITESD) F(11FSD,NE,0) WRITE(6,45) ITESD HITESD,ME.0) GO TO 44 O 41 I=1,5 MT = CMTX(1,1) ORTC(1) = SQRT(CMT) O 42 J=1,1 (I,J) = CMTX(1,J)/(SORTC(1)*SQRTC(J))</pre>	REM0005 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0008 REM0009 REM0009 REM0009 REM0009 REM0009	
C C C C C C C C C C C C C	<pre>SUBMIC.1FATEST.0ELTA.DIEST/ ELPH1 = PH10 - PH1 F (TEST - DELPH1) 4,4,5 H10 = PH1 FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT H10 = T*(Y(NRIG)</pre>	REM0005 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0007 REM0007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM008 REM009 REM0009	
L μ μ μ μ μ μ μ μ μ μ μ μ μ μ	<pre>SUBMIC, IAREST, DECIMPTERN ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T&(Y(NRIG)) 4=2 EST = (1.05*ABNDNC)**2)*PHIO ANDAZ = 0.01 ALL PHICL(PHIZ,NFIT,X,Y,FI,B,5) ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,1,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBDA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BTEST) HIO = PHI 0 6 I = 1.10 ANDAZ = LAMBDA HIZ = PHI ALL CSOFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBDA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BTEST) ELPHI = PHIO - PHI FITEST - DELPHI)A,6,7 HIO = PHI FITEST - DELPHI)A,6,7 HIO = PHI FILED,101 WRITE(6,9) CALCULATE THE CORRELATION MATRIX CALCULATE THE CORRELATION MATRIX D 40 I=1,5 MTX(1,J) = A(1,J) ALL RNDINW(CMTX,5,DETERN,0,.TIESD) FITESD,NE.0) %DITE(6,45) ITESD HIIFSD,NE.0) %DITE(6,45) %D</pre>	REM0005 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0008 REM008 REM08	
L A I P C	<pre>SUBMIC. 1 FATEST, DECTA, DIEST/ ELPH1 = PHIO - PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T*(Y(NRIG)) 4#7 %51 = (1.05*ABNONC)**21*PHIO AMDA7 = 0.01 ALL PHICLC(PHIZ.NFIT.X,Y,FI.B.5) ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,S,X.Y,FI.B.1.PHI.FPKIMF.LAMDAZ.PHIZ.LAMBOA. .SORTC.1.ATEST.DELTA.BIFST) HIO = PHI ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,S,X.Y,FI.B.3.PHI.FPKIMF.LAMDAZ.PHIZ.LAMBOA. .SORTC.1.ATEST.DELTA.BIFST) HIO = PHI ALL LSOFIT(NFIT.S,X.Y,FI.B.3.PHI.FPKIMF.LAMDAZ.PHIZ.LAMBOA. .SORTC.1.ATEST.DELTA.BIFST) HIO = PHI ALL LSOFIT(NFIT.S,X.Y,FI.B.3.PHI.FPKIMF.LAMDAZ.PHIZ.LAMBOA. .SORTC.1.ATEST.DELTA.BIFST) ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F(TEST - DELPHI)6.6.7 HIO = PHI F(1.EO.10) WRITE(6.9) CALCULATE THE CORRELATION MATRIX D 40 I=1.5 MTX(I,J) = A(I,J) ALL MNDINV(CMTX.5.DETERM.O(IESD) F(ITFSO.NE.0) %RIF(6.45) ITESD F(ITFSO.NE.0) %G TO 44 0 4.1 I=1.5 MT = CMTX(I,I) QRTC(I) = SQR1(CMT) 0 42 J=1.1 (I,J) = CMTX(I,J)/(SQRTC(I)*SQRTC(J)) 0 43 I=1.4 PI = I+1 0 43 J=1P1.5</pre>	REM0005 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0009 REM00009 REM000000000000000000000000000000000000	
L A L P C	<pre>SUBMIC, 1 A TEST, DECIMPTENT ELPH1 = PH10 - PH1 F (TEST - DELPH1) 4,4,5 H10 = PH1 FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT H10 = T*(Y(NRIG)) 4*2 EST = (1.05*ABNDNC)**2)*PH10 ANDA7 = 0.01 ALL PH1CL(PH12,NFIT,X,Y,FI,B,5) ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,1,PH1.FPKIMF,LAMDA2,PH12,LAMB0A, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BTEST) H10 = PH1 0 6 I = 1.10 ANDA2 = LAMB0A H12 = PH1 ANDA2 = LAMB0A H12 = PH10 - PH1 F(TEST,DELTA,BTEST) ELPH1 = PH10 - PH1 F(TEST,DELTA,BTEST) ELPH1 = PH10 - PH1 F(TEST,DELPH1)6,6,7 H10 = PH10 - PH1 F(TEST,DELPH1)6,7 H10 = PH10 - PH100 - PH10 - PH10 - PH10 - PH10 - P</pre>	REM0005 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM008 REM008 REM009 REM0009 REM00009 REM00009 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM000000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM0000 REM0000 REM00	
L μ μ μ μ μ μ μ μ μ μ μ μ μ μ	<pre>SUBLC, I A I EST, DECLA, DIEST/ ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T@(Y(NRIG)) 0=2 SST = (L.05*ABNDNC)**2)*PHIO ANDA7 = 0.01 ALL PHICL(CIPHI2,NFIT,X,Y,FI,B,5) ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,S,X,Y,FI,B,1,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBOA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BTFST) HIO = PHI D 6 I = 1.10 ANDA2 = LAMBOA HIZ = PHI ALL CSOFIT(NFIT,S,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBOA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BTFST) HIO = PHI CALCULATEST,DELTA,BTFST) ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F(1:E0:10) WRITE(6,9) CALCULATE THE CORRELATION MATRIX D 40 I=1,5 MTX(I,J) = A(I,J) ALL RNOTHWY(CMTX,S,DETERM,0ITESD) F(ITFSD,NE.0) WRITE(6,45) ITESD H(ITFSD,NE.0) WRITE(6</pre>	REM0005 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0008 REM0009 REM00009 REM00009 REM00009 REM00009 REM000000 REM00000 REM00000 REM0000 REM0000 REM0000 REM0000 REM0000 REM0000 REM0	
L A I P C	<pre>SUB (L, 1 A T EST, DECTA, D T EST) ELPH = PHIO - PHI F (TEST - DELPHI) 4,4,5 HIO = PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = TA(Y(NRIG)</pre>	REM0005 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0007 REM0007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM007 REM008 REM008 REM008 REM009 REM0009 REM0000 REM0000 REM0000 REM0000 REM0000 REM0000 REM0000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM000000 REM000000 REM000000 REM000000000 REM0000000 REM000000000000000000000000000000000000	
L A I P CC CC CC CC S T P P C C S T CC C	<pre>SUMIC, IFATEST, DECIMPTERM, 0:: STATEST, ELPHI = PHIO - PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = TR(Y(NRIG)) 4*2 EST = (1.05*ABNDNC)**2)*PHIO ANDA7 = 0.01 ALL PHICL(PHIZ,NFIT.X,Y,FI,B,5) ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,1)PHI.FPKIMF,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBUA, SORTC,1:ATEST,DELTA,BTEST) HIO = PHI 0 6 J = 1.10 ANDA2 = LAMBDA HIZ = PHI ALL CSOFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI.FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBUA, SORTC,1:ATEST.DELTA,BTEST) ELPHI = PHIO - PHI FITEST- DELPHID4,6,7 HIO = 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0</pre>	REMODOSI REMODOSE REMODOSE REMODOSE REMODOSE REMODOSE REMODOSE REMODOSE REMODOSE REMODOSE REMODOSE REMODOSE REMODOSE REMODOTA	
C C	<pre>SUMIC, LATEST, DECLARDIEST/ ELPH1 = PHIO - PHI FIND THE LEAST-SQUARES LORENTZIAN USING ALL DATA POINTS. = NFIT HIO = T#(Y(NRIG)) 4=2 SST = (L.05*ABNONC)**2)*PHIO AMDA7 = 0.01 ALL PHICLC(PHIZ,NFIT,X,Y,FI,B,5) ALL LSOFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,1,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBOA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BTFST) HIO = PHI 0 6 I = 1.10 AMDA2 = LAMBOA HIZ = PHI ALL ESGFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBOA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BTFST) HIO = PHI ALL ESGFIT(NFIT,5,X,Y,FI,B,3,PHI,FPRIME,LAMDAZ,PHIZ,LAMBOA, SORTC,1,ATEST,DELTA,BTEST) ELPHI = PHIO HITEST,DELTA,BTEST) ELPHI = PHIO - PHI F(1:E0,10) WRITE(6,9) CALCULATE THE CORRELATION MATRIX 0 40 I=1,5 MTX(I,J) = A(I,J) ALL HNDINV(CMTX,5,DETERM,0.,ITESD) F(ITESD,NE.0) WRITE(6,45) ITESD HITESD,NE.0) WRITE(6,45) ITESD HITESD,NE.0) GO TO 44 0 41 I=1,5 MT = CMTX(I,I) ORTC(I) = SQRT(CMT) 0 42 J=1,1 (I,J) = CMTX(I,J)/(SORTC(I)*SQRTC(J)) 0 43 J=1,4 PI = I+1 0 43 J=1,5 (I,J) = A(J,I) OWTINUE ADD THE SATELLITE PEAK BACK TO THE PARENT PEAK AFTER THE EAST-SQUARES FIT.</pre>	REM0005 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0006 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0007 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0008 REM0009 REM0000 REM0000 REM0000 REM0000 REM0000 REM0000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM00000 REM000000 REM000000 REM00000 REM00000 REM0000000 REM0000000 REM000000000000 REM000000000000000000000000000000000000	

1,

IF(JHALF.LE.O) GO TO 24 REM0010G MAXP1 = MAX+1 DO 22 1=1.MAX REMODIOH REMODIOI K = MAXP1-IY(K) = Y(K)+ADD*Y(K+JHALF) REMODILE 22 Y(K) = Y24 CONTINUE REMODILB c. -REMODILC COMPLETE THE LORENTZIAN IN THE PART OF THE SPECTRUM NOT USED REMODILO FOR THE LEAST-SQUARES FIT. REMODILE DO 10 I=NFIT,NPT REMO011G = ¥(1)-8(4) REMODILE 10 FI(1)= B(5)+B(1)*(1.-B(2)*X1)/(1.+B(3)*X1**2) REMOOILI C -----REMO0125 SHIFT THE BASELINE OF THE SPECTRUM AND THE LEAST-SQUARES REMO012A C I OKENTZIAN. REMOD12B REMOOIZC 00 8 1=1.NPT REMOO12D 8 Y(I) = Y(I)-B(5) YMIN = -.8*Y(NBIG) YMAX = 1.2*Y(NBIG) REMOO12E REMOO12E REMOD12G DO 12 I=1.NPT 12 FI(I) = FI(I)-B(5) REMODI 2H REMOO12I IFINRFLCT.GE.0) CALL RFLCTR(FI,NPT) REM00136 REMOOISA PLOT THE LORENTZIAN DETERMINED BY LEAST-SUUARES. C. REMOO138 č REMODISC 15 IF(IFPLOT.EQ.1) ICALL CPLOT(FI,NPT,NWDTH,DD,YMAX,YMIN,0) IF(NRFLCT.GE.0) CALL RFLCTR(FI,NPT) **REMO013D** REMO013E REMODISE 35 CONTINUE REMU013G c. -REMOOLSH REMOVE THE PARENT PEAK (I.E. SUBTRACT THE LEAST-SQUARES DETERMINED LORENTZIAN FROM THE INPUT SPECTRUM). REMOO131 C REMOD145 REMOO14A DO 11 I=1,NPT REMODIA 1 FI(I) = Y(I)-FI(I) REMODIA 9 FORMAT (1x,38HTHE LEAST-SQUARES FIT DID NOT CONVERGE,/,1X,24HMORE REMODIAD 15CANS ARE NECESSARY) REMODIAE 5 FORMAT(1X,30HCORRELATION MATRIX IS SINGULAR,/,1X,8HITEST = ,15) REMODIAE 007100 11 45 RETURN REMOO14G END REMODI 4H SUBROUTINE RELCTR(S.NSPT) RELROOOA -RELROOOB THIS SUBROUTINE REFLECTS A REAL VECTOR ABOUT THE CENTER. RFLROOOC C -RELROOOD DIMENSION SINSPT) RFLROOOE 25 J = NSPT/2DD 26 I=1,J RFLR000F RFLR000G K = NSPT + 1 - ISI = S(I) S(I) = S(K) 26 S(K) = SI RELROOOH REIROOIS RFLROOIA RETURN REI ROOIR END RFLROOIC SUBROUTINE OCTHEX(L.NPOINT) OC THOODA OCTHOOOR THIS SUBROUTINE CONVERTS 8X,1206 INPUT TO THE PROPER VALUES WHEN READ IN AS 8X,7221, C OC THOOOC OC THOOOD DC THOOOF ------DIMENSION L(1024) OC THOOOF INTEGER LREAD*2(72) FORMAT (BX,7221) OCTHOOOG INTEGER LREAD#21(2)
I FORMAT (8X,7221)
NCARD = NPOINT/12
IPOINT = 0
DD 2 ICARD=1,NCARD
READ (5,1) (LREAD(1),I=1,72)
IDIGIT = -6
DD 2 I=1,12
IDIGIT = IDIGIT+6
IPOINT = IPOINT+1
L(IPOINT) = LREAD(IDIGIT+1)
DD 2 J=2,6
2 L(IPOINT) = 8*L(IPOINT)+LREAD(IDIGIT+J)
NLEFT = NPOINT-12*NCARD
IF(NLEFT) 5,5,3
3 NREAD = 6*NLEFT
READ (5,1) (LREAD(I),I=1,NREAD)
IDIGIT = IDIGIT+6
IPOINT = IPOINT+1
L(IPOINT) = LREAD(IDIGIT+1)
DD 4 J=2,6 DCTHOOOH 0CTH0001 0CTH0016 OC THOOIA OCTH0018 OCTHOOIC OCTHOOID OCTHOOLE OCTHOOLF OCTHOOIG OCTHOOIH OCTHOOLI DCTHOOLE OC THOOZA OC THOOZA OC THOOZO OC THOO 20 OC THOOZE OCTHO02F OC THOO2G DO 4 J=2,6 L(IPOINT) = 8+L(IPOINT)+LREAD(IDIGIT+J) RETURN OC THOO21 DC THOO 36 5 ICTHOO3A END OCTHOO38 SUBROUTINE LSOFIT(NOBS,NPARM,X,Y,F.8,NITER,PHI,FPRIME,LAMUAZ,PHI7 L,LAMBDA,A,SQRTA,ICALC,ATEST,DELTA,BTEST) I. SOFOODA L SUFDOOR C C LSQF000C THIS SUBROUTINE PERFORMS A LEAST-SQUARES FIT OF THE NON- USOFOOD LINEAR PARAMETERS,6, TO THE OBSERVED QUANTIFIES Y(1) AT THE POINTS,SOFOOD X(1), USING THE METHOD OF MARQUARDT, J.SUC.INDUST.APPL.MATH..11, LSOFOOD 431 (1963). USOFOOD I SOFOODD c C

		LSOFOOOH
	NOBS = THE NUMBER OF OBSERVATIONS OF Y(X).	LSOFOOOI
	NPARM # THE NUMBER OF PARAMETERS IN F. WHERE Y=FIX).	LSOFOOIL
	Y = THE MEASURED VALUES OF THE DEPENDENT VALUES F = DIM Y(NOBS).	I SOFOOIR
	F = THE CALCULATED VALUES OF THE DEPENDENT VARIABLE - DIM F(NOBS).	LSQF001C
	B = THE PARAMETERS - DIMENSION B(NPARM).	LSOF001D
	NITER = THE NUMBER OF ITERATIONS REQUESTED.	LSQF001E
	PHI = THE SUM OF THE SQUARES OF THE RESIDUES.	LSOFOOIF
	FPRIMELUJ = THE PARTIAL UP P WITH RESPECT TO DIUJ.	I SOFOOIG
	PHIT = THE INITIAL VALUE OF PHI.	I SOFOOLT
	LAMBDA = THE FINAL VALUE OF LAMBDA.	LSQF002&
	ICALC = 1, PHICLC AND FCALC ARE USED.	LSQF002A
	2. PHICL2 AND FCALC2 ARE USED.	LSOF0028
	A = SCRATCH	LSOFOOZC
	ATEST = SCRATCH	LSQF0020
		LSQF002E
	THE SUBDOUTINES ONTO C AND SCALE MUST BE DUOVIDED!	L SQF002F
		LSQF002
		LSOFOOZI
	DIMENSION A(NPARM,NPARM),G(5),FPRIMF(NPARM),SQRTA(NPARM),	LSQF003
	1 DELTA(NPARM), BTEST(NPARM), ATEST(NPARM, NPARM)	LSOF0034
	DIMENSION X(NOBS), Y(NOBS), F(NOBS), B(NPARM)	LSQF003
	REAL LAMBDA, LAMTST, LAMDAZ	LSOF0030
		LSQF003
	V = 10.0	1 5050036
		LSQF0030
	DO 5 ITER=1,NITER	LSQF003
	LAMBDA = LAMTST	LSQF003
	PH1 = PHITST	LSQF004
	CALL AGCALC(A,G,NPARM,NOBS,X,B,F,Y,SQRTA,FPRIME,ICALC)	LSQF004
	IFILAMBDA.LE.O.00001) GO TO 1	LSOF004
	LAMISI = LAMBDA/V	LSOFOOA
	U = 1.	L SQF004
	I CALL DUALCONPART, A, LATIST, O, DELTA, MAX, II, D, SWAR, O, DIEST, ATEST	1 SOF004
	IF(ICALC.EQ.1) CALL PHICLC(PHITST.NOBS.X.Y.F.BTEST.NPARM)	LSQF004
	IF(ICALC.EQ.2) CALL PHICL2(PHITST,NOBS,X,Y,F,BTEST,NPARM)	LSOF004
	IF(PHITST.LE.PHI) GO TO 4	LSQF004
	CALL GAMCLCINPARM, DELTA, G. GAMMA)	LSOF005
	IF(GAMMA.GE.0.7854) GO TO 3	LSQF005
	C ± 0.5*C	LSQF005
	2 WRITE(A.A) NRARM.IAMIST	LSOFOOS
		L SOF005
	GO TO 1	LSQF005
	4 CONTINUE	LSQF005
	DO 5 I=1,NPARM	L SOFOOS
	5 B(1) = RTEST(1)	LSQF005
	PH1 = PH1TST	LSQFOOR
	LAMBUA = LAMISI 4 CODMATILY ILUMADNING ITHMAY / 18 ANNDADME, 16.7.19.744 AMBDAE, 515.7	L SOFOOR
	RETURN	L SOFOO6
	END	LSOFOOd
	SUBROUTINE PHICLC(PHI,NOBS,X,Y,F,B,NPARM)	PHICOOC
		PHICOOC
	THIS SUBROUTINE CALCULATES THE SUM OF THE SQUARES OF THE	PHICOOD
	RESIDUES WHEN A LORENTZIAN IS USED.	PHECODE
		PHICOOC
		PHICODO
	DIMENSION X(NORS) .Y(NORS) .F (NORS) .R (NPARM)	PHICODE
	PHI = 0.	PHICOOC
	DO 1 1=1,NOBS	PHICOD
	$\times 1 = \times (1) - B(4)$	PHICOOI
	F(1) = B(5)+B(1)*(1B(2)*X1)/(1.+B(3)*X1**2)	PHICOO
	1 PM1 = PM1+(Y(1)-F([))##2	PHICOD
	FND	PHICOD
	SUBROUTINE FCALC(X+B+F+P+I+NOBS)	FCLCOOL
		-FCLCOO
	THIS SUBROUTINE CALCULATES THE VALUES OF THE LORENTZIAN AND	FCLCOO
	ITS DERIVATIVES FOR THE LEAST SQUARES FIT.	FCLCOO
		-FCLC00
	$x_1 = x_{1} - R(x)$	FCLCOO
	$BX2 = 1_{0}/(1_{0}+B(3)*X)**2)$	FCLCOO
	P(1) = (1 - B(2) + X1) + BX2	FCLCOO
	P(2) = -B(1) * X1 * BX2	FCLCOO
	PT = P(1) * P(2)	FCLCOO
	$P(3) = \chi_1 * P^{\dagger}$	FCLCOO
	P(+) = B(1)+B(2)+BX2-2.+B(3)+PT	FCLCON
	$P(5) = 1_{0}$ $E(1) = P(3) \oplus P(1) + P(5)$	FLECOO
	F(1) = D(1)*F(1)*8(3) BFTNRN	FCLCOO
	END	FELCOU
	SUBROUTINE PHICL2(PHI.NUBS, X.Y.F.B.NPARM)	PH1200
		PH1200
	THIS SUBROUTINE CALCULATES THE SUM OF THE SQUARES OF THE	PH1200
	RESIDUES WHEN AN EXPUNENTIAL IS USED.	PH1200
		PH1200
and the second	RESIQUES WHEN AN EXPONENTIAL IS USED.	PH12 PH12

C		-PH12000F
C		PH12000G
	DIMENSIUN X(NUBS),Y(NUBS),F(NUBS),B(NPARM)	PH12000H
	DD 1 1=1.NOBS	PH120016
	F(I) = B(1) + B(2) + EXP(-B(3) + X(I))	PH12001A
1	PHI = PHI+(Y(I)-F(I))**2	PH120018
	RETURN .	PHI 2001C
	END	PH12001D
C	SUBRUUTINE FCALC2(X,B,F,P,I,NUBS)	FCL 2000A
C	THIS SUBPOUTINE CALCUNATES THE VALUES OF THE EXPONENTIAL AND	-FCL 20008
č	ITS DERIVATIVES FOR THE LEAST SQUARES FIT.	FCL 20000
C		-FCL2000E
	DIMENSION X(NOBS),F(NOBS),B(3),P(3)	FCL2000F
	P(1) = 1.	FCL 2000G
	P(2) = EXP(-B(3) * X(1))	FCL2000H
	$F(I) = G(2) \neq F(2)$	FCL 20001
	F(1) = F(1) + F(1)	FCL 20016
	RETURN	FCI 20018
	END	FCL2001C
	SUBROUTINE AGCALC(A.G.NPARM,NOBS,X.B.F.Y.SORTA,FPRIME,ICALC)	AGCAGOOA
С		AGCAGOOB
C	THIS SUBROUTINE CALCULATES THE A MATRIX AND THE G VECTOR.	AGCADOOC
C		AGCAGOOD
(AGCADOOE
÷.,	DIMENSION AINPARM, NPARM), G(NPARM), X (NOBS) + B(NPARM), F (NOBS) - Y (NOBS	AGCAUDOG
	1, SORTA (NPARM), FPRIME (NPARM)	AGCADOOH
	DU 1 J=1,NPARM	AGCANONI
	b(J) = 0,	AGCAOOLS
10	$DU = K = L_{\phi}J$	AGCAGOIA
	DO 2 I=1.NOBS	AGCAGOLE
	IF(ICALC.EQ.1) CALL FCALC(X, B, F, FPRIME.I.NOBS)	AGCADDID
14	IF(ICALC.EO.2) CALL FCALC2(X, B, F, FPRIME, I, NOBS)	AGCAUDIE
	DO 2 J=1,NPARM	AGCA001F
	G(J) = G(J) + (Y(I) - F(I)) * FPRIMF(J)	ACCADDIG
	$UU \ge K = 1 + J$	AGCAGOIH
C	A (J) K) - A (J) K) TFFKIME (J) #FFKIME (K)	AGC A0011
c	SCALE A AND G	AGC 40026
C		-AGCA0028
	DO 3 J=1,NPARM	AGCA002C
3	3 SORTA(J) = SORT(A(J,J))	AGC A002D
	OU = 4 J = I + NPARM	AGCAD02F
	DO + K = 1	AGCA002F
4	$4 A(J,K) = A(J,K)/(SQRTA(J) \otimes SURTA(K))$	AGCAOO2H
C		-AGC 40021
C .	COMPLETE THE UPPER HALF OF A.	3600A003E
C	IMAY = NDADM_1	-AGCADO3A
	DD 5 J=1+JMAX	ACC A0030
	KMIN = J+1	AGC A003D
23	DO 5 K=KMIN,NPARM	AGCANO3E
0	$5 A(J_*K) = A(K_*J)$	AGCA003F
		AGCAD03G
	SUBROUTINE BOALCINPARM.A.LAMIST.G.DELTA.MAY.IT.B. SORTA C. RIEST.	AGCA003H
	1ATEST)	BCLCODOB
C		BCLCODOC
C	THIS SUBROUTINE CALCULATES THE NEW ESTIMATE OF THE	ACLCOOON
C	PARAMETERS, B.	BCLCOOOE
0		BCI.COORF
r		-HELSCOOL
	DIMENSIUN AINPARM, NPARMI, GINPARMI, DELTAINPARMI, HINPARMI,	BCLCOOOL
	ISU-TAINPARMI, BTESTINPARMI, ATHSTINPA N. ARMI	F0L0015
	REAL LANTST	BCLCOG14
	D(I 1 J=1, NPAKM	BOLCOOIE
	UU I KEJANPARM	HOLD1010
1	DD 2 J=3.NPARM	RELEGATE
2	P = ATEST(J,J) = ATEST(J,J) + LAMTST	BELCOOLE
	CALL EOSOLV (NPARM, ATEST, G, MAX, 0.001. DELTA. 17.0)	BELEDOIG
	IF(IT.EG.MAX) GO T() 4	BCLCC01-
	DU 5 3=1+NPARM	PCLCO(1)
	RETURN	BULCOOPE
	END	BELCDO24
2	SUBROUTINE GAMCLC(NPARM, DELTA, G, GAMMA)	GAH _ COOM
C		GAMOUODE
c	THIS SUBROUTINE CALCULATES GAMMA, THE ANGLE SETWEEN THE DELT	AGA14:0000
č	AS SEE AND THE DELIA OFTAINED AND THE GRADIENT MATHED.	CALCOOD'
C		-GARCOODE
2		1 18 000
	DIMENSION DELTA(NPARM),G(NPARM)	64MC0001
	DELMAG = 0.	6AMC0001
	DELTAG = 0.	GAMC001L
	DU 1 I=1.NPARM	GAMC0015

GAMCOOLC DELMAG = DELMAG+DELTA(1)**2 GAMCOOIL GMAG = (.MAG+G(1)#42 DF1TAG = DELTAG+DELTA(1)#6(1) GAMCOOLE GAME 001F DELG = DELMAG*GMAG COSGAM = DELTAG/(SOFT(DELG)) 6AMC.0016 GAMMA = ARCUS(COSGAM) GAMCOOTH RETURN GAMCOO11 GAMCOO2E END SUBROUTINE FILTER INSTUN.S.NSPT.NFIPT.JSMAX.SMAX.FI.FO.H.SUM.SWEEPFILT000A I.NSWEEP.HELP.IPSDL) FILT0006 FILTOOOC THIS SUBROUTINE SELECTS THE FILTER OF YOUR CHOICE. FILTOOOD C FILTODOR C DIMENSION S(1024),F1(1024),F0(1024),H(1024).SDM(1024) FILTOOOF IF (NSTON) 3,1,2 1 CALL MATCH (S,NSPT,NFIPT,JSMAX,SMAX,FI,FO,SDM,H) FILTOOOG FILTOOOH GO TO 4 2 CALL RESOLV (NSTON, S, NSPT, NF1PT, JSMAX, SMAX, F1, F0, H, IPSOL) FILT0001 GO TO 4 FILTODIA 3 CALL RCFLTR (NSTON, NFIPT, FI, FO, SWEEP, NSWEEP, H, NSPT) FILTOOIR -FILTOOIC C CALCULATE THE MAXIMUM ENHANCEMENT OF THE SIGNAL-TO-NOISE С FILTOOID RATIO WHICH RESULTS FROM THE FILTER USED ABOVE. FILTOOIE FILTOOIH -----4 FOMAX = 0. FIMAX = 0. FILTODIG FILT001H FOMAX = AMAX1(FOMAX,FO(1)) FIMAX = AMAX1(FIMAX,FO(1)) FILT0011 FILTO02A 5 HELP = 0. D0 6 1=1,NSPT FIL TOO2H FILTODPC HELP = HELP+H(1)**2 HELP = FOMAX/(FIMAX*SORT(HELP)) F11 T0020 FILTOO2F F11, T0026 RETURN FILTO026 END SUBROUTINE MATCH (S.NSPT.NEIPT.JSMAX.SMAX.FI.FO.SDM.H) MTCHOOOS С THIS SUBROUTINE PERFORMS & MATCHED FILTER OPERATION IN TIME C SPACE. MICHODON _____ MICHOOOF C .-MTCH000F MTCH000G DIMENSION 550 (1024), S(1024), FI(1024), F0(1024), SUM(1024), 1H(1024)SSQ (1) = (S(1))**2 MICHOOOH SSO(I) = 2,NSPT SSO(I) = SSO (I-1) + (S(1))**2 DO 4 J = 1,NF[PT K = JSMAX - J IMAX = NSPT - K IMAX = MINO(NFIPT,IMAX) MTCHOOOI MICHOOLS MICHOOLA 1 MTCHOOLH MICHODIC MTCHOO10 IMIN = 1-KMICHOOIF IMIN = MAXO(1.IMIN)MTCHOOLE IXK = IMAX+K MICHOOIG MICHOOIH INK = IMIN+K C = SMAX/(SSO(JXK)-SSQ(INK)) MTCHOO11 MTCHOO2F C = SMAX/ISSULARY SIGMA = 0. D0 2 I = IMIN,IMAX MTCHOO2A IK = I + K2 SIGMA = SIGMA+S(IK) * FI(I)FO(J) = C * SIGMAMTCHO028 MTCHOOZO MTCH0020 IJ = 20*(J/20) - J+1IF(IJ)4,5,4 MTCH0021 -MICHOOZC CALCULATE THE SIZE OF THE ERROR BARS. MICHOO2H M1CH0021 h SIGMA = 0.MTCH0038 DO 3 I = IMIN, IMAX IK = I+ κ MTCH003A MICHOD38 3 SIGMA = SIGMA+(FD(J)*S(IK)+FI(I)*SMAX)**? SDM(J) = C*SQRT(SIGMA) M1CH003C MICHDA30 4 CONTINUE MICHOOSE C = SMAX/SSO(NSP1)DO 6 [=1,NSPT 6 H(I) = C*S(I) MICHOO3F MTC.40036 MICH003H RETURN MTCHOO3I END MICHOOAF SUBROUTINE RCELTR (NSTUN, NEIPI, FI, FU, SWEEP, NSWEEP, H, NSPT) PL-LODOA THIS SUBROUTINE DUPLICATES THE EFFECTS OF A DOUBLE SECTION RCFL000C RCFL000H -RCFL000F C THIS SUBROUTINE DUPLICATES THE RC FILTER. DIFENSION F1(1024),F0(1024),H(1024) RCI = MSWEEPENSION RCI = -100, %SWEEPENCI EX = EXP(-RCI) F0(1) = RCI=F1(1) F0(1) = ACIEF1(1) RCFLOOD RCFLODOG KCFLOOOL RCFLOOIS FO(1) = RC1 + F1(1)FO(1) = EX + F0(N-1) + RC1 + F1(N)FO(1) = RC1 + F(1)OO 2 N = 2 + N F1 PTRCHL0018 RCFLOOIC RCFI 001D 2 FO(N) = EX*FO(N-1)+RCI*F()(N) EXH = 1. NSPT = 1024 RCI2 = RCI*2 D() % N=1.NSPT RCFLOOIL RCFL001H RCFL001G RCFLOOIH RCFLOOII

	EN ≖ N	RC FL 0025
	$H(N) = RC17 \times EN \times EXH$	RCFL002A
З	FXH = FX*FXH	RCF1,0028
	RFTURN	PCFLOO2C
	FND	RC.FL.0020
	SUBREMITINE RESOLV INSTIN, S, NSPI, NEIPI, JSMAX, SMAX, FI, FU, H, (PSDL)	RSLVOODA
	TO TO COMPONENT ME DEBENDED I VALAD AND DECUDO_TIMEAD UTITED M	-KSLVDOOR
	THIS SUBRINITING PERFORES LIDEAR AND ESCOND-LIDEAR FILTERING	KSLVDDDL
	IN ENERGY MAL START	-RSLV000F
0.0	DIMENSION \$(1024).F1(1024)0(1024).H(1024).INV(256).M(3).DULIALS	IRSL VOODE
	1.611-11(3).F(512).B(3).FPR1MF(3).A(3.3).SORTA(3)./J(512).ATEST(3.3	IRSI VODOC
	REAL LAMDAZ,LAMBDA	RSLVOODH
	COMPLEX FORIFR(1024), CONJ	FS1, V0001
		-RSI, V0016
ι.	CENTER SMAX	PSI.VOD1A
		-RSLV0018
×.	1-(JSMAX.LE.511) GU 10 25	RSEVOOTC
		RSLV0010
	JOHA - 711 - MILLICHICT	KSL VOOT -
	$M_{\rm D} = 1 = M_{\rm D} = 1$	R I VODIL
27	(1) - (1)+1(H1FT)	RSEVODIO
25		RSI VOUTT
	1E(11-1E-511) 60 UP 26	R51, V0028
	NSPT = NSPT-11+511	RSLV002A
26	NCENTR = 2*JSMAX-NSPT	RSLV002F
	IF(NCENTR) 3,6,1	RSLV002C
1	MIN = NSPT+1	RSLV002D
	NSPT = NSPT+NCENIR	KSLV002E
17.	DO 2 1=MIN,NSPT	K51,V002F
2	5(1) = 0.	RSLV0026
2	MAY - NCDT_NCENTD	851 V0021
3		RSI.VOOBE
4	S(MAX-I+1) = S(NSPI-I+1)	RSLV003A
	NSPT = MAX	RSLV003B
	JSMAX = JSMAX-NCENTR	R St. V003C
	MAX = -NCENTR	RSLV0030
	D() 5 1=1,MAX	RSLV003E
5	S(1) = 0.	RSI. VOO3F
f	5 CONTINUE	R SL V0036
;		-RSLV003H
C	NSPT MUST EQUAL 2**M FOR HARM	RSLV0031
C		-RSLV004&
	M(2) = 0	RSLV004A
	NSPT = NSPT	KSLV004C
	M(1) = 3	RSLV004D
	M2 = 2	RSLV004F
7	7 NSPTT = NSPTT/2	RSLV004F
	IF(NSPTT-LT-1) GO TO 8	RSLV004G
	M(1) = M(1) + 1	KSLV004H
	$M2 = 2 \neq M2$	R5LV0041
	GO TO 7	RSLLOOSE
\$	NSDIFF = M2-NSPT	R SI_V(1054
	MAX = M2 - NSOIFF72	RSLV0058
,		KSI VUUSU
	4 - 5(MAA - 1 + 1) = -5(MSP1 - 1 + 1)	RSLV005L
		RSLV005F
10	0 S(1) = 0.	HSL V0056
	MAX = MAX-NSPI	RSLVOOSH
	DO 11 I=1,MAX	RSL V0051
11	1 S(1) = 0.	RSLV006K
	JSMAX = JSMAX+MAX	R SLV006A
r -	NSPI = MZ	RSLVOOKP
c		KSLV006(
C====	CHEGULATE DITUMEDAT	A SEVONSE
	DU 12 I=1.NSPT	RSLVDDE
12	2 FOR(1) = S(1)	RSLV006G
	CALL HARM(FORIER, M, INV, FO, 1, IFERR)	RSLV006H
	NSPT2 = NSPT/2	KSLV0061
3	IF(IPSDL.NE.O) GO TO 21	RSLV007E
C · · · ·		RSI VOO7A
c	DETERMINE THE EXPONENTIAL DECAY OF STOOMEGAL BY LEAST-SOUAR	ESESEVOOTE
C	F11111189	PCL 10 /C
	D() 117 1=1.NSPT2	KSL 100 / F
	$\lambda_1(A) = A$	KSL VOO7E
225	H(J) = CABS(FORIER(J))	RSI VOOTG
	7 H(J) ≈ H(J) + H(J)	RSI VOD7H
11	B(1) = 0.	K51. V00 71
11		USI MADOSE
11	B(2) = H(1)	A 31, 200 -6
11	B(2) = H(1) B(3) = (ALOG(B(2)/H(10)))/7J(10)	RSLVOORA
11	$\begin{array}{l} B(2) = H(1) \\ B(3) = (ALDG(B(2)/H(10)))/2J(10) \\ LAMBA7 = 0_{\bullet}(1) \end{array}$	RSI, VOORA RSI, VOORA
11	B(2) = H(1) B(3) = (ALOG(B(2)/H(10)))//J(10) LAMDAY = 0.01 CALL PHICL2(PHIZ.NSPI2./J.H.F.B.3)	RSLV008A RSLV008A RSLV008L
11	B(2) = H(1) B(3) = (ALOG(B(2)7H(10)))77J(10) LAMDA7 = 0.01 CALL PHICL2(PHIZ.NSP12.7J.H.F.B.5) CALL LSOFT(NSP12.3.7J.H.F.H.5.PHI.FPRTMF.LAPDA7.PHIZ.LAMHDA.A.	RSLV008A RSLV008B RSLV008C RSLV008D
11	B(2) = H(1) B(3) = (ALDG(B(2)/H(10)))//J(10) LAMDA7 = 0.01 CALL PHICL2(PHIZ,NSP[2,7],H(F,B.5) CALL SDOFT(NSP[2,3,7],H(F,B.5)PHI,FPRIME,LAPDA7,PHIZ,LAMBDA,A, LSDR[A,2,ATEST,DFL[A,B1FS])	R SL VOORA R SL VOORA R SL VOORA R SL VOORA R SL VOORA E SL VOORA
113	B(2) = H(1) B(3) = (ALDG(B(2)/H(10)))//J(10) LAMBA7 = 0.01 CALL PHICL2(PHIZ,NSPI2,7J,H,F,B.5) CALL LSDFIT(NSPI2,3,7J,H,F,B,5)PHI.FPRIMF,LAPDA7,PHIZ,LAMHDA.A, ISDRIA,2,AIEST,OFLIA,HIS() FIIMINALE THE HIGH DEPENDENCE AND LESS FORMERA.	RSLV008A RSLV008A RSLV008L RSLV008L RSLV008D ESLV008F RSLV008F RSLV008F
(B(2) = H(1) B(3) = (ALDG(B(2)ZH(10))/ZJ(10) LAMDAZ = 0.01 CALL PHICL2(PHIZ.NSPT2.ZJH.F.B.3) CALL SUBTI(NSPT2.3.ZJH.F.N.5.PHI.EPRIMF.LAPDAZ.PHIZ.LAMBDA.A. ISOBIA.Z.ATEST.DELIA.BIEST I(IMINATE THE HIGH FREQUENCY NUTSE 10 STUDDED).	R 51, V008A R 51, V008A R 51, V008A R 51, V008A R 51, V008A F 51, V008A R 51, V0086 R 51, V0080

	CIANT - NEUTO O		DEL HOODE
	151ART = 15PT2-9		RSL 00098
64 March 19	DU IUS I=ISTART+NSPT2	0.	K ST AUDAV
103	CUTOFF = CUTOFF+CABS(FORTER(1))		RSLV009B
	CUTOFF = CUTOFF/5.		RSLV009C
	00 17 I=1+NSPT2		RSI_VO09D
	FORI = CABS(FORIER(1))		RSLV009E
	IF(FORI.LE.CUTOFF) GO TO 18		RSLV009F
17	CONTINUE		KSLV009G
	GO TO 20		RSLV009H
18	JMAX = NSPT - I + 1		RSLV0091
	DO 19 JET. IMAX		RSLV010E
19	EOR(ER(1) = (0, 0, 1)		RSIVOIDA
	CONTINUE		851.0105
c			RELVOIOC
L			-RSEVUTOL
2	CALCOLATE HIUMEGAJ		RSEVOIDO
(+-			-RSEVOIOF
	STON = NSTON		RSLVDIOF
	STON = 0.1*STON		RSLV010G
	IF(IPSDL.EQ.O) STON=EXP(STON)-1.		RSLVOIOH
	Q = 137.*([STON1)**2)/((CABS(FORIER(1)))**2)		RSLV0101
	C = 0.		RSLVOILE
	1F(1PSDL.NE.0) G0 T0 22		KSLV011A
	B1 = 0 + 1		RSLV011B
	$B1 = B(3)/(1) + 0.5275 \pm 0.000 (B1))$		RSLVOILC
	$ a_1 = a_2 a_4 a_1 a_1 a_2 a_1 a_1 a_1 a_1 a_1 a_1 a_1 a_1 a_1 a_1$		RELVOID
	$0 = -0.50 \times 101 \times 21$		NSLV0110
	$\mathbf{U} = \mathbf{U} + $		RSLVUITE
	10 13 J=1,NSP1		RSEVOITE
	CONJ = CONJG(FOR[ER(.1))		R SI. V0116
	X2 = FORIER(J) * CONJ		RSLV011H
	CJ = J		RSLVOILI
	$1F(J_GT_NSPT2)$ CJ = NSPT-J+1		3510V158
	$D = O \approx (E \times P(-B(3) \times C J)) + 1$.		RSLV012A
	CJ = CJ-1.		RSLV0128
	EJ = B1*(CJ**2)		KSLV012C
	EJ = EXP(EJ)		RSLV0120
	$C = C + (X2/D) \neq EJ$		RSLV012E
13	FORTER(J) = (CONJ/D) * EJ		RSI VO12E
	60 TO 24		PSI VOI 26
22			RSLVOIZH
22			RSLVOITH
			KSLV0121
	CONJ = CONJG(FURTER(J))		RSLV0138
	X2 = FORIER(J) * CONJ		RSLV0134
3	D = 1.+0*X2		RSLV0138
	C = C+X2/D	ă	RSLV013C
23	FORIER(J) = CONJ/D		RSLV013D
24	RNSPT = NSPT		RSLV013F
	C = RNSPT * SMAX/C		RSLV013F
	DO 14 J=1.NSPT		RSI VOI 3G
14	F(BLEB(J) = C*FOBLEB(J)		RSIVOIAH
(-PSI VOI 31
			-43040131
C	CALCULATE H(T)		KSLV014&
L			-RSLV014A
	CALL HARM(FORIER, M, INV, FU, -2. IFERR)		KSLV014B
	DO 15 1=1,NSPT		RSLV014C
15	H(I) = FORJER(I)		RSLV0140
C			-RSLV014E
С	CALCULATE FO(T)		RSLV014F
C	***************************************		-RSLVC14G
	DO 16 N=1,NFIPT		RSLV014H
	FO(N) = 0.		RSLV0141
	MAX = N-1+JSMAX		RSLVOISE
	MAX = MINO(MAX-NSPT)		RSI VOISA
	MIN = N-NEIPT+ ISMAX		6 SI V015H
	MTN = MAYO(MTN, 1)		DELVOIEC
	DO 14 1-NIN MAY		DEL VOIDE
			RSLV0150
16	FU(N) = FU(N) + H(1) + FI(N-1 + JSMAX)		K2LV015E
	RETURN .	2. 12	RSLV015F

APPENDIX C

A SEMIEMPIRICAL CALCULATION OF SPIN-SPIN COUPLING CONSTANTS

We have used the extended Hückel theory type orbitals of R. Hoffmann and W. N. Lipscomb⁵¹ to compute coupling constants for e. p. r. and n. m. r. spectra. Only the e. p. r. first-order Fermicontact⁵² coupling, and the n. m. r. second-order Fermi-contact coupling are considered. The e. p. r. coupling constants of nuclei which lie at a node of the odd electron's orbital in a π -electron radical could not be calculated. The results for e. p. r. are similar to those obtained by the hyperconjugation approach. The computer programs used make the method easy to apply, and the results show substantial agreement with experiment. A description of the calculation of the e. p. r. coupling constants has been published. ⁵³

The semiempirical method used attempts to guess the results which would be obtained from a single-determinant minimum basis set Hartree-Fock calculation. The inner-shell electrons are not explicitly taken into account in these calculations. All overlap integrals are computed. This is quite simple, because they have been evaluated analytically.⁵⁴ Extended Hückel theory approximates the diagonal elements of the Hamiltonian matrix by valence-state ionization potentials, and uses the Wolfsberg-Helmholz⁵⁵ approximation, Eq. (C1), for the off-diagonal elements.

$$H_{ij} = \frac{1}{2}K(H_{ii} + H_{jj})S_{ij}.$$
 (C1)

The constant K, Eq. (C1), is set equal to 1.75. Slater 56 1s orbitals are used for the hydrogens and Slater 2s and 2p orbitals are

used for the first row elements.

These approximations give Hamiltonian matrix elements quite different from the calculated elements for small molecules. The resulting <u>occupied</u> orbitals and the associated eigenvalues are, however, an excellent approximation to those obtained by <u>ab</u> <u>initio</u> calculations on small molecules. The unoccupied orbitals and associated eigenvalues bear no obvious relation to the Hartree-Fock quantities.

Computation of the contact coupling of the first-row elements requires a 2s function which does not have a node at the nucleus. Since the Slater 2s function has such a node, a function of the form

$$2s' = (1 - S^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}} (2s - S \cdot 1s), \qquad (C2)$$

where S is the $\psi_{1s} - \psi_{2s}$ overlap integral, was used. In the computation of overlap integrals the 2s overlap was substituted for the 2s' overlap. This did not cause any serious error in the overlap integrals. ⁵⁴ The value of these orbitals at the nucleus is similar to that obtained by S.C.F. calculations for the atoms. ⁵⁷

The Fermi-contact operator for electron-spin resonance is

$$\mathcal{K}'' = \frac{16\pi}{3} \beta \sum_{N} g_{N} \beta_{N} \delta(\mathbf{r}_{N} - \mathbf{r}_{e}) \mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{I}_{N}$$
(C3)

where δ is the Dirac delta operator, S and I_N are electron and nuclear spin operators, and β , β_N , and g_N have their usual meanings. This is a perturbation on the electronic Hamiltonian. By evaluating this

perturbation to first order in terms of the above orbitals, the coupling constant may be expressed as

$$A_{\rm N} = -\frac{16\pi}{3} g_{\rm N} \beta_{\rm N} \beta \phi_{\rm N}^2$$
(C4)

where $\phi_{\rm N}$ is the value of the orbital of the unpaired electron at nucleus N.

Although Hoffmann and Lipscomb ⁵¹ used a Slater exponent of 1.0 for hydrogen, S.C.F. calculations indicate that an exponent of about 1.2 would be preferable. This contraction of hydrogen 1s functions would increase ϕ_N^2 in Eq. (C4) by a factor of 1.728. The relative sizes of the splittings are not affected, since the H_{ij} and S_{ij} in Eq. (C1) are insensitive to the exponent. The S.C.F. calculations included first-row 1s basis functions, so we varied the exponent to obtain agreement with experiment. A value of 1.15 reproduces the experimental results for the vinyl and 1-methylvinyl radicals reasonably well.

Table I gives the results of this treatment of several radicals. The values obtained by Dixon^{58} are listed for comparison. Dixon used a hydrogen exponent of 1.20 and slightly different geometries. We used the experimental geometry of the parent compound for the present set of calculations except in those cases for which special notes appear in the Table.

Since the bond angles and bond lengths of most radicals are not known, a useful semiempirical scheme for correlating coupling

		А (С	3)	
Radical	Experimental	Calculated		Ref.
		Extended Hückel	Hypercon- jugation	
Formyla	136	74.3		59
Vinyl ^b (gem) (cis) (trans)	13.4,15.7 34.2 68.5	13.6 32.9 66.8	17.3 ^ь 49.7 ^ь 81.6 ^ь	60
1-Methylvinyl ^c (CH ₂) (<i>cis</i>) (<i>trans</i>)	19.48 32.92 57.89	18.2 28.4 59.8		60
Phenyl (ortho) (meta) (para)	$\begin{array}{c} 18.1\\ 6.4\\ 0.0 \end{array}$	12.5 5.3 11.0	23.3 4.2 17.9	61
$\begin{array}{c} {\rm Cyclopropyl}^{\rm ld} \ (\alpha) \\ (\beta) \end{array}$	6.51 23.42	6.5 16.8	24.1	
Ethyl ^e (β)	26.87	21.4	27.1	
2-Propyl ^{f,z} (β)	24.68	18.8	22.8	
tert-Butyl ^t	22.72	16.8	20.3	60
$\begin{array}{l} \text{Cyclobutyl}^{\mathfrak{f},\mathfrak{g}}\left(\boldsymbol{\beta}\right)\\ \left(\boldsymbol{\gamma}\right)\end{array}$	36.66 1.12	29.6 1.46	38.2 2.9	
Cyclopentyl ^{f,g} (β) (γ)	35.16 0.53	30.4 0.42	37.2 0.57	
Cyclohexadienyl ^{f,h} (CH ₂)	47.71	42.0	54	
Ethynyl	16.1	74		62
Nitrogen dioxide	107	74		63

TABLE I. Comparison of experimental and calculated coupling constants.

* \angle (H-C=O) = 120 deg.⁶⁴ b \angle (H-C=C) = 146 deg. c \angle (C-C=C) = 146 deg. d The α hydrogen is 28.6° out of the carbon plane.

^e The C-CH₂ group is planar.
^t The carbon skeleton is planar.
^s The α hydrogen is in the carbon plane.
^h The single and conjugated bond lengths are 1.51 and 1.34 Å, respectively.

TABLE II. Variation of parameters.

Parameter	Values	Radical	<i>A</i> (G)	
			Value (1)	Value (2)
Hydrogen exponent	(1) 1.15 (2) 1.20	Vinyl (gem) (cis) (trans) Ethyl (ß) 2-Propyl (ß) tert-Butyl (ß)	13.6 32.9 66.8 21.4 18.8 16.8	14.5 35.0 74.6 23.6 21.1 19.0
C-C bond length	(1) 1.54 (2) 1.44	Ethyl (β) 2-Propyl (β) <i>tert</i> -Butyl (β)	21.4 18.8 16.8	29.0 24.9 21.8
C_{α} out of the plane of the ring	(1) 0° (2) 10°	Cyclopentyl (β) (γ)	30.4 0.42	29.7 0.40

constants cannot be very sensitive to small changes in geometry and hydrogen exponent. Our results in Table II show that the coupling constants computed from extended Hückel wave functions generally satisfy these requirements. The coupling constants of the vinyl radical have a strong dependence on the bond angle. However, Adrian and Karplus, 65 and Cochran, Adrian, and Bowers 62 have also obtained optimum agreement with experiment for an angle of 140° to 150° using a valence-bond approach.

The low value for nitrogen coupling is to be expected, since no 1s first-row orbitals were used. Ethynyl radical may be a π radical, in which case these calculations would not apply. The complete disagreement for the para coupling in phenyl radical is not understood at this time.

The results obtained by computing e.p.r. spin-spin coupling constants from extended Hückel theory molecular orbitals show general agreement with experiment. The theory predicts changes within a given group of radicals very well. For example, the computed coupling constants of aliphatic radicals are all 5.7 ± 0.2 gauss lower than the experimental values.

The contact operator for n.m.r. is

$$\mathcal{K}'' = \frac{16 \pi \beta \hbar}{3} \sum_{k} \sum_{N} \gamma_{N} \delta(\mathbf{r}_{kN}) \underbrace{\mathbf{S}}_{k} \cdot \underbrace{\mathbf{I}}_{N}$$
(C5)

where γ_N is the nuclear gyromagnetic ratio. The first-order perturbation term vanishes, and the second-order term

$$-\sum_{n \neq 0} \frac{|(0|\mathscr{K}''|n)|^2}{E_n - E_0}$$
(C6)

when applied to wave functions of the type used gives

$$J_{kL} = -h\left[\frac{8\beta}{3}\right]^{2} \gamma_{k} \gamma_{L} \sum_{i}^{occ. \text{ unocc.}} \frac{\phi_{ik} \phi_{iL} \phi_{jk} \phi_{jL}}{E_{i} - E_{i}}$$
(C7)

where ϕ_{jk} is the value of M.O. j at nucleus K. Because the energies could not be evaluated by the extended Hückel method, the molecular orbital eigenvalues were used instead.

The coupling constants obtained by this procedure are given in Table III. Fahey, Graham, and Piccioni ⁶⁶ have obtained essentially the same results using hydrogenic 2s orbitals instead of orthogonalized Slater 2s orbitals. The approximations involved in computing the coupling constants were evaluated by making the same approximation for the energies, but using the Hartree-Fock orbitals and eigenvalues for formaldehyde which were obtained by Foster and Boys. ⁷² This gave a coupling constant for formaldehyde of 40.7 Hz compared to an experimental value ⁷¹ of between 40.2 and 42.4, and a Hückel value of -12.7. A set of ethane orbitals and eigenvalues similar to those of R. M. Pitzer also gave coupling constants in agreement with experiment. On this basis, it appears that the major error in these calculations is that the extended Hückel method does not reproduce the Hartree-Fock results with sufficient accuracy.

TABLE III

	J in Hz			
Molecule	Exp.	Calc.	Ref.	
$H^1 - H^1$	1 2			
A. Saturated molecules		2		
Hydrogen	280	316	67	
Methane	-12.4	-11.3	68	
Ethane (vic)	8.0	3.3	48	
Methanol (gem)	-10.8	-14.4	69,70	
B. Unsaturated molecules	i -			
Ethylene (gem)	2.3	-10.1	48	
(cis) (trans)	11.5 19.1	4.4 10.7	48 48	
Acetylene	9.8	5.1	48	
Formaldehyde	40.2-42.4*	$-12.7(40.7)^+$	71	
$C^{13} - H^1$				
Ethane (short) (long)	$\begin{array}{r} 125.0 \\ -4.8 \end{array}$	74.8 -3.2	48 48	
Ethylene (short) (long)	$\begin{array}{c} 156.2 \\ -2.4 \end{array}$	98.5 -6.7	48 48	
Acetylene (short) (long)	$248.7 \\ 49.7$	160.4 -3.6	48 48	
$C^{13} - C^{13}$				
Ethane	34.6	27.7	48	
Ethylene	67.2	60.0	48	
Acetylene	170.6	119.1	48	
	Molecule H ¹ - H ¹ A. Saturated molecules Hydrogen Methane Ethane (vic) Methanol (gem) B. Unsaturated molecules Ethylene (gem) (cis) (trans) Acetylene Formaldehyde C ¹³ - H ¹ Ethane (short) (long) Ethylene (short) (long) Acetylene (short) (long) C ¹³ - C ¹³ Ethane Ethane Ethylene (short) (long)	J Molecule Exp. $H^1 - H^1$ A. Saturated molecules Hydrogen 280 Hydrogen 280 Methane -12.4 Ethane (vic) 8.0 Methanol (gem) -10.8 B. Unsaturated molecules Ethylene (gem) 2.3 11.5 (cis) 11.5 11.5 11.5 (trans) 19.1 Acetylene 9.8 Formaldehyde 40.2-42.4* * $C^{13} - H^1$ Ethane (short) 125.0 (long) -4.8 * Ethylene (short) 156.2 - (long) -2.4 * * Acetylene (short) 156.2 - - (long) -2.4 * * * $C^{13} - C^{13}$ Ethane (short) 248.7 * $C^{13} - C^{13}$ Ethane 34.6 * Ethane 34.6 * * * Acetylene 67.2 * * * Acetylene 170.6 * * ** * <td>$\begin{array}{c c} J \mbox{ in Hz} \\ Molecule & Exp. Calc. \\ H^1 - H^1 \\ \hline A. Saturated molecules \\ Hydrogen & 280 & 316 \\ Methane & -12.4 & -11.3 \\ Ethane (vic) & 8.0 & 3.3 \\ Methanol (gem) & -10.8 & -14.4 \\ \hline B. Unsaturated molecules \\ Ethylene (gem) & 2.3 & -10.1 \\ (cis) & 11.5 & 4.4 \\ (trans) & 19.1 & 10.7 \\ Acetylene & 9.8 & 5.1 \\ Formaldehyde & 40.2-42.4^* & -12.7(40.7)^+ \\ \hline C^{13} - H^1 \\ Ethane (short) & 125.0 & 74.8 \\ (long) & -4.8 & -3.2 \\ Ethylene (short) & 156.2 & 98.5 \\ (long) & -2.4 & -6.7 \\ Acetylene (short) & 156.2 & 98.5 \\ (long) & -2.4 & -6.7 \\ Acetylene (short) & 248.7 & 160.4 \\ (long) & 49.7 & -3.6 \\ \hline C^{13} - C^{13} \\ Ethane & 34.6 & 27.7 \\ Ethylene & 67.2 & 60.0 \\ Acetylene & 170.6 & 119.1 \\ \hline \end{array}$</td>	$\begin{array}{c c} J \mbox{ in Hz} \\ Molecule & Exp. Calc. \\ H^1 - H^1 \\ \hline A. Saturated molecules \\ Hydrogen & 280 & 316 \\ Methane & -12.4 & -11.3 \\ Ethane (vic) & 8.0 & 3.3 \\ Methanol (gem) & -10.8 & -14.4 \\ \hline B. Unsaturated molecules \\ Ethylene (gem) & 2.3 & -10.1 \\ (cis) & 11.5 & 4.4 \\ (trans) & 19.1 & 10.7 \\ Acetylene & 9.8 & 5.1 \\ Formaldehyde & 40.2-42.4^* & -12.7(40.7)^+ \\ \hline C^{13} - H^1 \\ Ethane (short) & 125.0 & 74.8 \\ (long) & -4.8 & -3.2 \\ Ethylene (short) & 156.2 & 98.5 \\ (long) & -2.4 & -6.7 \\ Acetylene (short) & 156.2 & 98.5 \\ (long) & -2.4 & -6.7 \\ Acetylene (short) & 248.7 & 160.4 \\ (long) & 49.7 & -3.6 \\ \hline C^{13} - C^{13} \\ Ethane & 34.6 & 27.7 \\ Ethylene & 67.2 & 60.0 \\ Acetylene & 170.6 & 119.1 \\ \hline \end{array}$	

* Solvent dependent. + Hartree-Fock orbitals were used.

The extended Hückel approach reproduces the general trends for both vicinal and directly bonded couplings reasonably well. This is hardly a triumph, because these trends are easily predicted within the framework of an average excitation energy approximation. ⁷³ The calculated values for geminal spin-spin couplings bear little resemblance to the experimental values. Because the basic purpose of this approach was to remove the average excitation energy approximation, we must consider it a failure.

The results of these calculations for e.p.r. coupling constants are in excellent agreement with experiment, but the agreement for n.m.r. is poor. In hindsight, we recall the remarks about the accuracy of occupied and unoccupied orbitals that we made previously, and note that we could have expected the relative accuracy of the computed e.p.r. and n.m.r. coupling constants. We would expect extended Hückel theory to accurately predict n.m.r. couplings only when the contributions from the various excited states do not involve small differences between large numbers, and precise information about the excited states is unimportant. Comparison with successful applications of the average excitation energy approximation indicates that this is the case. It appears that a method, such as Lipscomb's N.E.M.O. calculations, which gives results similar to those from a rigorous Hartree-Fock calculation, in those cases for which the rigorous calculations have been done, would be successful in predicting n.m.r. spin-spin couplings.

REFERENCES

- 1. J. A. Pople, W. G. Schneider, and H. J. Bernstein, "<u>High</u> <u>Resolution Nuclear Magnetic Resonance</u>", p. 27, McGraw-Hill New York (1959).
- 2. R. Ernst, Advances in Magnetic Resonance, 2, 1, Academic Press, New York (1966).
- 3. Hugh D. Young, "Statistical Treatment of Experimental Data", P. 108, McGraw-Hill, New York (1962).
- 4. D. O. North, "Analysis of the Factors which Determine Signal/ Noise Discrimination in Radar", R. C. A. Tech. Rep. PTR-6-C, June 1953; reprinted in Proc. IRE, 51, 1016 (1963).
- 5. Reference 2, page 53.
- 6. J. Todd, "<u>Survey of Numerical Analysis</u>", p. 74, McGraw-Hill, New York (1962).
- 7. D. Middleton, "<u>An Introduction to Statistical Communication</u> Theory", p. 684, McGraw-Hill, New York (1960).
- 8. R. Bracewell, "The Fourier Transform and Its Applications", p. 24, McGraw-Hill, New York (1965).
- 9. Reference 7, p. 92.
- L. S. Schwartz, "<u>Principles of Coding</u>, <u>Filtering</u>, and <u>Information Theory</u>", p. 137, Spartan Books, Inc., Baltimore (1963).
- 11. George Buchman, "<u>Elements of Abstract Harmonic Analysis</u>", p. 24, Academic Press, New York (1964).
- 12. N. Wiener, "<u>The Extrapolation, Interpolation, and Smoothing of</u> <u>Stationary Time Series with Engineering Applications</u>", John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York (1949).
- 13. H. Margenau and G. Murphy, "The Mathematics of Physics and Chemistry", p. 210, D. Van Nostrand, Inc., New York (1956).

- 14. A. Messiah, "Quantum Mechanics", Vol. 1, p. 183, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York (1964).
- 15. J. W. Cooley and J. W. Tukey, Mathematics of Computations, 19, 297 (1965).
- H. V. Malmstadt, C. G. Enke, and E. C. Toren, Jr., <u>"Electronics for Scientists</u>", p. 406, W. A. Benjamin, Inc., New York (1963).
- 17. L. R. Ford, "Differential Equations", p. 33, McGraw-Hill, New York (1955).
- Publication Number 87-101-002, p. 4-34, Varian Associates, Palo Alto, California.
- 19. Reference 3, page 96.
- 20. F. Bloch, Phys. Rev., 70, 460 (1946).
- 21. Varian Instruments offers the SpectroSystem 100 which uses a Lorentzian line shape for resolution enhancement of n.m.r. spectra.
- 22. Reference 2, p. 24.
- 23. Ibid., p. 23.
- 24. Ibid., p. 59.
- 25. R. Ernst and W. A. Anderson, Rev. Sci. Instr., 36, 1696 (1965).
- 26. Reference 6, p. 316.
- 27. Andrew D. McLachlan and A. Carrington, <u>"Introduction to</u> <u>Magnetic Resonance"</u>, p. 192, Harper and Row, New York (1967).
- 28. Reference 2, p. 74.
- 29. Reference 27, p. 184.
- 30. Reference 3, p. 104.
- 31. Z. W. Birnhaum, "Introduction to Probability and Mathematical Statistics", p. 18, Harper and Brothers, New York (1962).

- Kenneth S. Miller, "<u>Multidimensional Gaussian Distributions</u>", p. 20, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York (1962).
- 33. Ibid., p. 103.
- 34. Ibid., p. 97.
- B. A. Jacobsohn and R. K. Wangsness, Phys. Rev., 73, 942 (1948).
- F. Brusentsev and V. Dvoryankin, Zhurnal Strukturnoi Khimii, 4, 465 (1963).
- 37. Reference 6, pp. 223-243.
- 38. D. Marquardt, J. Soc. Indust. Appl. Math., 11, 431 (1963).
- 39. Reference 2, p. 60.
- 40. The asymptotic form we obtain agrees very well with our numerical results and those of Ernst (reference 2, page 58). The asymptotic form given by Ernst (<u>Ibid</u>., page 60) appears to contain a misprint.
- 41. D. Dorman and J. D. Roberts, J. Amer. Chem. Soc., in press.
- 42. J. D. Roberts, "<u>An Introduction to the Analysis of Spin-Spin</u> <u>Splitting in High-Resolution Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectra</u>", p. 54, W. A. Benjamin, Inc., New York (1962).
- 43. Walter Clark Hamilton, "<u>Statistics in Physical Science</u>", p. 39, The Ronald Press Company, New York (1964).
- 44. R. R. Ernst and W. A. Anderson, Rev. Sci. Instr., 37, 93 (1966).
- 45. Hans J. Reich, M. Jautelat, Mark T. Messe, F. J. Weigert, and J. D. Roberts, J. Amer. Chem. Soc., in press.
- 46. D. M. Grant and W. M. Lichtman, J. Amer. Chem. Soc., 87, 3994 (1965).
- 47. F. J. Weigert, Ph. D. Thesis, California Institute of Technology, 1968.
- 48. D. M. Graham and C. E. Holloway, Can. J. Chem., 41, 2114 (1963).

- 49. F. J. Weigert and J. D. Roberts, J. Amer. Chem. Soc., 89, 2967 (1967).
- 50. Reference 2, p. 67.
- 51. (a) R. Hoffmann and W. N. Lipscomb, J. Chem. Phys., 36, 3489 (1962); (b) R. Hoffmann, J. Chem. Phys., 39, 1397 (1963).
- 52. E. Fermi, Z. Phys., 60, 320 (1930).
- 53. G. A. Petersson and A. D. McLachlan, J. Chem. Phys., 45, 628 (1966).
- R. S. Mulliken, C. A. Rieke, D. Orloff, and H. Orloff, J. Chem. Phys., 17, 1248 (1949).
- 55. M. Wolfsberg and L. Helmholz, J. Chem. Phys., 20, 837 (1952).
- 56. J. C. Slater, Phys. Rev., 36, 57 (1930).
- 57. For example, compare the value for nitrogen obtained by this method with that obtained by D. R. Hartree and W. Hartree, Proc. Roy. Soc. (London), A193, 299 (1948).
- 58. W. T. Dixon, Mol. Phys., 9, 201 (1965).
- 59. F. J. Adrian, E. L. Cochran, and V. A. Bowers, J. Chem. Phys., 36, 1661 (1962).
- 60. R. W. Fessenden and R. H. Schuler, J. Chem. Phys., 39, 2147 (1963).
- 61. J. E. Bennett, B. Mile, and A. Thomas, Chem. Commun., 265 (1965).
- E. L. Cochran, F. J. Adrian, and V. A. Bowers, J. Chem. Phys., 40, 213 (1964).
- 63. G. R. Bird, J. C. Baird, and R. B. Williams, J. Chem. Phys., 28, 738 (1958).
- 64. G. Herzberg and D. A. Ramsay, Proc. Roy. Soc. (London), A233, 34 (1955).
- 65. F. J. Adrian and M. Karplus, J. Chem. Phys., 41, 56 (1964).
- R. C. Fahey, G. C. Graham, and R. L. Piccioni, J. Amer. Chem. Soc., 88, 193 (1966).

- 67. H. Y. Carr, and E. M. Purcell, Phys. Rev., 88, 415 (1952).
- 68. M. Karplus, D. H. Anderson, T. C. Farrar, and H. S. Gutowsky, J. Chem. Phys., 27, 597 (1957).
- 69. H. J. Bernstein and N. Sheppard, J. Chem. Phys., <u>37</u>, 3012 (1962).
- 70. F. A. L. Anet, J. Amer. Chem. Soc., 84, 3767 (1962).
- B. L. Shapiro, R. M. Kopchik, and S. J. Ebersole, J. Chem. Phys., 39, 3145 (1963).
- 72. J. M. Foster and S. F. Boys, Rev. Mod. Phys., 32, 303 (1960).
- 73. (a) H. M. McConnell, J. Chem. Phys., 24, 460 (1956);
 (b) M. Karplus, J. Amer. Chem. Soc., 85, 2870 (1963);
 (c) M. Karplus, J. Chem. Phys., 30, 11 (1959); J. Phys. Chem., 64, 1793 (1960); (d) G. J. Karabatsos, J. D. Graham, and F. M. Vane, J. Amer. Chem. Soc., 84, 37 (1962);
 (e) This thesis, Section 8.